

## STRESSFUL LIFE EVENTS, SCHOOL ADJUSTMENT AND LIFE SATISFACTION OF IMMIGRANT AND NON-IMMIGRANT HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN CYPRUS

By

#### **IOANNA MAROULLI**

MA in Applications of Psychology and Counselling in the Community

Theological School of The Church of Cyprus

Nicosia, Cyprus

2022

Submitted to the Theological School of the Church of Cyprus

in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for

the Degree of MASTER OF ARTS

# STRESSFUL LIFE EVENTS, SCHOOL ADJUSTMENT AND LIFE SATISFACTION OF IMMIGRANT AND NON-IMMI-GRANT HIGH SCHOOL STUDENTS IN CYPRUS

#### Dissertation

Supervisors

Dr Olga Solomontos-Kountouri

Dr Dagmar Strohmeier

Dr Ioulia Televantou

Dissertation Committee

Dr Olga Solomontos-Kountouri

Dr Dagmar Strohmeier

Dr Ioulia Televantou

Course coordinator

Dr Olga Solomontos-Kountouri

Approval Date 01 June 2022

Plagiarism Statement
I, Ioanna Maroulli, knowing the consequences of plagiarism and the penalties that it may entail, based on the regulations of the Theological School of The Church of Cyprus, I declare responsibly that the present work entitled "Stressful Life Events, School Adjustment and Life Satisfaction of Immigrant and Non-Immigrant High School Students in Cyprus", is a product of strictly personal work. I also responsibly declare that all the sources I have used have been correctly stated in the bibliographic references and citations of my dissertation. Points based on ideas, text and/or sources of other authors, are clearly mentioned in the text with the appropriate citation and the relevant reference is included in the references section with a full description.
Ioanna Maroulli

## **Dedication**

This Dissertation is dedicated from the bottom of my heart, to my dad in heaven.

#### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I am extremely grateful to my three supervisors, Dr Olga Solomontos-Kountouri, Dr Dagmar Strohmeier and Dr Ioulia Televantou for their invaluable and continuous advice, emotional support and patience during my academic research. Their knowledge and experience have encouraged and inspired me throughout all the stages and process of this Dissertation.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my beloved mother, sister and partner whom without their tremendous encouragement, love and understanding in the past two years, it would be impossible for me to complete the current research and my MA degree.

Finally, I would like to thank all the participants who took part in the study and helped me carry out this research.

#### **Abstract**

Immigrants constitute a large proportion of Cyprus' population; however, little is known about immigrant adolescents. This cross-sectional study, explored immigrant and non-immigrant high school adolescents' level of life satisfaction and school adjustment in relation to psychological trauma. 253 high school students with an average age of 14.3 (SD=0.9), completed a self-report questionnaire. Data was analyzed using analysis of variance and correlation tests. Results indicated that first-generation immigrant adolescents, experienced significantly more stressful life events than non-immigrant adolescents. However, despite this finding, no significant differences between the three groups of students with regard to school-related interpersonal and intrapersonal outcomes were detected. Increase in level of life satisfaction was evident in a similar way among the three groups. However, second-generation immigrants expressed significantly lower levels of expected life satisfaction (future life satisfaction) than non-immigrant students. These results, aid in understanding non-immigrant and immigrant adolescents' mental health and well-being and can help develop more effective education policies and student-centered school-based interventions.

Keywords: immigrants, adolescents, stressful life events, life satisfaction, school adjustment

## **Table of Contents**

Plagiarism Statement	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Abstract	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	ix
Introduction	xi
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1. History of Immigration in Cyprus	1
1.1.1. Attitudes Toward Immigrants in Cyprus.	3
1.1.2. Intercultural Education Policies in Cyprus.	4
1.2. Acculturation	8
1.2.1. The Impact of Stress on Adaptation	10
1.2.2. Immigrant Paradox	12
1.3. Immigrant Students' Mental Health	13
1.4. Scholastic Well-Being	15
1.4.1. School Anxiety	16
1.4.2. School-related Psychosomatic Complaints	18
1.4.3. School Autonomy	19
1.4.4. School Motivation and Interest	20
1.4.5. Peer Relationships	23
1.5. Stressful Life Events and Life Satisfaction	26
1.5.1. Stressful Life Events	26
1.5.2. Psychological Well-Being and Life Satisfaction	30
1.6. COVID-19 Pandemic-Related Stress	31
1.7. Significance of the Present Study	32

CHAPTER 2:_RESEARCH AIMS, QUESTIONS AND HYPOTHESES
2.1. Research Aims 35
2.2. Research Questions and Research Hypotheses
CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY
3.1. Method and Design 41
3.2. Participants
3.3. Measures
3.3.1. Demographic Information
3.3.2. School Motivation and Interest and Peer Relationships
3.3.3. School Autonomy
3.3.4. School Anxiety
3.3.5. School-related Psychosomatic Complaints
3.3.6. Psychological Well-Being
3.3.7. Life Satisfaction
3.3.8. Stressful Life Events
3.3.9. COVID-19 Pandemic-Related Stress
3.4. Procedure
3.5. Data Analyses
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION
5.1. Current Findings
5.1.1. Immigration status and number of stressful life events
5.1.2. Immigration status, school anxiety and school-related psychosomatic symptoms
5.1.3. Immigration status, school autonomy, peer relationships, school motivation and school interest
5.1.4. Immigration status and life satisfaction
5.1.5. Immigration status and COVID-19 pandemic-related stress
5.1.6. Stressful life events and the correlation with psychosocial outcomes 65

5.2. Implications and Practical Applications
5.3. Methodological Considerations
5.4. Recommendations for Future Research
5.5. Conclusion
REFERENCES7
APPENDICES9
Appendix A: Study proposal to the Pedagogical Institute of Cyprus9
Appendix B: Letter of approval of the study9
Appendix C: Letter to school principals about the study's aims and procedure. 10
Appendix D: Greek and English versions of parental consent form
Appendix E: Greek and English version of the questionnaire

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1: Reliability test (Cronbach's alpha) for the scales used
Table 4.2: Frequencies of immigrant and non-immigrant participants 50
Table 4.3: Descriptive statistics regarding the age of the three groups
Table 4.4: Descriptive statistics of demographic information of the three groups 51
Table 4.5: Descriptive statistics for immigrant students
Table 4.6: Descriptive statistics for immigrant students' ethnicity
Table 4.7: Percentages for country of origin based on ethnicity and generation 54
Table 4.8: Descriptive statistics for the total number of stressful life events
Table 4.9: ANOVA test for the number of stressful life events experienced by students of
different immigrant status56
Table 4.10: Descriptive statistics for the five outcomes of interest for all students 57
Table 4.11: Statistical significance regarding future life satisfaction of students 58
Table 4.12: Descriptive statistics for the question regarding future life satisfaction 58
Table 4.13: Correlations between stressful life events and other outcome measures 59



#### INTRODUCTION

"Immigrant" is a term used to describe foreign nationals who enter a country for purposes of permanent resettlement (Birman, 2006) and one can be first-generation, second-generation, third-generation or higher generation immigrant. In the current study, first-generation, second-generation and non-immigrant students were considered. To classify students in the current research, Solomontos-Kountouri and Strohmeier's (2021) distinction was used. As cited in their paper, students whose either their mother or father were born abroad and who were themselves born abroad, are considered as first-generation immigrants whereas students whose mother or father were born abroad, but who were themselves born in Cyprus, are considered as second-generation immigrants. Students whose parents were born in Cyprus, and who were themselves born in Cyprus are classified as non-immigrants.

As cited in Sandoval-Hernández et al. (2018), there exist several interpretations of immigration, that have led to academic debate over the past decades. Some, blame the international division of labor and the construction of a world economy for the displacement of workers from different regions of the world (Harvey, 2007), whereas in other cases, immigration is conceptualized as the result of globalization processes and the increase of relations and networks between countries (Castells, 2010). A third, more influential interpretation, poses that immigration is a process that is responsible for the loss of the importance of the nation state, which consequently causes the reconfiguration of forms of state control and national barriers (Sassen, 2014). Other researchers, view immigration as displacements caused by wars or conflicts within nations. As cited in Urzua et al. (2019), a simpler interpretation exists, which states that immigration is the movement of people from one country to another in order to improve social, material or personal conditions. Regardless of the interpretation, immigration has become a phenomenon of increasing importance and magnitude all over the world (Garay et al., 2015). According to the UN Population Report (2002), immigration is considered a world-wide phenomenon, which involves millions of people.

Due to the settlement and arrival of immigrants in many countries, particularly after the nineteenth century, many societies have developed a heterogenous character (Lynch, 1989), where people with different linguistic, religious, ethnic and cultural backgrounds live

together. Cyprus has always been considered a multicultural country, where Greek, Arab, Armenian, Maronite, Turkish, Turkish-Cypriot and Romani populations amongst many others reside (Akçali, 2007). Since the 1990's, Cyprus has become a host country for many immigrants who left their countries for different reasons. This, has transformed the island from an emigration country to an immigration country, particularly after its accession in the European Union in 2004 (Hajisoteriou, 2010). The last five years, Cyprus has also become a destination country for a large number of asylum seekers and refugees (Gravani, et al., 2019). Immigrants who have arrived in Cyprus over the years, are mostly Georgians, Filipinos, Pakistanis, Syrians, Lebanese, and Iranians (Trimikliniotis & Demetriou, 2005). According to a more recent study by Gravani et al. (2019), European immigrants living in Cyprus come mostly from Greece, UK, Romania, Bulgaria and Poland, whereas most non-European immigrants come from Fillipines, Russia, Sri Lanka and Vietnam. These groups are spread across all the Greek-Cypriot provinces (Cyprus Statistical Service, 2011).

Because of the progressive influx and settlement of immigrants in Cyprus, especially during the last two decades, the student population and educational system have been affected as well. As a result of the historical segregation of the Greek-Cypriot and Turkish-Cypriot educational systems, the Greek-Cypriot educational system has always been monocultural, therefore, it is not surprising that immigration has caused major challenges and brought many changes to the Greek-Cypriot profile in schools. In the school year 1995-1996, 4.41% of the Cyprus school population consisted of immigrant students. In 2007-2008, this percentage rose to 7.7% and in 2009-2010, it escalated to 12% (Zembylas & Lesta, 2011). Today, there are schools where the vast majority of the school population constitutes of non-indigenous students. According to Theodosiou-Zapiti et al. (2011), this situation is predicted to continue in an accelerated fashion, causing rapid demographic and more social changes in society and schools.

For immigrant students, the transition into a new educational system can create linguistic, cognitive, psychological and social challenges, making it very difficult for them to adjust to the new settings. Immigrant students face multiple challenges, as the process of immigration often involves losing close relationships and social support networks, while at the same time having to form new relationships in new and often intimidating conditions (McIntyre et al., 2011). According to Tong et al. (2006), a successful transition to a new country is accomplished when immigrants manage to develop an emotionally comfortable, secure and stable "cross-cultural identity". A stable identity is formed when the values and

practices of one's home country are balanced with the values and practices of the host country in an efficacious manner.

Schools represent a microcosm of the new society in which immigrant adolescents have to live. Within the school settings, they will become participating citizens by building supportive and trusting relationships and by interacting with peers and adults. Both socialization and the building of nurturing bonds, are essential for all students, but especially for immigrant adolescents (Suarez-Orozco et al., 2009), as research shows that they serve as protective factors regarding social adjustment (Barowsky & McIntyre, 2010). Gangi and Barowsky (2009), also found that the way immigrant students interact with school personnel, greatly affects their achievement, behaviour, self-image and motivation, as well as their ability to develop a healthy intercultural identity, while serving as a protective factor in the development of psychopathology.

In Cyprus, despite the increasing number of immigrant students enrolled in public and private schools, limited research exists investigating students' experiences and perspectives regarding their psychological and academic adjustment. Available research is limited only to a few qualitative studies, which investigate issues of multicultural/intercultural education in Cypriot schools (Angelides et al., 2003;2004; Panayiotopoulos & Nicolaidou, 2007; Papamichael, 2008) and face methodological problems. In general, there are not many studies investigating phenomena such as acculturation and adaptation of immigrant youth in Cyprus. This lack of literature, indicates that the notion of immigrant adolescents' overall well-being and adaptation requires further research.

The aim of this research, is to investigate immigrant and non-immigrant high school students' level of life satisfaction (psychological well-being) and school adjustment [school motivation and interest, peer relationships and school-related psychological outcomes (school anxiety and psychosomatic complaints)] in relation to psychological trauma (experience of stressful life events). Specifically, the study aims to investigate how well immigrant adolescents have adjusted to the Cypriot culture at school, at social level and well-being and how stressful life events might have affected the process of overall adjustment in comparison to their non-immigrant peers. For the purpose of this research, 253 high school immigrant and non-immigrant students of Cypriot schools completed a questionnaire which examined their perspectives and experiences regarding school, stressful life events and life satisfaction.

A brief history about research on different aspects of immigration is included at first, as background knowledge on the subject. In chapter two, the research aims, questions and hypotheses are stated. These, were formed based on existing literature, as presented in chapter one. The methodology of the study including the design, the measures, the procedure and the data analyses used, is presented in chapter three. Chapter four, includes description of the main findings of the research. In the final chapter (chapter five), findings are discussed with regard to implications and practical applications, recommendations for future research and methodological considerations.

#### **CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW**

This section assesses the body of previous research that addressed topics related to immigrant students. Past research in this area, has focused mainly on acculturation and phenomena such as the "Immigrant Paradox" and "Acculturation Stress", as well as on factors regarding immigrant students' (mental) health and school performance. Interestingly, despite adolescence being such an important and critical developmental period, research on immigrant adolescents and youth, especially in Cyprus, is limited, thus there is no sufficient knowledge to improve the situation on both social and educational level.

To add to the understanding and knowledge of this field, the present research investigates whether first-generation immigrant, second-generation immigrant and non-immigrant students differ with regard to experiencing stressful life events, their level of life satisfaction and their ability to adjust to Cyprus school settings. Using in-depth methodological procedures, the aim is to fill the gaps of past research and provide answers that will help the educational system improve and embrace immigrant students.

The following sub-sections of this literature review, which are dedicated to each of the main, most-cited aspects of immigration, describe how different studies examine phenomena and patterns with regard to immigration and present what research findings suggest.

#### 1.1. History of Immigration in Cyprus

Cyprus is a small island in the Eastern Mediterranean, with a total population of approximately one million (Cyprus Statistical Services, 2019). The island is a former British colony which became independent in 1960 (Gravani et al., 2019). In the following years (1963-1967), intercommunal clashes between the Greek Cypriot majority and the Turkish Cypriot minority, and finally the Turkish invasion in 1974, led to the division of the island. As a result of the invasion, two separate communities were created, with almost one third of Greek-Cypriots (600,000) living in the south part of the island and 45,000 Turkish-Cypriots to the north part (Zembylas et al., 2010). Due to the presence of these two major communities, but also because of three religious minorities (Armenians, Latins and Maronites) that

pre-existed and live in Cyprus, the country has always had a multilingual and multicultural character (Hajisoteriou & Angelides, 2018).

Throughout the 20<sup>th</sup> century, Cyprus has been a country of out-migration (Cypriots were permanently leaving Cyprus to settle in other countries). However, due to the quick economic boom in the 1990's, migration of labor in Cyprus had begun and turned the island into an immigrant recipient country (Spyrou, 2009).

As cited in Gravani et al. (2019), immigration flow in Cyprus is regulated by laws which date back to the British Colonial era. These legal frameworks cover aspects regarding their stay, residence and departure. In late 1980s, as Cyprus was becoming an immigration host country, policies regarding immigrants' entry and labour conditions were quite restrictive (Milioni et al., 2015). However, in the years after 1991, policies had changed. As cited in Hajisoteriou (2020), the division of the island, brought major changes in the economic organization and employment patterns of the Greek-Cypriot (southern) part, which resulted in a quick economic development. These changes together with international factors, led to the "economic miracle" as it was called, which was the main cause for amendments of policies regarding immigrants. The abandonment of the restrictive immigration policies, led to the arrival of even more immigrants in Cyprus.

With the accession of Cyprus to the European Union in 2004, more people of other nationalities have migrated to the island (Gravani et al., 2019). Immigrant individuals coming to Cyprus from third world countries, include asylum seekers, political refugees and workers mainly in the area of hospitality, housing and hotel catering. However, a large number of immigrants are undocumented workers who work in the 'black economy'. These individuals work hard in difficult positions in sectors such as manufacturing, agriculture and construction (Hajisoteriou, 2020).

Despite the new policies and legal frameworks, immigrants do not seem to have equal opportunities to participate in the society as native individuals. According to the Migration Policy Index (MIPEX), a tool which measures policies of different countries to integrate immigrants, Cyprus was placed 30<sup>th</sup> (out of 31 countries being analyzed) regarding integration of foreigners. This means, that Cyprus does not provide foreigners favorable conditions in order for them to have access to and integrate in the labour market, or actively participate in democratic life (Milioni et al., 2015). According to MIPEX (2019) key findings, between 2015 and 2019, Cyprus showed an increase of two points in its MIPEX score, as small improvements in integration policies benefited non-EU immigrants. However, Cyprus score

was still nine points below the international average, indicating that more integration of immigrants in the society is needed. Furthermore, MIPEX categorizes Cyprus' approach to integration as "Immigration without Integration". This is because immigrants arriving from non-European countries, have many of their basic rights denied and encounter many obstacles with regard to the labour market, education, health and politics.

#### 1.1.1. Attitudes Toward Immigrants in Cyprus

The interaction of non-immigrants and immigrants and the way each group perceives the other, is significantly affected by the way immigrants are treated by the government. Policies in Cyprus, seem to discourage the view of immigrants as equals and rather enhance the notion of them as strangers or subordinates (MIPEX, 2019). Ironically, these representations of immigrants by the government go against one major traditional cultural value of the Greek-Cypriot society, hospitality to foreigners.

According to Demetriou (2013), xenophobic attitudes toward immigrants tend to raise in the Cypriot society. Results obtained from a survey investigating Cypriots' racist and xenophobic attitudes, revealed that Cypriots' xenophobic tendencies are reflected in three ways: (a) they do not appreciate the immigration of people from other foreign countries to Cyprus, (b) they tend to believe that individuals who come to Cyprus from other countries do not enhance the traditions and culture of Cyprus and (c) they have a negative disposition toward the contribution of immigrants to Cyprus' economy. Mainwaring (2008), poses that because Cyprus' government was not prepared for the rapid socioeconomic challenges that were brought to the country due to the increased immigration, immigrants face racism, marginalization and civic exclusion. Trimikliniotis (2009), states that the unresolved political problem in Cyprus (known as the "Cyprus Issue"), complicates even more the issue of immigration, as it creates serious security concerns.

Trimikliniotis and Demetriou's (2012) study, showed that racial violence incidences increased after 2004. Mainwaring (2008), suggested that this violence is a byproduct of the fear natives feel concerning the loss of economic security and their perceived threat regarding the country's national identity. Native Cypriots' fear is believed to be fueled by the existing myths and stereotypes about immigrants, which are further enhanced by the economic conditions, the political and media discourses (which portray immigrants as a burden on society and economy), education and policy-making (Milioni et al., 2015). Unfortunately, these tendencies are found in youth attitudes as well. As cited in Zembylas et al. (2010),

studies on attitudes of native Cypriot children and adolescents, revealed that there is a negative predisposition toward immigrants, since they believed that stereotypes and racism are justified and that crime is positively correlated to immigrants.

The Centre for the Study of Childhood and Adolescence, investigated Greek-Cypriot children's attitudes toward foreigners, using a sample of 288 fifth and sixth graders of 10 schools in Nicosia and found that children hold negative perceptions of immigrants. 75% of children, reported that they believed there are too many foreigners living in Cyprus and only 14.6% reported that it was good that non-Cypriots live in the island. Furthermore, more than half of the participants, stated that foreigners play a significant role in increasing the crime in Cyprus. However, despite the disappointing findings, Spyrou (2004), argued that the fact that not all participants held negative perceptions about foreigners, was a good and encouraging sign.

According to Zembylas (2010), these negative stereotypes are even more intense in contexts where ethnic conflict exists, because native children need to deal with the constant increasing flow of immigrants while at the same time, having to overcome the challenges of living together with individuals they perceive as enemies. These intense emotional reactions toward immigrants, may be a form of a defense mechanism children develop against those who they perceive as being different or threatening. Sen (2006), poses that racist and nationalist attitudes (believing that one's national identity is superior to others), are more frequent in conflict-ridden societies, such as Cyprus.

Research suggests that the case of Cyprus is very interesting for investigating phenomena such as immigration, due to the characteristics of the local context. The political and ethnic division of the island, its relatively recent accession into the European Union, the increasing flow and the major impact of immigrants on the economy of the country, make Cyprus a complex landscape, offering researchers the opportunity to study various aspects of immigration. Results obtained from studies in these areas, can be used to promote further integration of foreigners in the country, in fields such as education, workforce and legislation formation.

#### 1.1.2. Intercultural Education Policies in Cyprus

According to Maniatis (2012), intercultural education involves the promotion of interaction, solidarity, empathy and pluralism in educational practice. It should take into consid-

eration students' needs and interests and question the educational system (teaching strategies, curricula), with the goal of societal change. Intercultural education and inclusion should involve students, teachers and parents and should aim to prevent academic and social exclusion.

As cited in Zembylas et al. (2010), in countries where ethnic conflict exists, such as Cyprus, education is separated along ethnopolitical lines. In fact, after the division of the island in 1974, in each of the two newly formed communities (Greek-Cypriots and Turkish-Cypriots), the process of homogenization was enhanced for political reasons. Because of this separation, two different educational systems were created, each one focusing on different curriculum and educational practices and also creating prejudice and negative stereotypes about the other. This, over the years, resulted in monocultural educational systems that perpetuated conflict and division. In the area of education, monoculturalism acts as an assimilation mechanism, which demands immigrant students' adjustment to the host country, culture and school values, instead of aiming for changes in school and social stances in order to meet their needs (Banks & McGee-Banks 2009).

In Greek-Cypriot society, intercultural education is a relatively new educational policy. Despite the fact that official curricula and policy documents involve statements regarding respect for human rights and humanistic ideas, non-native children are still being marginalized, seen as different and needing to be assimilated in the Cypriot society (Panayiotopoulos & Nicolaidou, 2007).

Education debates concerning inclusion appeared in Cyprus in 1997, after UNESCO carried out an appraisal study on the Cypriot educational system and warned policy makers about certain groups of students being excluded and marginalized (Hajisoteriou, 2020). Following this, immigration issues appeared in the agenda of the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sport and Youth (MoECSY) of Cyprus in 2001, when it expressed its willingness to take into account the changes in the cultural character of Cypriot schools, which resulted from the large number of immigrants who arrived in Cyprus (Hajisoteriou & Angelides, 2016).

According to previous research, one of the most important factors that have led to changes in the education system as a response to immigration, is Cyprus' accession to the European Union (Hajisoteriou & Angelides, 2018). This was because, equal access to education to increase awareness in the Greek-Cypriot society was included in the negotiations for the accession of Cyprus to the European Union (Hajisoteriou & Angelides, 2016b). Furthermore, Trimikliniotis (2001), posed that Greek-Cypriots' exposure to anti-discrimination

movements in Europe, aided the liberalization of immigrant policies. As cited in Hajisoteriou (2020), an example of a major change in response to Europeanization, was the amendment of the 'Aliens and Immigration Law', which was adjusted in order to agree with the European advices regarding family reunification and long-term stay. Hajisoteriou (2020), essentially argues that Cyprus' political and social responses to immigration were encouraged by the European Union, which had "forced" its members to consider immigrants' rights and alter legislations to promote their inclusion. Inclusion is a term/an act, related to both society and education systems. Because education is required for immigrant children's social and cultural development, Cyprus had to respond in such ways to support their inclusion through education.

As cited in Hajisoteriou (2020), the starting point of the country's implementation of interculturally-oriented educational policy, was the approval of Act 28 (III) by the Cypriot Parliament (which officially recognized and accepted the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities by the Council of Europe). In addition, the European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI), conducted three reports on Cyprus in the years 1999, 2001 and 2006, which played a major role in initiating changes regarding intercultural education in Cyprus. Because the findings of the reports showed that immigrants were portrayed as potential threats to the Cypriot society, ECRI inspectors emphasized the need for diversity respect and advised the MoECSY to add human rights education as a mandatory subject in the curriculum of all levels of education.

In an attempt to prove its ability to create an intercultural policy in response to ECRI reports, the MoECSY between 2003-2004 developed and applied on a pilot basis the ZEP (Zones of Educational Priority) program, in some schools with large numbers of immigrant children. ZEP program's primary aim was to provide immigrant children with extra intensive Greek lessons, in other words, language support, but also to promote multiculturalism. The purpose behind ZEP, was to create a program to fight school failure, literacy and exclusion in schools with high rates of immigrant students (Hajisoteriou, 2020).

Furthermore, in 2004, the MoECSY used the slogan "Democratic Education in the Euro-Cyprian Society" and started a campaign regarding issues of intercultural education. According to Europeanized discourses, the slogan was used to describe Cyprus' efforts to embrace interculturalism in the national education system. In addition, in 2008 the MoECSY, in an attempt to promote interculturalism, used the terms 'intercultural education' and 'inclusion' to replace 'multicultural education' and 'integration'. Another action taken by the MoECSY,

was the formation of new curricula (during school year 2011-2012), which aimed the creation of democratic schools which promote inclusion and respect for diversity and cultural pluralism (Hajisoteriou, 2020). The new curricula, involved discourses of intercultural education and aimed the adoption of an intercultural ideology. However, Hajisoteriou and Angelides (2014) claimed that, because the definition of intercultural education was inadequate in the curricula, a gap was created between practice and policy rhetoric.

In the school year 2015-2016, the ZEP program was replaced by the DRASE program (Actions for School and Social Integration) and was applied in schools with large numbers of immigrant students. Schools that participate in this program, provide students and their families with various services, such as counseling and guidance (for social skills enhancement and prevention of youth delinquency and school failure) and Greek language intensive lessons, in order to avoid social exclusion and fight illiteracy (Hajisoteriou, 2020). In the same year, the MoECSY developed an anti-racist behavior code and a guide for racist incident management and logging. Both the code and the guide, were created to help teachers identify and respond to racist behavior and to promote anti-racist school environment (Hajisoteriou, 2020).

However, despite MoECSY's attempts and the new policies formed, later research revealed that in practice, these policies still related to monoculturalism. As cited in Hajisoteriou (2020), according to Cypriot research findings, the gap between practice and curriculum discourse of interculturalism, was created because the intercultural education policy was developed without actually restructuring or reconceptualizing the Cypriot educational system. As a result, no coherent policies about intercultural education and no clear organizational practices to be applied were communicated to schools by the MoECSY. In other words, even though the MoECSY added an intercultural character to the national and educational policy, it failed to provide the essential resources for the application of these policies to schools.

Hajisoteriou and Angelides (2016), pose that cultural and political reasons (mainly the political problem), also play a significant role for Cyprus' "symbolic" adoption of Europeanized policies regarding intercultural education. Specifically, they stated that because immigrants are perceived by society as a threat to Cypriots' national identity (in the same way as Turkish-Cypriots and Turks are), the MoECSY had not developed effective initiatives for inclusion of immigrants on purpose, so that immigrant students would be in some way "forced" to assimilate in the native culture (Hajisoteriou & Angelides, 2018).

Ultimately, it seems that changes regarding intercultural education in Cyprus have occurred only at the national policy rhetoric level and not at the level of practice in schools. The existing nationalistic teaching discourses, the unchanged (history and religious studies) textbooks used in schools and the goal of linguistic assimilation of immigrant students, represent strong evidence of the lack of change at the level of practice (Theodorou, 2014).

#### 1.2. Acculturation

As cited in Fox et al. (2017), the term 'Acculturation' stems from two fields: Anthropology and Archaeology. It is a term that has been initially constructed to describe the changes that result with regard to language and culture, when different groups come together. It was later re-conceptualized, re-operationalized and used in the field of Psychology. More specifically, in the early 1950's, the Social Science Research Council, added to the definition of acculturation a psychological component, which emphasized the catalytic role of choice(s) immigrants can make, regarding which characteristics of the host country wish to adopt and which heritage/origin culture characteristics wish to maintain (Padilla & Perez, 2003). Over the years, the focus of the term has shifted from the group to the person level and is nowadays used when one refers to changes in an individual's values, identity and behavior, as a result of first-hand intergroup contact.

Berry and Sam's (1997) model, is the most prominent and accepted conceptualization in the field of Psychology. According to them, acculturation is "a set of internal psychological outcomes including a clear sense of personal and cultural identity, good mental health, and the achievement of personal satisfaction in the new cultural context". Furthermore, their model, assumes that acculturation is a process of psychological and cultural adaptation process (that follows intercultural contact), composed of two dimensions/issues: host culture acquisition and heritage culture retention (Berry, 2003). As cited in Handelsman and Gottlieb (2005), the first dimension, refers to the individuals' willingness to either maintain or change their origin identity and culture, and the second dimension refers to the degree of the individuals' out-group contact and participation in the host or/and other cultural groups.

According to Berry and Sam (1997), the combination of these two dimensions/issues of acculturation, results in four acculturation strategies: integration, assimilation, separation and marginalization. Integration is the process where individuals interact with other cultures while maintaining their original culture, whereas assimilation is a term used to describe the abandonment of one's original culture while interacting with other cultural groups. Furthermore, separation is a term used when individuals maintain their original culture but do not

interact sufficiently with other cultural groups and the last one, marginalization, is used to describe the situation where individuals show no interest in contacting other groups, nor maintaining their original culture. Berry (1980), stated that the way each individual experiences acculturation varies, and it is this variation of engagement in the acculturation process that he named "acculturation strategies". He also used the term "psychological acculturation" to describe life changes of individuals who belong to larger cultural groups, brought by cultural changes. As cited in Serdarevic and Chronister (2005), the most effective acculturation strategy is integration, as it allows individuals to maintain their heritage culture and adopt/accept values and customs of the host culture simultaneously. In fact, Berry and Sam (1997, p.298), stated that "Evidence strongly supports a positive correlation between the use of this strategy and good psychological adaptation during acculturation".

When it comes to immigration, Berry (2008), defined acculturation as a two-way process, where both immigrant and receiving culture's individuals, adapt to cultural changes. Cultural changes occur at a political, economic and psychological level. Berry (2008), stated that immigrants compared to individuals of the receiving/host culture, experience more cultural changes. For the vast majority of immigrant individuals, the process of acculturation begins upon arrival in the host country.

As cited in Serdarevic and Chronister (2005), another way to conceptualize acculturation in the context of immigration, is a process consisting of three stages: relief, disappointment (regarding the host culture) and finally acceptance over the course of time. Relief is usually felt during the first stages of immigration, when immigrants idealize the host country. However, as immigrants have more contact with the people and the mentality of the receiving country, they may become disappointed. If this feeling of disappointment continues for a long period of time, it may trigger the development of psychological problems and psychological maladjustment (Ben-Sira, 1997). In the case where individuals do not face such difficulties, acceptance of host society is achieved over time.

Past research shows that acculturation is a process that has a significant impact on developmental outcomes, particularly in early adolescence, a period when radical physical and psychological changes occur (Cooper, 2011). Cheung et al. (2011), called this period, "sensitive period" for acculturation. As cited in Schwartz et al., (2015), especially immigrants and adolescents from minority groups, seem to face more issues regarding their identity, because they must maintain a balance and place themselves somewhere between their country/culture of origin and the new host country. This process, could be very challenging and

potentially create psychological incongruences, as adolescents are "forced" to adopt and fulfill various different, incompatible and/or conflicting roles and expectations.

Acculturation is considered both a social and an individual-level phenomenon, which continues throughout life. It is a complex and dynamic two-way/bidimensional process, which includes changes and adaptations by both culture(s) and individuals involved. The stages of acculturation process change over time, as immigrants' context and society's perception of them change, thus it is important to think of acculturation as a non-linear process (Serdarevic & Chronister, 2005). As researchers suggest, it is very important to become aware of these chronosystemic changes in immigrants' experiences. Further understanding of their mental health needs and their needs in general, will result in better and more effective policy-making in different societal contexts.

#### 1.2.1. The Impact of Stress on Adaptation

As cited in Sirin et al. (2012), by definition, acculturation stress or else acculturative stress, refers to the possible psychological and social challenges immigrant individuals encounter while they negotiate the differences between their host and home culture. According to Bilewicz et al. (2020), after their arrival in the host country, immigrants often experience negative feelings, such as anxiety and low self- esteem and is also common for them to feel uncertain and threatened. Adverse experiences such as prejudice, discrimination and negative attitudes/stereotypes held by the host culture, enhance these feelings further, sometimes leading to high levels of stress and isolation. Other aspects of the acculturation process, such as learning and adapting to new cultural expectations and rules, also give rise to acculturation stress. Language skills, work challenges/pressure for academic excellence and intercultural relations, are all considered potential causes of acculturation stress (Zacarian et al., 2017; Bilewicz et al., 2020). In other words, acculturation stress is bidimensional, as it involves both the intrapersonal experiences of the individual (managing or struggling with negotiating cultural differences) and the host culture's attitudes toward the individual (prejudice and discrimination). Research shows that the nature of the host society plays a major role in determining the degree to which immigrant individuals experience acculturation stress, and in fact, it is suggested that the higher the discrepancy between the host and the home culture, the more stressful the acculturation process will be (Lee et al., 2004).

As cited in Sirin et al. (2012), the body of research regarding the effects of acculturation stress on adolescent populations is not large. However, findings from research on a similar construct known as "minority stress", show that racial discrimination, negative stereotypes

and hostile attitudes can significantly affect in a negative way youth in minority groups. Minority stress theory was initially developed to understand sexual minority groups' mental health, and poses that mental health disorders in minority groups, are mainly caused by the hostile conditions and social stressors created by prejudice and stigma (Wu et al., 2020). The theory was later extended and applied in research examining the effects of racism and discrimination on ethnic minority groups' mental health.

Research on minority stress, has yielded strong evidence that adolescents who experience high levels of minority stress during the process of identity formation, are more prone to developing mental health disorders [e.g., depression and anxiety disorders, psychosomatic complaints and lower self-esteem (Sirin et al., 2012)]. Furthermore, according to the minority stress model, undocumented immigrants are more vulnerable for psychological distress, as they experience multiple chronic social and cultural stressors and more losses [e.g., family separation, loss of rights, social status and well-being (Garcini et al., 2019)] compared to documented immigrants

In 2007, Carter used the term "race-based traumatic stress", to describe the psychological harm caused by stress, racism and trauma. He specifically stated that everyday real or perceived experiences of ethnic discrimination, as well as dangerous events of discrimination (e.g., physical injuries and humiliation) can lead to the development of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and other mental health problems in ethnic minority groups, which can then affect negatively their emotional well-being (Wu et al., 2020).

All things considered, research on acculturation of immigrants indicates that individuals who manage to successfully integrate their minority identity with the new host country/culture, show better adaptation and suffer less from acculturation stress (Bilewicz et al., 2020). On the other hand, those who feel inferior/marginalized and are unable to cope with acculturation stress, face a higher risk for developing mental health problems (Da Silva et al., 2017).

As cited in Urzua et al. (2019), immigration as an experience is not necessarily what causes stress, but the conditions under which it occurs can fuel acculturation stress, which in turn can have adverse effects on the physical and psychological well-being immigrants. In fact, according to Walsh et al. (2018), immigrant adolescents (and especially first-generation immigrants), who cope with acculturation stress successfully and experience a smooth cultural transition, have many opportunities for development brought up by immigration.

Positive adaptation of immigrant individuals is known in the literature as the "immigrant paradox".

#### 1.2.2. Immigrant Paradox

The "Immigrant Paradox" hypothesis poses that first-generation ethnic minority groups such as immigrants, appear to have better educational and health outcomes compared to their native-born peers, despite coming from similarly disadvantaged backgrounds. This phenomenon is also known as "Healthy Immigrant Effect" (Palacios et al., 2008)

As cited in Xu and Wu (2016), scholars explain this paradoxical phenomenon among immigrants by mainly using two perspectives; the cultural perspective and the self-selection perspective. The main difference between the two theoretical perspectives is that cultural perspective is often ethnicity-specific, whereas the self-selection perspective applies to nearly all immigrant groups.

The cultural perspective, which is mostly used by sociological research, posits that the differences found between native and immigrant children's outcomes, are a result of cultural and behavioral characteristics unique to immigrant individuals. Based on this assumption, two theories of assimilation have been put forward. The first one, the "linear assimilation theory", suggests that the degree of assimilation of immigrant children, defines their success. In other words, this theory suggests that the more one tunes with the host culture and abandons their origin culture, the more likely they are to perform similarly to their native counterparts and assimilate more smoothly onto the host culture.

The second theory of the cultural perspective, is called "the segmented assimilation theory" and was formed to improve the aforementioned model. This theory emphasizes that not all patterns of adaptation/assimilation are desirable. Some immigrant groups for example, succeed because they distance themselves from the host society and accommodate instead of assimilate into the new culture, whereas some others succeed because they assimilate into the new host culture through the acculturation process (Xu & Wu, 2016)

Nonetheless, according to Portes and Rumbaut (2001), the most successful immigrants, are in fact those who both selectively keep traits of their own culture (e.g., social cohesion, close family bonds, strong work/study ethics) and are integrated, instead of assimilated, into the host culture.

The self-selection perspective on the other hand, emphasizes the psychological characteristics of all immigrant individuals, who have moved voluntarily to the new/receiving country, such as their high aspirations and strong motivation. This approach suggests that adult immigrants usually have usually higher motivation than native individuals regarding employment and educational attainment, a trait which is then passed on to their children. In other words, this immigrant drive to thrive, reinforces immigrant adolescents' school adaptation and leads to academic excellence and outperformance over their native peers.

As cited in Xu and Wu (2016), research suggests that compared to their native peers, children of immigrants build better relationships with their teachers, show greater motivation and hold more positive attitudes towards school and learning. More specifically, according to Greenman (2013), findings from numerous studies suggest there exists a consistent pattern in which either first-generation immigrant children, second-generation immigrant children, or both groups achieve higher results (test scores and GPA) and have lower drop-out rates than their third-and-higher/native peers. This educational advantage of immigrant students, who might be thought to be educationally disadvantaged due to language and social barriers, has been termed the "Immigrant Paradox" in education (Palacios et al., 2008).

Despite numerous studies demonstrating supporting evidence for the Immigrant Paradox across psychological, educational and physical outcomes, research findings are nonconsistent. Some studies for example, showed that first-generation immigrants in general outperform natives, however, by the second and third generation, this changes to an immigrant health disadvantage. In addition, the "Immigrant Paradox" was found to exist in the USA, but not in European countries. As cited in Zehr (2009), research collected from more than 40 counties, showed that in most (European) counties, first-generation immigrants have worse health and educational status than future generations. Therefore, it is believed that its existence is highly debated and may be different depending on ethnic backgrounds, demographic characteristics and outcome measures (Noam et al., 2014).

#### 1.3. Immigrant Students' Mental Health

Adapting to the host country, can be a very challenging and stressful process, requiring both sociocultural and psychological adaptations. According to Berry (2005), not every individual responds to the acculturation process in the same way. Individuals who find it difficult to manage the changes that occur after displacement, face a higher risk for developing

anxiety disorders and depression. As cited in Kieseppä et al., (2021), the comorbidity between anxiety disorders, PTSD and depression in the general population is high, and as some studies suggest, it might even be higher among immigrant individuals.

Research on immigrant adolescents' mental health has provided mixed results. Some studies suggest that immigrant adolescents show more psychiatric symptoms and adjustment problems than the general population, whereas some others report they show less. These two perspectives are called the "Migration Morbidity" and the "Immigrant Paradox", respectively. From the perspective of the Migration Morbidity, immigrant individuals show worse mental health and overall adjustment, whereas from the Immigrant Paradox, as discussed in the previous section, immigrants outperform natives (Parviainen et al., 2021).

Research in Europe examining the correlation between adolescent mental health problems and immigration, has yielded supporting evidence for the perspective of Migration Morbidity, as it has shown that immigrant adolescents face a higher risk for developing mental health problems than their native peers (Minas et al., 2013). Some reasons for these results, include lesser access to professional healthcare, experiences of discrimination in the host country/society (Social Stress Theory), stress caused by the acculturation process itself (Acculturation Theory) and facing the various challenges brought up by immigration. Premigration factors, such as living conditions (e.g., war, poverty) and stressful or traumatic experiences associated with leaving one's country and family members, can also trigger mental health problems, as they evoke feelings of loss and uncertainty. Especially for immigrant teenagers, who are undergoing important developmental changes, such social losses in combination with acculturation stressors, can have detrimental effects on their mental health (Minas et al., 2013).

Supporting evidence for the Migration Morbidity, comes also from research on externalizing and internalizing mental health problems. More specifically, findings from research on immigrant adolescents' mental health, suggested that immigrant adolescents show more internalizing (depression, anxiety and somatic pains) and externalizing (observable behaviors such as aggression and delinquency) symptoms compared to their native peers (Fang et al., 2020). Studies focusing further on gender differences between immigrant and non-immigrant adolescents regarding mental health, have shown that despite girls in general experiencing more internalizing problems than boys, the correlation was more robust among immigrant adolescents. Findings also revealed that immigrant girls displayed more mental health problems than their native female peers (Nolen-Hoeksema & Girgus, 1994; Flink et

al., 2012). These differences have not been fully explored; however, some scholars believe that girls' and boys' differential access to society resources, asymmetric power relationships between them and differences regarding traditions and gender-based expectations of the host culture and the country/culture of origin, might account for these differences (Shoshani et al., 2016).

Nonetheless, as cited in Shoshani et al. (2016), there are also numerous studies that showed no differences between immigrant and non-immigrant adolescents' mental health outcomes, or even better mental health among immigrant adolescents. For example, Stevens and Vollebergh (2008), conducted an international literature search regarding first- and second-generation immigrant children's mental health and found that there is not sufficient evidence to indicate that immigrant children face an increased risk for developing mental health problems compared to their non-immigrant counterparts. In addition, another study of both first- and second-generation immigrant adolescents living in 13 different countries, showed that immigrants had less mental health problems than their native peers (Berry et al., 2006) (Immigrant Paradox). As cited in Noam et al. (2014), Qingwen et al. (2010), posed that immigrant adolescents have important protective factors, such as family environment and relationships which reduce the risk for developing mental health problems.

All things considered, studies on the psychological health of immigrant adolescent population remain inconclusive, with some showing immigrant adolescents doing better than their native peers and others finding increased rates of symptoms such as depression, anxiety, aggression, low self-esteem and dependency. These contradictory results, are considered to be potentially linked to differences in cultural/ethnic background, gender, host population, and many other factors that affect the processes of immigration and acculturation and indicate the importance of further investigating their relationship with immigrant adolescents' adjustment (Noam et al., 2014).

#### 1.4. Scholastic Well-Being

As cited in Obermeier et al. (2021), scholastic well-being is a highly relevant area in educational research. Findings of numerous studies have suggested that there is a strong influence of scholastic well-being on successful learning and health status of students, and have emphasized that scholastic well-being is an important indicator of school quality.

Scholastic well-being as a context-specific part of general well-being, involves (cognitive and affective) evaluations of experiences within the school settings. The cognitive component includes both self-related (e.g., scholastic self-concept) and contextual aspects (e.g., positive attitudes towards school), whereas the affective component includes whether a student experiences enjoyment in school and whether physical expression of emotions (e.g., headaches, dizziness) with regard to school achievement, is present. Social problems at school also represent a further dimension of scholastic well-being. Scholars, point out that well-being can act as a determinant of academic achievement, but at the same time can be regarded as an outcome of students' achievement as well (Obermeier et al., 2021).

With regard to immigrant students, as cited in Motti-Stefanidi et al. (2008), school is considered one of the most important cultural contexts, because it offers them the opportunity to be exposed to the host culture's norms and values, allowing them to gain numerous acculturative experiences. Some of the most important markers of effective adaptation to the host culture, include psychological well-being, academic achievement, peer relationships and obeying the rules. These domains, are evaluated within the school context and are considered some of the key developmental tasks of adolescence.

According to scholars, success in these domains is an indicator of positive adaptation, both from the point of development and acculturation, and is considered an important predictor of positive adult outcomes as well (Berry et al., 2006). School success is also found to be greatly associated with fewer future societal problems, such as teenage pregnancy and criminal behavior. Thus, given the fact that immigrant youth comprise a large part of many societies all over the world, assuring they succeed in school, will benefit both immigrants as individuals, but also the society as a whole (Motti-Stefanidi & Masten, 2013).

To measure immigrant adolescents' success and ability to adapt and adjust, researchers need to take into account school environment and psychological intrapersonal and interpersonal factors related to school, such as school anxiety (cognitive and physical symptoms), school autonomy, school motivation and interest and peer relationships.

#### 1.4.1. School Anxiety

As cited in Suárez-Orozco et al. (2009), immigration stressors complicate immigrant students' adjustment to new schools, leaving them more vulnerable to academic failure compared to their native peers. Despite studies demonstrating that immigrant adolescents hold more positive attitudes toward school and greater optimism about the future than their native

peers, some of them fail to perform well academically on various academic indicators (achievement tests, grades, dropout rates, and school attendance).

School environment can have a great impact on students' sense of belonging and identity/personality formation. As cited in Walsemann et al. (2011), school environment plays a vital role in shaping students' worldviews as well, as it allows the reproduction of cultural and social inequalities. Schools convey either covertly or overtly information to students regarding the meaning of race and class, who is more powerful in a society, and whose beliefs are more valued. Such messages are mainly conveyed through the structure within the schools in terms of power, the extent of attention academic staff gives to racial conflicts within the school settings and through the parental and school personnel's stereotypes and attitudes. According to Tummala-Narra and Claudius (2013), both covert and overt forms of ethnic and racial discrimination are not isolated events that happen occasionally, but rather may be a normative experience for immigrant youth, which can contribute to adverse developmental outcomes.

Research findings suggest that the racial composition of schools, may form an environment where some students feel respected and valued, whereas others feel isolated because of their ethnic background. Immigrants, being a minority group, are more likely to experience discrimination compared to their native peers. Discrimination in turn, a socially-derived stressor, can influence both mental and physical health of immigrant adolescents. In fact, perceived discrimination has been shown to be linked to depressive symptoms and greater psychological distress (Walsemann et al., 2011).

As cited in Gillen-O'Neel et al. (2011), perceiving one's group as stigmatized can be a very stressful experience. Within the school environment, stress associated with stigma can be expressed as academic anxiety. According to research findings, individuals who belong to ethnic minority groups (such as immigrant individuals), who are repeatedly reminded that their group is stigmatized, tend to show more anxiety than individuals who are not reminded of their group's stigmatization. Steele (1997), posed that even though all students experience anxiety in the school environment (e.g., concern over others thinking of them as fools for giving the wrong answer), students who belong to minority groups for which negative stereotypes concerning academic abilities exist, suffer more from anxiety. For these students, not giving the correct answer could be personally damaging, but the fact that it confirms the negative stereotype toward their ethnic group, is even worse.

Furthermore, research showed that peer victimization within the school setting, can have a detrimental effect on minority group adolescents' academic self-efficacy. Specifically, research findings show that there is a negative correlation between peer victimization/rejection and perceived academic competence (e.g., test grades, exam performance and ability to pass grades), possibly because victimized and marginalized individuals receive negative messages about themselves, which are then expressed as negative overall self-evaluations and diminished sense of academic self-efficacy (Thijs & Verkuyten, 2008).

Lastly, as cited in Bankston and Zho (2002), another possible explanation for immigrant adolescents' school-related anxiety, is parental pressure. In an attempt to adjust and establish themselves in the new environment (mobility orientation), immigrant parents, over-pressure their children to achieve positions of prestige and respectability through schooling. Thus, children of immigrants may develop lower self-esteem and become more prone to academic anxiety.

#### 1.4.2. School-related Psychosomatic Complaints

The belief that somatic symptoms can be a way of expressing emotional distress has existed in the literature for many decades (Lipowski, 1988). Individuals suffering from elevated psychological distress, anxiety disorders and/or mood disorders may also develop psychosomatic (or somatic) symptoms. Somatization, has been broadly defined as the presentation of one or more medically unexplained somatic symptoms, that does not meet the criteria of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) for somatization disorder, or other somatoform disorders (Ritsner et al., 2000).

According to epidemiological studies' estimates, the prevalence of somatization in the general population, ranges from 4% to 20%, depending on the diagnostic criteria used in each study. With regard to the immigrant population all over the world, findings from several studies have indicated that individuals of this group have a higher risk of developing psychosomatic symptoms, since they experience significantly more psychological distress and stressful life events than members of native populations (Ritsner et al., 2000).

Research on immigrant adolescents' mental health, has provided empirical evidence suggesting that perceiving oneself as a target of discrimination by members of a dominant outgroup, is considered one of the main acculturative stressors linked to psychological symptomatology (e.g., anxiety and depression) and psychosomatic symptoms among immigrant

youth (Titzmann & Silbereisen, 2012). As cited in Cardoso et al. (2021), prolonged activation of the stress response system due to experiencing acculturation stress and discrimination, can lead to a variety of internalized symptoms/reactions in adolescent immigrant youth, such as generalized anxiety and somatic symptoms (including headaches, stomachaches, backaches, and morning fatigue).

Children often inform others about their well-being by expressing complaints concerning their subjective health, both in school and other settings. In 2008, Stevens and Volleberg conducted a large study on Nordic adolescents' subjective psychological and physical health, by assessing their subjective health complaints. Findings revealed that adolescents of foreign backgrounds, reported more subjective health complaints (e.g., headache, back pain, loss of appetite, stomach pain) than native adolescents. Numerous studies conducted in Denmark, yielded similar results. More specifically, as cited in Leth et al. (2014), a study examining mental and physical health-related problems among 7,056 immigrant and native Danish students, showed that immigrant students displayed higher levels of health-related problems than native Danish students.

Furthermore, as cited in Sam et al. (2008), findings of a study using a large cross-national sample of immigrant and native youth adolescents living in Finland, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, and Sweden, indicated that being a first-generation immigrant is correlated with poorer life satisfaction and higher levels of depressive and somatic symptoms, anxiety and low self-esteem, in comparison to native students or second-generation immigrant students.

All things considered, co-occurrence of psychosomatic and emotional symptoms, are common manifestations of stress reactions. Especially, among young immigrant individuals, these reactions seem to impact their school performance and adaption to school demands. School-related stress in turn, causes higher prevalence of somatic complaints in this population, within the school environment (Sonmark et al., 2016).

#### 1.4.3. School Autonomy

The ability to self-regulate one's behavior, is a part of the process of self-governance and is known as 'behavioral autonomy'. Behavioral autonomy is considered one of the most important aspects of adolescent development and a basic psychological need. During adolescence, individuals' sense and need of autonomy is increasing, usually leading them to seek new experiences (Titzmann & Silbereisen, 2012).

Within the school settings, the term 'school autonomy' is used to define "the behavior the teacher provides during instruction first to identify, then to vitalize and nurture, and eventually to develop, strengthen, and grow students' inner motivational resources" (Reeve 2016, p. 130). As cited in Alivernini et al. (2019), teaching styles that support autonomy involve taking students' points of view into account and allowing them to make their own choices with regard to learning and school activities. Research on school autonomy, suggests that when students feel that their autonomy is supported, they then feel more understood and respected by the teaching staff. According to Self-Determination Theory (SDT), such encouragement from teachers, improves students' mental health, because it helps satisfying their basic psychological needs of autonomy, relatedness and competence (Alivernini et al., 2019).

Moreover, Roeser and Eccles (1998), reported that adolescents who believe their school provides them a greater degree of student autonomy (e.g., opportunities for students to share their suggestions and ideas), experience higher levels of self-esteem and have a lower risk for experiencing depressive symptoms. In a similar study, Way et al. (2007), found that when students are encouraged to participate in decision making and defining their school rules, their self-esteem increases.

Democratic school settings have been found to provide adolescent students with the opportunity to feel empowered and experience a sense of meaningful membership in society in the future. According to research, these positive effects of a democratic school environment are even more salient with adolescents of immigrant background. As cited in Özdemir and Stattin (2014), when immigrant adolescents are exposed to ethnic devaluation, they receive the message that their suggestions, input and ideas are not well respected or accepted by the ethnic majority group. Such messages, may lead them to perceive themselves as suppressed and devalued. On the other hand, when the school environment emphasizes the importance of inclusion and the need of valuing every student's voice, in-group/out-group distinctions are prevented, ethnic harassment on students' self-processes and psychological health is diminished and social cohesion is promoted. Thus, immigrant students feel integrated and the risk of school adjustment difficulties is significantly lowered (Özdemir & Stattin, 2014).

Research on immigrant adolescents' school autonomy is not sufficient. However, a study conducted by Alivernini et al. (2019), showed that when immigrant adolescents perceive teachers as adopting an approach that is supportive of autonomy, they tend to report significantly higher levels of psychological wellbeing.

#### 1.4.4. School Motivation and Interest

Based on Bronfenbrenner's (1979), ecological systems theory, various studies on immigrant individuals have investigated how the experience of immigration itself is related to education, parenting and students' motivation in school. School motivation comprises of many constructs including goal orientation, motivation, self-schema and interest. Researching motivational constructs is very important, since motivation predicts future academic success of students.

According to SDT, human motivation has a universal multidimensional structure based on different regulation types that reflect different levels of self-determination. These types of regulation, are organized along a self-determination continuum, ranging from autonomous motivation to controlled motivation and amotivation. Autonomous motivation involves selfendorsed engagement in activities, whereas controlled motivation involves engagement in activities due to external or internal pressures. Amotivation on the other hand, refers to the complete absence of any form of motivation. Along this self-determination continuum, exist five types of motivation, arranged according to individuals' degree of autonomy. As cited in Manganelli et al. (2021), the five types of motivation are: intrinsic motivation (which represents the highest level of self-determination and involves studying for enjoyment and interest), identified regulation (which occurs when individuals consciously consider studying as valuable for themselves), introjected regulation (which is a lower level of self-determination and occurs when students are not fully involved with studying and they do it in order to avoid feelings of guilt), external regulation (which is the lowest level of self-determination and occurs when adolescents study to obtain rewards or avoid punishments.) and finally amotivation (which occurs when self-determination is totally absent).

According to SDT, when individuals feel they can satisfy their psychological need for autonomy, self-determined motivation is encouraged. Some study findings, suggest that sometimes, and especially when individuals live under disadvantageous socioeconomic conditions, this need for autonomy is not met. Thus, adolescents with a lower socioeconomic status, such as immigrant individuals, have a higher risk to experience negative emotions and psychological distress at school (Manganelli et al., 2021).

Research regarding academic motivation of high school students across different countries and cultures, is insufficient and inconsistent. However, a recent study by Manganelli et al. (2021), which compared the level of academic motivation between immigrant and non-immigrant adolescent students, showed that immigrant adolescents had lower levels of identified regulation and higher levels of amotivation, external regulation and introjected regulation than non-immigrant students.

As cited in Motti-Stefanidi et al. (2015), evidence regarding the effect of students' immigrant status (first-, second- or later generation) on school motivation and school engagement is inadequate, and results are inconsistent too, with some studies finding higher school motivation and interest among first-generation immigrant students and other studies finding higher school motivation and interest among second-generation immigrant students. This is known as "inter-generational effect" (Sánchez-Ordaz & Mosqueda, 2021). Both directions of research findings will be discussed further in the next paragraph.

With regard to the first direction of research findings, supporting evidence comes from studies that found that first-generation immigrants value school success, show higher school engagement and receive better grades than both their native peers and second-generation immigrant peers. Scholars suggest that this could be attributed to the fact that more recently immigrated youth (first-generation immigrant adolescents), place more value on education and put more effort in school (Duong et al., 2016). Research also shows that more recent immigrants, display lower rates of social and behavioral problems, put more effort into their school work and hold more positive attitudes toward school (Duong et al., 2016). Fuligni (1997), posed that on average, first-generation immigrants, compared to later generations of same-race immigrants, are perceived as more hardworking. Thus, it is not surprising that first-generation immigrant students are found to have higher school motivation and interest compared to second-generation and natives.

However, this phenomenon is not universal. With regard to the second direction of research findings, various studies have shown that second-generation immigrants often have better school outcomes compared to their first and later generation immigrant counterparts. Kao and Tienda (1995), proposed a variation of the Immigrant Paradox model which suggests the existence of an educational advantage of the second-generation over first- and later-generation immigrant students. They hypothesized that many recent immigrant parents hold higher expectations regarding their own and their children's upward mobility compared

to later immigrant generations, a phenomenon they named "immigrant optimism". They further suggested that second-generation immigrant students seem to have a significant educational advantage over first- and later–generation immigrants, due to their mastery of the host country's national language coupled with immigrant optimism (Duong et al., 2016). According to Kao and Tienda (1995), immigrant parents' own experience of discrimination and low social status in the host country, drive them to hold high expectations and aspirations for their children's upward social mobility through the educational system. Parental involvement in students' school work seems to further positively influence students' school engagement and performance (Duong et al.,2016).

Supporting evidence for second-generation immigrants' educational advantage comes from a study by Portes and Rumbaut (2001) as well, who found that second-generation immigrants report to have both higher educational aspirations and school motivation than first-and later generation immigrant students. In addition, a meta-analysis carried out by Duong et al. (2016), revealed that second-generation students performed significantly better than first-generation immigrant students on standardized test scores and they outperformed later-generation immigrants on school grades. Researchers posed that, second-generation immigrant students' advantage, may derive from a combination of these students' protective cultural values and availability of resources.

Moreover, as mentioned before, results on generational differences regarding school motivation and interest among immigrant youth are not clear. In fact, according to Motti-Stefanidi et al. (2015), (either first-or second-generation) immigrants adolescents' school motivation and school engagement is contingent on the host society and the immigrant group.

All in all, despite study findings suggesting an educational advantage of either first- or second-generation immigrant students, there are some common factors which negatively affect school motivation, school interest and educational aspirations of both groups. According to research, immigrant families' low socioeconomic status, parents' pre-immigration education, cultural familiarity with the receiving country's educational system, linguistic proficiency, parental involvement in education, parental aspirations and students' academic self-concept, are all considered variables that influence all aspects of academic performance. These variables should be therefore taken into account in school policy development, in order to efficiently integrate immigrant adolescents within each host country's school system (Areepattamannil & Freeman, 2008).

#### 1.4.5. Peer relationships

Peers play a very important role for adolescent development. According to Erik Erikson (1968), during adolescent years (ages 12–18), individuals establish peer relationships while seeking to develop self-identity and autonomy from their parents (Chen, 2005). Steinberg and Brown (1989), highlighted that even though parents have the most salient influence on their children's long-term educational path, peers are more influential on their everyday behaviors in school. For example, time spent on homework, how they behave in the classroom and attitude toward school, seem to be associated with peer relationships. Researchers in the United States, have also found that peers affect all aspects of a student's life (not only educational aspirations) and especially emotional and social adjustment (Chen, 2005).

As cited in Chen (2005), it is reasonable to expect that peers influence one another's academic engagement and outcomes, due to the many hours they spend together every day at school. During adolescence, peers act as social mirrors, validating each other's self-image. Thus, the experience of being accepted by peers in a social setting such as the school, is critical for the adolescent's self-esteem (Saminathen et al., 2021).

According to Masten (2014), both developing and maintaining positive peer relations are very important developmental tasks that predict individuals' future adaptation. Acceptance by peers, promotes and protects the psychological well-being and adaptation of adolescents, whereas rejection by peers, increases risk for negative outcomes. Research shows that good-quality friendships and trusted close friends, can buffer victimization and protect anxious adolescents. In particular, study findings showed that having social support and acceptance by peers, increase validation and decrease social anxiety (Du & Field, 2020). In addition, research shows that positive peer relationships at school, lead adolescents to perceive school more favorably and perform better academically (Motti-Stefanidi et al., 2008).

According to Plenty and Jonsson (2017), belonging to an ethnic minority group is considered as a risk factor for exclusion among peers. Social identity theory suggests that individuals in general, desire to identify with and belong to social groups perceived as superior to others. Within the school settings, students strive for a high position within the social hierarchy and may deliberately or unintentionally distance themselves from individuals who are perceived as belonging to a group of lower status (such as immigrants).

Feeling accepted by non-immigrant peers is considered a crucial acculturative task for immigrant adolescents, as it promotes their overall well-being and their positive adaptation to the host culture. As cited in Asendorpf and Motti-Stefanidi (2017), research suggests that acceptance and rejection of immigrants by peers and classmates depend mainly upon four distinct factors that often overlap. These factors are: in-group preference, immigrants' societal status, immigrant composition of the classroom, and intergroup contact.

In-group preference, refers to the tendency of people to prefer members of one's ingroup to those of one's out-group, a phenomenon also known as "homophily". Adolescents often choose to make friends who are similar to themselves, in terms of ethnicity, age and socioeconomic status. Consistent with this phenomenon, known as "friendship homophily", immigrant adolescents seem to prefer making friends with individuals from their own ethnic group (Motti et al., 2008). In multi-ethnic contexts, differences in ethnicity often result to in-group preference. Within the school setting, in mixed classrooms consisting of non-immigrants and immigrants, immigrant status might also result to an in-group preference of immigrants, even if students are of different ethnicities (Asendorpf & Motti-Stefanidi, 2017).

With regard to immigrants' societal status, research shows that in multi-ethnic groups, ethnic (sub) groups of higher social status, are preferred more than groups of lower social status. This preference, reflects hierarchies in society (Asendorpf & Motti-Stefanidi, 2017).

Moreover, the third factor, the immigrant composition of the classroom, seems to play a major role in adolescents' peer preferences. As cited in Asendorpf and Motti-Stefanidi (2017), as the proportion of immigrants in a multi-ethnic classroom increases, immigrants' profit from immigrant classmates' in-group preference increases too. Immigrant students and especially those who have a more visible minority status, find it more difficult to gain group membership and a sense of belonging in a classroom with a high proportion of majority/native group students. This is because, in such context, they may face more discrimination and stigmatization.

Rejection by classmates can potentially have detrimental effects on immigrant adolescents' sense of self-image, and thus it can lead to lower levels of perceived psychological well-being among them. In contrast, according to research, when immigrant adolescents are surrounded by a high proportion of other students who are foreign-born too or have foreign-born parents, they have better chances of experiencing a stronger sense of belonging, and consequently maintaining a higher level of psychological well-being (Saminathen et al., 2021). Numerous studies conducted in Northern American and European countries, confirm

these findings and highlight that especially immigrants with non-European backgrounds, experience less victimization in schools with higher proportions of immigrants (<u>Plenty</u> & Jonsson, 2017).

The fourth factor affecting peer relationships of immigrant adolescents, is opportunity for intergroup contact. As cited in Asendorpf and Motti-Stefanidi (2017), various meta-analyses of studies in this area, have revealed that in most social settings, prejudice is negatively associated with the length and quality of intergroup contact and is in fact more profound among societal majority members. Scholars attribute these findings to the fact that crossethnic contact does affect prejudice, by reducing the initial intergroup bias (both in-group favoritism and out-group discrimination). Findings of longitudinal studies, suggest that the higher the intergroup contact the less the intergroup bias over time. For example, Titzmann and Silbereisen (2009), reported that recently immigrated German-Russian adolescents, had over a period of three years, increasingly more cross-ethnic friends in German schools. Similarly, Titzmann et al. (2012), found that within a period of two years, Jewish-Russian immigrant students in Israel had a significant increase of cross-ethnic friendships.

As cited in Barrett et al. (2012), the interethnic dynamics of diverse school environments have been found to affect immigrant students' academic motivation and achievement. More specifically, school-based supportive peer relationships that promote a sense of acceptance by other ethnic groups, have been shown to enhance both immigrants' behavioral and cognitive engagement, leading to higher grades.

Nevertheless, despite literature identifying factors influencing immigrant adolescents' peer relationships and school adjustment, empirical findings regarding differences in social exclusion between majority and immigrant adolescents have been mixed. Some studies found that individuals belonging in ethnic minority groups, report more bullying than majority youth and are liked less than individuals belonging in the ethnic majority group (Motti-Stefanidi et al., 2008; Strohmeier et al., 2011). However, other studies found no such differences (Fandrem et al., 2009), or found the complete opposite [that ethnic minority groups are less likely than ethnic majority groups to be identified as victims (Strohmeier et al., 2008)].

#### 1.5. Stressful Life Events and Life Satisfaction

## 1.5.1. Stressful Life Events

As cited in Ward et al., (2021), psychological stress refers to the physical and/ or psychological outcome of a perceived environmental demand on an individual. These environmental demands (stressful events), could range from chronic stressors (e.g., chronic illness and community violence), to time-limited high-severity stressors (e.g., natural disasters). According to Thoits (2010), stressors can be categorized into three general categories: negative events, chronic strains, and traumatic stressors. Negative events, are single aversive demands on a person's life, chronic strains are characterized by demands that are persistent or repeated, and traumatic stressors occur in situations in which the individual believes that there is a threat to their life, bodily integrity, or sanity. All three categories of stressors, cause physiological and psychological responses that affect both physical and mental health.

An individual's response to stressors can be physical and/or mental, depending on the individual's social and cultural resources, psychological makeup and needs of the situation. According to research, a factor that affects an individual's response to stress, is the nature of the stressor. Greater perceived severity of the stressor, longer duration and closer proximity to the stressor, are all associated with more problematic stress responses.

Gagne (1998, p.356), defined trauma as a 'shock that is deemed emotional, and substantially damages over a long time period', can have long-lasting effects (such as PTSD and depression) not only on the individual who experienced it, but also on later generations of that individual's family.

Within the immigration context, immigrant trauma may involve traumatic stressful events, such as interruption of schooling, housing and/or food instability, discrimination due to race, religion or language, lack of physical and medical care, poor mental health, separation from parents or family, war, or political chaos in their country of origin (Murphy, 2016). According to Torres et al. (2018), immigrant individuals may go through three different stages of traumas: pre-immigration trauma (involves pre-existing stressors in their country of origin), trauma during immigration process and post-immigration trauma (involves stressors in the host country).

The experience of stressful and/or traumatic experiences by immigrant individuals, increases the risk for psychological distress and disorders. According to a study by Perreira

and Ornelas (2013), during the immigration process, about 29% of immigrant adolescents and 34% of their parents/guardians, experience at least one traumatic event. Amongst those who were exposed to trauma, about 9% of adolescents and 21% of their parents were at risk for developing PTSD. Sack et al. (1999), found that PTSD tends to persist in immigrant population and it may even develop 6-12 years after arrival in the host country. According to another study by Fazel et al. (2012), 8- 9 years after displacement, post-immigration experiences were more important for immigrant youth mental health than pre-immigration experiences.

Murphey (2016), posed that immigrant children and adolescents are significantly affected by traumatic experiences and emphasized that exposure to trauma can possibly create a path for symptoms of toxic stress.

Liang et al. (2020), carried out a study to investigate the relationship between childhood trauma and negative academic, social and behavioral outcomes, using a sample of immigrant children in China. Researchers were specifically interested in exploring internalizing and externalizing behaviors, by asking immigrant children to complete both child behavior checklist and traumatic experience history screenings. The most common traumatic events reported by the children, were witnessing violence outside of their home (24.24%) and experiencing domestic violence (13.98%), whereas less common traumatic events were disasters (2.61%), earthquakes (2.71%) and one or more sexual harassment encounter (5.18%). Researchers further categorized traumatic events based on the degree of exposure to the event. The three categories that emerged were: low trauma exposure (meaning participants had a low probability of exposure to a traumatic event), vicarious/secondhand trauma exposure (meaning participants had a moderate probability of exposure to a traumatic event) and multiple trauma exposure (meaning participants had moderate or high probabilities of traumatic exposure). According to the findings, children showed significant differences in symptoms (such as aggressive and delinquent behavior, withdrawal, and somatic complaints), depending on the type of trauma they were exposed to. Furthermore, the findings indicated that children exposed to more severe traumatic events, had higher scores for both internalizing and externalizing behaviors.

With regard to school context, in the case of immigrant students, research has documented that the trauma of uprooting and adjusting to a new host culture, can cause significant psychological distress and acculturation stress that can in turn have detrimental consequences on their peer relationships, self-esteem and self-efficacy (Frabutt, 2006). Experiencing trauma can also impact immigrant adolescents' educational outcomes and their relationship to the new school system (Zacarian et al., 2017). According to research findings, stressful experiences in childhood can lead to behavioral issues in the classroom, making adjustment in the education system even more challenging (Balfanz et al., 2014).

According to research, repeated exposure to stressful life events, complicates immigrants' integration onto the new host country and creates new stressors for this group, that accumulate into compounded trauma (Torres et al., 2018). The impact of trauma is thought to be passed down through generations (intergenerational transmission). In other words, behavior patterns, symptoms and values in relation to trauma that appeared in one generation, will affect not only the generation that was victimized but also next generations. Danieli (1998), suggested that trauma will be passed down as the family legacy to children born after trauma, regardless of whether survivors talk about it or not. As cited in Straussner and Calnan (2014), the impact of trauma remains decades after the original traumatic experience and mental health symptoms may increase when individuals experience further traumas. Therefore, it can be concluded that the frequency of traumatic events experienced (multiple traumatic exposures), is an important predictor of long-term mental health outcomes, particularly for traumatized immigrant and refugee groups.

The dynamics of intergenerational transmission of trauma were first identified in studies of adult children of Holocaust survivors (Danieli, 1998), and were later confirmed by researchers investigating refugee populations from all over the world (Bogic et al., 2012).

With regard to the relationship between immigrant status, immigrant generational status and the number and severity of traumatic events experienced, evidence is neither clear nor sufficient. Sam et al. (2006), compared the general psychological adaptation of first-generation, second-generation and non-immigrants adolescents living in 13 different countries and found significant differences in only four countries (Canada, Finland, Norway, and Sweden). In these countries, non-immigrants and second-generation immigrants had better psychological adaptation than first-generation immigrants, while no differences between non-immigrants and second-generation immigrants were observed. These results, confirm that first generation immigrants may be at increased risk of mental illness and higher rates of PTSD (Close et al., 2016), and that second-generation adolescents have an advantage over their parents (Papademetriou et al., 2009).

However, other studies suggest that despite the fact that children of immigrants (second-generation immigrants) should feel that they have a similar future to their native-born peers, they may experience more traumatic events compared to first generation immigrants, due to racism and discrimination (Dreby, 2012).

Because there is no sufficient research exploring the differences and similarities between first-generation, second-generation and non-immigrants with regard to the experience of stressful life events, the current study will address this with a research question.

## 1.5.2. Psychological Well-Being and Life satisfaction

According to Da Conceição et al. (2008), subjective well-being refers to how people perceive and evaluate their lives. Most researchers in this area, pose that there are three specific components of subjective well-being that can be operationalized and measured. Two of these components belong to the affective domain and include the presence of positive feelings (such as happiness) and the absence of negative feelings (such as anger and anxiety), and the third component, (the cognitive component), refers to the intellectual evaluation of one's life satisfaction, either with respect to specific life domains or globally. Because well-being can be understood as a continuum in the same way as health, it is important to measure both negative and positive dimensions. According to Obermeier et al. (2021), well-being can be considered high when self-evaluation is in favor of positive dimensions.

With regard to 'Life Satisfaction' as a term, Shin and Johnson (1978) defined it as an overall assessment of an individual's quality of life, according to his unique chosen criteria. As cited in Kogan et al. (2018), life satisfaction from the socio-psychological perspective, is a subjective evaluation process, through which individuals compare their (perceived) situations with their hopes and expectations of how the situation should be (ideal/reference situation). As far as immigrant individuals are concerned, existing studies have identified three dimensions that are directly connected to immigrants' subjective evaluation process. These are: cultural, social, and economic integration.

Research on life satisfaction among immigrant groups is limited and inconsistent, however, findings in general show a constant pattern of low life satisfaction among ethnic and racial minority groups compared to the ethnic majority group, after their arrival in the host country. According to Verkuyten (2008), this result is still found when certain demographic and other factors are controlled. For instance, in a national survey conducted in the Netherlands, it was found that the general life satisfaction of immigrant and ethnic minority individuals was significantly lower than that of the ethnic Dutch, even when controlling for income, educational level, physical health, age, and gender. Thus, it seems that just belonging in an ethnic minority group, can lower general life satisfaction. Reasons for lower levels of life satisfaction, include both immigration specific factors and contextual host country effects (Arpino & de Valk, 2018).

Acculturation research has shown that attitudes of the majority group toward minority groups are important for understanding ethnic minority groups' life satisfaction, their attachment to their own ethnic group and their attachment to the larger society. More specifically, research findings suggest that ethnic minority members who feel unwelcome, excluded or discriminated, are more likely to feel less satisfied with their life in the host country (Verkuyten, 2008). Furthermore, other contextual characteristics of the host country, such as immigrants' status in the socioeconomic hierarchy, immigrants' employment prospects within the host country, mobility barriers preventing second-generation immigrants from social advancement and the extent to which immigrants' cultural heritage is compatible with the host culture and values, are all factors that affect immigrants' perceived level of well-being and life satisfaction (Kogan et al., 2018). According to numerous empirical studies, taking into consideration the national-level characteristics can aid understanding the variation in immigrants' life satisfaction after settling in different countries all over the world.

Moreover, as cited in Borraccino et al. (2018), research suggests that the level of life satisfaction differs between first- and second-generation immigrants, however, findings are inconclusive because there have been only a few studies comparing well-being in more than one generation of adolescent immigrants. Some studies have found that the second-generation is less satisfied with life than the first-generation, while some others found the exact opposite, or no differences at all.

Research findings regarding differences in life satisfaction of immigrant and non-immigrant adolescents, are inconsistent as well. In addition, the Immigrant Paradox of life satisfaction (i.e., that immigrants have higher levels of life satisfaction than non-immigrants) has not been sufficiently supported by empirical evidence (Tang, 2019).

Based on the fact that there is lack of systematic patterns in the literature, one of the aims of the current study, is to identify whether immigrant status (immigrant or non-immigrant) and immigrant generational status (first-or second-generation) are associated with differences in the level of life satisfaction of adolescent students in Cyprus.

#### 1.6. COVID-19 Pandemic-Related Stress

The COVID-19 international situation and the associated consequences, such as lock-down measures and school closures, had negatively affected the mental well-being of adolescents. As cited in Soest et al. (2020), with schools being closed and the implication of major social restrictions, children may have missed out on experiences that can offer self-realization and affirmation. Social distancing may have caused feelings of loneliness and isolation, which are risk factors for mental health problems and disconnection, and many may have felt anxious about infection and illness, which may have negatively affected their quality of life and well-being. In fact, in Austria, Pieh et al. (2022), found a significant decrease in mental well-being as well as a high prevalence of mental disorders in adolescents, one year after the COVID-19 outbreak.

Research regarding the effects of the pandemic on immigrant populations are not sufficient or clear yet. Some studies showed that individuals with immigrant background had poorer mental health outcomes during the pandemic (Gibson et al., 2021), while some others reported the opposite (Liu et al., 2020), or even no differences at all (Akkaya-Kalayci et al., 2020). Generally, most scholars suggest that youth belonging to minority groups have a greater mental health risk related to the pandemic than individuals belonging to the majority group. According to research, this is because adolescents in minority groups are affected by social distancing measures in the same way adolescents of majority group do, however, immigration factors such as inadequate supplies, lack of information, financial concerns and disease-related stigma, exacerbate these effects (Endale et al., 2020). Another possible reason for the exacerbation of the pandemic effects on immigrant individuals, is that because interventions and other aids (i.e., help-lines and telehealth) were less accessible to these populations during the pandemic, possibly due to language barriers and differences in digital literacy (Wagaman et al., 2022).

To conclude, the existing literature with regard to COVID-19 pandemic, suggests that vulnerabilities of immigrant youth seem to increase by the pandemic, making them more prone to developing mental health problems (such as anxiety) and experiencing lower levels of life satisfaction. One of the aims of the current study, is to examine a) whether the pandemic influenced the level of stress experienced by immigrant (first- and second- generation) and non-immigrant adolescent high-school students and b) whether the number of past

stressful life events affected this experience. In other words, in this study, COVID-19 pandemic is conceptualized as an added psychological stressor (stressful life event) that could have potentially affected immigrant and non-immigrant adolescents in Cyprus.

## 1.7. Significance of the Present Study

This study's findings will reveal whether there are any differences and/or correlations between immigrant (first-and second-generation) and non-immigrant high school students in Cyprus, with regard to school adjustment, life satisfaction and experience of stressful life events. These results in turn, will help in understanding the current status quo of the Cypriot educational system regarding immigrant students and the psychological experiences of high school students in Cyprus in general. In addition, the findings would be of major importance and contribution in understanding and assessing how adolescents of different ethnic backgrounds feel and react to environmental and emotional stressors and thus will aid in improving school environment and integration policies, especially for immigrant students. Research in Cyprus in this area is limited and international research has yielded mixed results, therefore this study's aim is to provide novel and helpful information in an attempt to increase young individuals 'quality of life and improve their educational experiences in supportive and potentially discrimination-free school settings.

## **CHAPTER 2: RESEARCH AIMS, QUESTIONS AND HYPOTHESES**

#### 2.1. Research Aim

Because there exists limited research conducted in Cyprus regarding immigrant adolescednts' overall well-being, the current research aids to the understanding of such a significant area. The aim of the current study, is to investigate the differences between two groups (immigrant and non-immigrant high school students) enrolled in Cypriot schools, with regard to stressful life events, life satisfaction and various aspects of school adjustment. Research questions and hypotheses, are based on the findings of previous research. In this way, past knowledge is tested while at the same time, new knowledge is added and expanded.

## 2.2. Research Questions and Research Hypotheses

Based on previous literature on these topics, the following research questions (RQs) and Research Hypotheses (Hs) were formed:

RQ1: Is immigration status (first-generation immigrants, second-generation immigrants and non-immigrants) correlated to the number of stressful life events?

Literature on the experience of stressful life events, suggests that first-generation immigrants experience more traumatic life events than second-generation immigrants. First-generation immigrants face more traumatic situations in their country of origin and in relation to the journey and immigration process (Giammusso et al., 2018), thus it is expected they will report a larger number of stressful life events than second-generation immigrants and non-immigrants, who normally do not go through such experiences. According to these findings, the following hypothesis has been formed:

H1: First-generation immigrants will have experienced more stressful life events than their native peers and second-generation immigrants. Second-generation immigrants will not have experienced more stressful life events than their native peers.

RQ2: Does immigration status predict different levels of school anxiety and school-related psychosomatic symptoms?

Previous research regarding immigrants' mental health in general, and with regard to immigration and generational status, has provided mixed results. However, a common finding, is that first-generation immigrants are more vulnerable than second-generation immigrants to experience psychological distress/anxiety. This is because second-generation immigrants are socialized and educated in the mainstream society, thus they don't face as many obstacles in their daily lives as first-generation immigrants (Hirschman, 1996). With regard to psychosomatic symptoms, it has been found that first-generation immigrants report higher levels of somatization (higher frequency and more severe symptoms) than non-immigrant and second-generation immigrant individuals (Morawa et al., 2017; Sam et al., 2008). Therefore, based on these findings the following hypothesis was formed:

H2: First-generation immigrants will have experienced higher levels of school anxiety and school-related psychosomatic symptoms compared to their native peers and second-generation immigrants.

RQ3: Does immigration status predict different levels of school autonomy, peer relationships, school motivation and school interest?

Research on immigrants' school motivation and interest, has provided controversial results. Some studies found that first-generation immigrants have higher school motivation and interest than second-generation immigrants and some found the exact opposite. Some researchers suggest that because more recent immigrants are more hardworking and value school success and education more than second-generation immigrants and non-immigrants, they score higher grades (Duong et al., 2016). Other researchers, who found an educational advantage of second-generation immigrants over first-generation immigrants, pose that their educational success is attributed to their mastery of the host country's national language and to their higher educational aspirations driven up by their parents' expectations of them, regarding their upward social mobility (Duong et al., 2016; OECD, 2015). Some second-generation immigrant student groups, have been found to even outperform non-immigrant adolescents (Azzolini et al., 2012).

As cited in Azzolini et al. (2012), in general, it is believed that second-generation immigrant adolescents tend to outperform first-generation immigrant adolescents in school, because they do not directly face the hurdles of immigration and the challenges of adapting to new contexts, languages and educational systems.

With regard to peer relationships, previous research provided mixed results as well. However, a common finding is that adolescents with immigration background, are more likely to experience bullying (Motti-Stefanidi et al., 2008), exclusion and discrimination than their non-immigrant peers (Plenty & Jonsson, 2017). Because of the exclusion and prejudice against them, immigrant individuals' sense of school autonomy can be potentially indirectly affected. Existing literature, suggests that when immigrant adolescents perceive themselves as unaccepted on non-likable by the ethnic majority group, they feel devalued and as a result, they do not feel they belong to the school community (Özdemir & Stattin, 2014). This in turn, leads to lower self-esteem and more psychological distress (Manganelli et al., 2021).

Based on these findings, the following hypotheses were formulated:

H3<sup>1</sup>: Second-generation immigrants will have experienced higher levels of school motivation and school interest compared to their non-immigrant peers and first-generation immigrants.

H3<sup>2</sup>: Non-immigrant adolescents will have experienced higher levels of school autonomy and better peer relationships compared to first- and second-generation immigrants.

RQ4: Does immigration status predict different levels of expected increase in life satisfaction?

Research in this area is both inconsistent and limited. However, there are some studies showing that recent immigrants report better mental health and higher life satisfaction than non-immigrant/native individuals (Dorsett et al., 2019). Studies carried out by Borraccino et al. (2018) and Lemos (2013), have also shown that first-generation immigrants have a higher level of positive well-being and score significantly higher than second-generation immigrants on the general quality of life index, respectively. Second-generation immigrants on the other hand, seem to report similar life satisfaction levels with native individuals, possibly because of their successful integration in the host country (Tay, 2020). Because of these findings, for the purpose of this study, the following hypothesis was formed:

H4: First-generation immigrants will have experienced higher levels of expected increase in life satisfaction than second-generation immigrants and non-immigrant adolescents. Second-generation immigrants will have experienced similar levels of expected increase in life satisfaction with non-immigrant adolescents.

RQ5: Does immigration status predict different levels of COVID-19 pandemic-related stress?

The psychological consequences of COVID-19 pandemic have not been extensively investigated yet. Findings of studies, generally showed that individuals belonging in minority groups have a greater mental health risk related to the pandemic than non-immigrants. This is possibly because of limited access to services, and social distancing measures (e.g., isolation and closing of schools), which add to the already existing challenging immigration factors they are experiencing (Endale et al., 2020; Wagaman et al., 2022). To test any differences between the three groups, the following hypothesis was formed:

H5: First-generation immigrants and second-generation immigrants will have experienced higher levels of COVID-19 pandemic-related stress than their non-immigrant peers. First-generation immigrants will not have experienced higher levels of COVID-19 pandemic-related stress than second-generation immigrants.

Three more research questions and six hypotheses focusing on the effect of experiencing stressful life events on adolescents' mental health and school-related interpersonal and interpersonal factors were formed. Based on previous research suggesting that stressful life events have a damaging effect on psychological well-being and can lead to negative health outcomes (Thoits, 2010), it was hypothesized that the experience of stressful life events would have a negative impact on all outcomes of interest. More specifically, the following research questions and hypotheses were formulated:

RQ6: Does the number of stressful life events predict adolescents' mental health (i.e., school anxiety and psychosomatic symptoms)?

H6<sup>1</sup>: More stressful life events experienced, predict higher levels of school anxiety in all adolescents.

H6<sup>2</sup>: More stressful life events experienced, predict more school-related psychosomatic symptoms in all adolescents.

RQ7: Does the number of stressful life events predict school-related interpersonal and intrapersonal factors?

H7<sup>1</sup>: More stressful life events experienced, predict lower levels of school motivation and school interest.

H7<sup>2</sup>: More stressful life events experienced, predict lower levels of school autonomy.

H7<sup>3</sup>: More stressful life events experienced, predict poorer peer relationships.

RQ8: Does the number of stressful life events predict COVID-19 pandemic-related stress?

H8: More stressful life events experienced, predict higher levels of COVID-19 pandemic-related stress.

## **CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY**

#### 3.1. Method and Design

To investigate the current study's research hypotheses and questions, quantitative methodology was used. Quantitative methodology emphasizes reliability, validity and replicability (Albery & Munafo, 2007), in contrast to qualitative research, which is not concerned with numerical representativity, but with the deepening of understanding a given problem (Queirós et al., 2017).

Despite qualitative research focusing on the deeper understanding and explanation of dynamics of processes and phenomena, collection and analysis of data requires significant preparation, is very time-consuming and can be costly. The main disadvantage of qualitative approaches though, is that their findings cannot be generalized to the general population with the same degree of certainty that quantitative analyses can, because they are not tested to discover whether they are statistically significant or due to chance (Atieno, 2009). For these reasons, and because existing research regarding immigrant adolescents in Cyprus is qualitative (e.g., Papamichael, 2008; Theodorou & Symeou, 2013), it was decided that the most suitable methodology to use in this study, was quantitative.

Data was collected using a survey through close-ended questions. As cited in Glasow (2005), surveys are capable of obtaining information from large samples of the population and are also well-suited to gathering demographic data that describe the composition of the sample. In addition, surveys require minimal investment to develop and administer, are relatively easy for making generalizations and can also provide information about constructs that are otherwise difficult to measure using observational techniques.

Cross-sectional design was utilized in the study, as participants were observed only once, at a particular time (Albery & Munafo, 2007). Participants were selected by purposive sampling method (also known as judgment sampling). Purposive sampling is a non-random sampling technique, as it involves deliberately selecting participants based on particular variables of interest. In other words, people with particular characteristics are chosen to take

part in the study. The researcher decides what information needs to be known and reaches out to people who can provide the information by virtue of experience or knowledge (Etikan, 2016). In the current study, we purposely approached two high schools with large immigrant student population, in order to access the desired sample.

## 3.2. Participants

Initially, the desirable number of participants was 300 (150 non-immigrant and 150 immigrant) first-year high school students. Questionnaires were given out to four different high schools in Nicosia and Larnaca district, however, due to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, data was collected only from two high schools in Larnaca. The sample was consisted of a total of 253 participants, of which 119 were immigrants and 134 were native Cypriots. They were all high school students (50.2% enrolled in "Evriviadeio" high school and 47.8% enrolled in "Faneromeni" high school) and had a mean age of 14.3 (SD=0.9). Data was collected from the whole student population of each school (first, second- and third-year classes).

With regard to gender, 106 were females and 140 were males. Seven students did not report their gender. A percentage of 64.4 of the students' parents were married, 26.9% were divorced and 3.2% were separated. A small percentage of students (4.4%) reported that either their father or mother was deceased. Regarding parents' education, most of the students reported that their father or mother have completed high school (Lyceum), 2.4% reported that their father did not receive any education and 3.6% reported that their mother did not receive any education. Furthermore, 19.8% and 25.3%, reported that their father or mother respectively hold a university degree. The majority of the students reported that their father (79.4%) or mother (66.8%) works in Cyprus and 34% rated their family's SES as good. A total of 167 of the students stated that they live with their parents and siblings, 55 with one parent and siblings, two with their grandparents and 28 with someone else. One student did not report with whom they live.

Of the 119 immigrant students, 88 reported that their family rents a property and 29 that they own a property. A small percentage (0.8%), reported that their family lives in a state-funded accommodation. Based on immigrant students' answers, 14.2% were born in Cyprus, 9.5% in Greece, 6.3% in Romania and 2.4% in Russia. Smaller percentages were reported for Syria (2%) and Bulgaria (2%). In total, 22 different countries were mentioned as countries of birth of immigrant students. According to Population census (2015) of the

Statistical Service of Cyprus, the diversity of immigrant groups in the study, represents the general immigrant population of Cyprus very well. With regard to immigrant students' father country of birth, 8.3% reported that their father comes from Greece, 7.5% from Georgia and 5.9% from Romania. Smaller percentages were reported for countries like Cyprus (3.6%), Syria (2.8%) and Palestine (2.4%). In total, 26 different countries were mentioned as father's country of origin. Concerning immigrant students' mother country of birth, 7.5% reported that their mother comes from Greece, 6.7% from Georgia, 6.7% from Romania and 4.7% from Russia. Smaller percentages were reported that their mother was coming from countries like Palestine (2.8%), Bulgaria (2.4%), Moldova (2%) and Syria (2%). In total, 28 different countries were mentioned as mother's country of origin.

Out of the 77 immigrant students who responded to the question regarding their age when coming to Cyprus, 35 reported coming after the age of 10 and 42 before the age of 10. In addition, 13,8% of them reported staying in Cyprus between 11-15 years, 9.5% between 6-10 years, 11.5% between 2-5 years and 6.3% one year or under. Regarding the reasons for moving in Cyprus, most of the students (30%) reported parents' search for work or work obligations, 5.5% reported war, 2.8% reported studies, 0.4% reported asylum seeking and 5.5% reported other, not specified reasons.

## 3.3. Measures

All variables were measured once, at a particular time. Participants were given a self-reported questionnaire, which included the following scales (see Appendix E).

#### 3.3.1. Demographic Information

Questions regarding demographic information were also included in the questionnaire. All students were asked to report their age, gender, their parent's marital status, education and employment status, their family's socioeconomic status and with whom they live. Immigrant students were asked to complete a final section of the demographics which included questions regarding their parents' country of origin, their country of birth, their age when arrived in Cyprus, the reasons their family moved in Cyprus, the duration of their stay in Cyprus and their family's housing status.

#### 3.3.2. School Motivation and Interest and Peer Relationships

To measure school motivation and interest and to obtain information regarding school motivation and interest and peer relationships, subscales of the questionnaire used in the ViSC program were used (Solomontos-Kountouri et al., 2017).

#### School Motivation and Interest

School Motivation and Interest were assessed with 10 items, focusing on growth in abilities and competencies, on students' comprehension of subject content (e.g., "I want to learn many new things") and on efficacy expectations in learning situations (e.g., "I am convinced that I can be good at tests"). Answers to all questions were given on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from (1) strongly disagree, (2) disagree, (3) neither agree nor disagree, (4) agree and (5) strongly agree.

## Peer Relationships

Peer relationships were measured with three items developed by Eder and Mayr (2000) (e.g., "In our class all students work together well and help each other"). All items were answered using a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from (1) strongly disagree, (2) disagree, (3) neither agree nor disagree, (4) agree and (5) strongly agree.

## 3.3.3. School Autonomy

Students' need for school autonomy was operationalized by the researcher. Five self-developed items occurred, focusing on students' sense of autonomy (e.g., "I would like to participate in the decisions how we learn in school"). All questions were answered using a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from (1) strongly disagree, (2) disagree, (3) neither agree nor disagree, (4) agree and (5) strongly agree.

#### 3.3.4. School Anxiety

School anxiety was measured using four items taken from the Test Anxiety Inventory (Wieczerkowski et al., 1974), focusing on stressful situations in school (e.g., "When I am called on by a teacher, I am afraid I will say something wrong"). Students responded on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from (1) strongly disagree, (2) disagree, (3) neither agree nor disagree, (4) agree and (5) strongly agree.

#### 3.3.5. School-Related Psychosomatic Complaints

School-related psychosomatic complaints were measured using six items. This domain was built based on Hascher's (2004) conceptualization of school well-being. Hascher developed six dimensions of school well-being, namely, positive attitude towards school (PAS), enjoyment in school (EIS), positive academic self-concept (PASC), worries in school (WIS), social problems in school (SPC) and physical complaints in school (PCS). For the purpose of this study, only the PCS dimension was used, focusing on students experience of physical symptoms (e.g., "Before there is a test or an exam, my heart starts beating very much"). Two questions ("During an exam, I get an unpleasant feeling in my stomach" and "When I am occupied with school related problems, I am not able to fall asleep") were self-developed and added to this domain. Participants responded on a 5-point Likert scale, ranging from (1) strongly disagree, (2) disagree, (3) neither agree nor disagree, (4) agree and (5) strongly agree.

#### 3.3.6. Psychological well-being

Psychological well-being, was measured using the Satisfaction with Life scale (Diener et al. ,1985). This tool, is a 5-item scale designed to measure global cognitive judgments of one's life satisfaction (e.g., "I am satisfied with my life", "In most ways, my life is close to my ideal"). Participants indicated how much they agree or disagree with each of the five items using a 5 point-rating scale, ranging from (1) strongly disagree, (2) disagree, (3) neither agree nor disagree, (4) agree and (5) strongly agree.

#### 3.3.7. Life Satisfaction

To investigate students' current and future/expected life satisfaction, an additional measure (Cantril ladder scale) was included. The Cantril ladder scale (Cantril, 1965), is a simple visual scale which makes it possible to assess general life satisfaction. The result may depend on the health, living, and studying conditions, and quality of social relations. Participants were asked "On which step do you think you will stand at this time" and "On which step do you think you will stand in the future?" and were presented a ladder consisting of 10 steps ranging from 0 (worst possible life) to 10 (best possible life). They then had to choose a step on the ladder which they believed represented their current and future life satisfaction. For the purpose of this research, the higher the score calculated (higher step on the ladder), the higher the level of life satisfaction.

#### 3.3.8. Stressful Life Events

To measure students' exposure to stressful life events, 11 items were taken from the Stressful Life Events questionnaire (Bean, et al.,2006). The Stressful Life Events (SLE) questionnaire is a checklist of 12 dichotomous (yes/no) questions about the experience of stressful life events. Questions cover three primary areas of stressful life events (separation from family, physical or sexual violence and war or armed conflict). In the current study, participants were directed to indicate whether they have experienced 11 different types of possibly traumatizing events. The question regarding experience of sexual abuse was excluded. The SLE measures occurrence, but not intensity or duration of experiencing the different stressful events. Whether a stressful life event had occurred, was assessed by questions like "Has someone died in your life that you really cared about". A total sum score was calculated based on the number of events the participants report to have been exposed to.

#### 3.3.9. COVID-19 Pandemic-Related Stress

Students' attitudes and concerns regarding COVID-19, were measured using the Perceived Coronavirus Threat Questionnaire (Conway et al., 2020). This self-report measure includes six items, loading on a single factor, assessing the COVID-19 threat perceptions (e.g., "Thinking about the Coronavirus makes me feel threatened") and concerns about contracting illness (e.g., "I am stressed around other people because I worry, I will catch the Coronavirus"). For the purpose of this study, students responded on a 5 point-rating scale, ranging from (1) strongly disagree, (2) disagree, (3) neither agree nor disagree, (4) agree and (5) strongly agree.

## 3.4. Procedure

In order to ensure that the current research follows all ethical standards, a proposal of the study with the aim, method and whole procedure had to be approved by the Center of Educational Research and Evaluation of the Pedagogical Institute of Cyprus (see Appendix A). After the approval by the Pedagogical Institute of Cyprus (see Appendix B), the principals of the two schools were contacted. Then, they were sent a letter informing them about the aims and the procedure of the study (see Appendix C) and the parental consent forms (either in Greek or English), to be signed by the parents who agreed their child taking part in this study (see Appendix D). These forms, were later collected by the teachers.

Data was collected in May 2021. On the day of data collection, signed parental consent forms were given back to the researcher, prior to handing out the questionnaires. The questionnaires were given to the teacher of each class by the researcher and were handed out to the students. Those who wished to participate in the study (and had returned the parental consent form), completed the questionnaire in the classroom. Those who did not bring the parental consent form, or their parents disagreed, were present in the classroom while the rest students completed the questionnaire, but did not participate. The questionnaire was created both in English and Greek and was given to the students depending on their language preference and fluency (see Appendix E).

Prior to and during the research, participants were informed that complete confidentiality was maintained with regard to any personal information, or information acquired by them during the data collection. In order to maintain anonymity and prevent any identification, no names were recorded. Instead, questionnaires were divided by school and each one of them was randomly numbered in ascending order, to aid data analysis. Participants were also ensured that they can feel free to withdraw from participation in the study at any point they wished to, without the fear of penalization. No deception was used during data collection.

During the completion, the researcher was present to answer any enquiry in regard with the questionnaire. After the completion of the questionnaires, the researcher collected them and sealed them in folders, to ensure confidentiality while debriefing students about the aim of the study.

#### 3.5. Data Analyses

After questionnaires were collected and coded with numbers, data was entered and analyzed in SPSS, a statistical software used to carry out advanced statistical analyses. During the process of entering the data, a total of 22 questionnaires were discarded (9% of the total number of the questionnaires returned), either because only a few items were completed or there was complete absence of response. These questionnaires were not included in data analysis.

Firstly, in order to ensure the internal consistency of the scales used in the study's questionnaire, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient for each was calculated. Second, descriptive statistics (means, standard deviation, percentages, minimum-maximum values and frequencies) for demographic information of students were reported. Third, a one-way

ANOVA test was also carried out to investigate any differences between the three groups with regard to the number of stressful life events experienced. One-way ANOVA tests were also carried out to compare the three groups of students with respect to the variables of interest (peer relationships, school motivation and interest, psychological well-being, school anxiety, psychosomatic symptoms at school, COVID-19 pandemic-related stress and school autonomy). Then, a Mixed ANOVA test was conducted to examine any differences regarding the expected increase in life satisfaction between the three groups. Finally, a Pearson correlation analysis was conducted to investigate any relationships between the variables of interest.

## **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS**

# 4.1 Reliability

The Table 4.1 presents the Cronbach's alpha coefficient for each scale. A value higher than 0.7 is considered good (Gliem & Gliem, 2003). In the current study, all of the scales used had a coefficient higher than 0.8, which is signifying high reliability.

Table 4.1
Reliability test (Cronbach's alpha), Means and SD, for the scales used

Scale	Number of items	Number of cases	Mean	Standard Deviation	Reliability
Peer Relationships	3	252	4.1	0.9	0.8
School Motivation & School Interest	10	230	3.6	0.7	0.9
School Autonomy	5	238	3.5	0.8	0.8
School Anxiety	5	243	3.2	1	0.8
Psychological Well-Being	5	245	3.4	0.9	0.8
Psychosomatic Symptoms at School	8	242	2.6	1	0.9
Covid-related Stress	6	243	2.6	0.9	0.8

#### 4.2 Descriptive statistics

Differentiation and Demographic Characteristics of All Participants

For the analyses presented here, three groups of adolescents were differentiated (see Table 4.2). Following Solomontos-Kountouri & Strohmeier (2021), three groups of adolescents were used: non-immigrant Cypriots, first-generation immigrants and second-generation immigrants. For the categorization, their fathers', their mothers', and their own country of birth were taken into consideration. The adolescents whose mother or father were born abroad, and who were themselves born abroad were classified as *first-generation immigrants* (N = 83) and represented 32.8% of the sample. The adolescents whose mother or father were born abroad, but who were themselves born in Cyprus, were classified as *second-generation immigrants* (N = 36) and represented 14.2% of the sample. The adolescents whose mother and father were born in Cyprus and who were themselves born in Cyprus, were classified as *non-immigrant adolescents* (N = 134) and represented 53% of the sample.

**Table 4.2** Frequencies of immigrant and non-immigrant participants.

	Frequency	%
Non-immigrant adolescents	134	53.0
First-generation immigrants	83	32.8
Second-generation immigrants	36	14.2
Total	253	100.0

Using one-way ANOVA, descriptive statistics regarding the age of the three adolescent groups (see Table 4.3) were obtained. According to the results of the analysis, the mean age of the three different groups was similar. The average age of the whole sample was 14.3 years (SD=0.9). The minimum age reported by all adolescents was 13 years and the maximum was 18 years.

**Table 4.3** Descriptive statistics regarding the age of the three groups.

Age	N	Mean	SD	Minimum	Maximum
First-generation immigrants	76	14.4	1.1	13	17
Second-generation immigrants	35	13.9	0.7	13	16
Non-immigrant	123	14.3	0.9	13	18
Total	234	14.3	0.9	13	18

To obtain descriptive statistics regarding further demographic information of the sample that was measured categorically, chi-square tests were carried out. No significant differences were found (p>.05), meaning that groups were equivalent with respect to their background characteristics. Results are summarized in Table 4.4.

**Table 4.4** Descriptive statistics of demographic information of the three groups.

Demographic		Non-immigrants immi		neration grants	immi	generation grants =36
	n	%	N	%	N	%
Gender						
Female	56	43.1	32	39.0	18	52.9
Male	74	56.9	50	61.0	16	47.1
Parents' marital status						
Married	92	70.2	49	59.0	22	61.1
Divorced	30	22.9	26	31.3	12	33.3
Separated	4	3.1	4	4.8	0	0.0
Mother not alive	3	2.3	0	0.0	1	2.8
Father not alive	2	1.5	4	4.8	1	2.8
Father's education						
No education	2	1.7	2	2.7	2	7.1
Elementary school	6	5.0	3	4.1	3	10.7

Junior High school	20	16.8	15	20.3	6	21.4
Demographic		migrants	First-ger immig <i>N</i> =	grants	immi	generation grants =36
High school	43	36.1	28	37.8	12	42.9
University	29	24.4	17	23.0	4	14.3
Postgraduate	19	16.0	9	12.2	1	3.6
Mother's education						
No education	3	2.4	4	5.1	2	6.9
Elementary school	5	4.0	4	5.1	0	0.0.
Junior High school	13	10.5	7	8.9	5	17.2
High school	45	36.3	33	41.8	12	41.4
University	34	27.4	22	27.8	8	27.6
Postgraduate	24	19.4	9	11.4	2	6.9
Father's employment						
Unemployed	16	12.4	15	19.7	5	16.1
Employed	113	87.6	61	80.3	26	83.9
Mother's employment						
Unemployed	37	28.2	31	37.8	8	24.2
Employed	93	71.0	50	61.0	25	75.8
Family's SES						
Very bad	5	3.8	5	6.2	1	2.9
Bad	13	9.8	5	6.2	0	0.0
Neither good or bad	32	24.2	28	34.6	11	32.4
Good	45	34.1	26	32.1	15	44.1
Very good	37	28.0	17	21.0	7	20.6
Relatives in the same house						
Both parents and sibling(s)	98	73.1	46	56.1	23	63.9
One parent and sibling(s)	26	19.4	22	26.8	7	19.4
Grandparents	2	1.5	0	0.0	0	0.0
Someone else	8	6.0	14	17.1	6	16.7

Demographic Characteristics of Immigrant Participants

First-and second-generation immigrants were asked to report their type of residence, length of stay in Cyprus and reasons for moving to Cyprus (see Table 4.5). With regard to type of residence, according to the results, most of first-generation immigrants (77.1%) and second-generation immigrants (67.6%) rent a house/flat. As shown in Table 4.5, most of first-generation immigrants (33.3%) live between two to five years in Cyprus and most of second-generation immigrants (90.5%) live between 11 to 15 years in Cyprus. With regard to the reason for moving to Cyprus, both first-generation and second-generation immigrant students, reported that the main reason was work (63.0% and 82.8% respectively).

**Table 4.5** Descriptive statistics for immigrant students.

Demographic	First-genera gran N=0	Second-generation immigrants $N=36$		
	N	%	n	%
Type of residence				
Own a house/flat	17	20.5	11	32.4
Rent	64	77.1	23	67.6
State-funded place	2	2.4	0	0.0
Length of stay in Cyprus				
0-1 year	16	19.8	0	0.0
2-5 years	27	33.3	2	9.5
6-10 years	24	29.6	0	0.0
11-15 years	14	17.3	19	90.5
Reason for moving to Cyprus				
Work	51	63.0	24	82.8
Studies	7	8.6	0	0.0
Asylum	1	1.2	0	0.0
War	12	14.8	2	6.9
Other reason	10	12.3	3	10.3

A question about the immigrant students' country of origin was also included in the demographics section of the questionnaire (see Table 4.6). According to the results, most first-generation and second-generation immigrant students were of European origin (68.8% and 67.6% respectively) or Arabic origin (19% and 17.1% respectively).

As shown in Table 4.7, the majority of first-generation immigrants of Asian ethnicity, came from Iraq (3.8%), whereas the majority of Asian second-generation immigrants came

from Palestine (5.7%). European first-generation immigrants, came mostly from Greece (26.3%), whereas second-generation immigrants came mostly from Georgia (48.6%). Only a small percentage of immigrant students came from African countries. First-generation immigrants came from Somalia, Sudan and Nigeria (1.3% respectively) and only one second-generation immigrant student reported Cameroon as country of origin. Two first-generation students were of South American ethnicity, and came from Brazil and Benezuela. Furthermore, most first-generation and second-generation immigrant students of Arabic ethnicity, came from Syria (6.3% and 5.7% respectively).

**Table 4.6** Descriptive statistics for immigrant students' ethnicity.

Demographic	_	First-generation immigrants $N=83$			
	N	%	n	%	
Ethnicity	-				
Asian	1	1.3	4	11.4	
European	55	68.8	24	68.6	
African	3	3.8	1	2.9	
American	2	2.5	0	0.0	
Arabic	19	23.8	6	17.1	

**Table 4.7** Percentages for country of origin based on ethnicity and generation.

Ethnicity	First-generation immigrants $N=83$	Second-generation immigrants $N=36$	
	%		
Asian			
Iraq	3.8	2.8	
Kazakhstan	1.3	0.0	
Pakistan	0.0	2.9	
Palestine	0.0	5.7	
India	0.0	2.9	

Iran	0.0	2.9
Nepal	0.0	2.9

Ethnicity	First-generation immigrants $N=83$	Second-generation immigrants $N=36$
	%	%
Greece	26.3	0.0
Romania	18.8	0.0
Poland	2.5	0.0
Russia	3.8	2.8
Bulgaria	5	0.0
Georgia	2.5	48.6
UK	1.3	5.7
African		
Somalia	1.3	0.0
Sudan	1.3	0.0
Nigeria	1.3	0.0
Cameroon	0.0	2.9
American		
Brazil	1.3	0.0
Venezuela	1.3	0.0
Arabic		
Syria	6.3	5.7
Egypt	2.5	0.0
Lebanon	2.5	0.0

## 4.3. Stressful Life Events

There were eleven questions elucidating students' stressful life events experiences. These were analysed both separately and collectively, after adding them together in one variable whose values ranged from 0 (no experience of stressful life events) to 11 (the student denoted yes to all questions related to stressful life events). Only 242 participants (95.6%) responded to this scale.

In investigating the extent to which students from different immigration status (first-generation immigrants, second-generation immigrants or non-immigrants) exerted differences in the number of stressful events (of the total eleven presented to them) that they

experienced (see Table 4.8), a statistically significant result was detected, F (2,239) =3.5, p<.05, using a one-way ANOVA (see Table 4.9). Post hoc analyses using the Scheffé post hoc criterion for significance, revealed a statistically significant difference in the number of stressful events experienced by first-generation immigrants (M=3.6, SD=2.3) and non-immigrant peers (M=2.9, SD=2.2), but not between the first-generation and second-generation immigrant students or between the second-generation immigrants and non-immigrant students.

**Table 4.8**Descriptive statistics for the total number of stressful life events.

	Standard			
	Mean	Deviation	N	
First-generation immigrants	3.6	2.3	82	
Second-generation immigrants	2.8	1.9	34	
Non-immigrant students	2.9	2.2	126	
Total	3.1	2.3	242	

**Table 4.9** ANOVA test for the number of stressful life events by students of different immigration status.

Source of variance	Total	Sum	of	Degrees	of	Mean Squares	F
	Squares			Freedom			
Between-Group	34.39			2		17.2	3.5*
Within-Group	1119.7			239		4.9	

<sup>\*</sup>p<.05

# 4.4. Analysis of variance for the five outcomes of interest for non-immigrant, first-generation and second-generation immigrant students

To observe any differences between the three groups with regard to peer relationships, school motivation and interest, psychological well-being, school anxiety, psychosomatic symptoms at school, COVID-19 pandemic-related stress and school autonomy, analyses of variance were conducted. According to the results, participants on average agreed that that climate in school (in terms of peer relationships) was pleasant (M=4.1, SD.=0.9) and they reported high school motivation and school interest scores (M=3.6, SD=0.7). The psychological well-being and school anxiety scores were moderate (M=3.4, SD=0.9 and M=3.2, SD=1 respectively) while psychosomatic symptoms at school were at relatively low level (M=2.6, SD=1), as well as COVID-19 pandemic-related stress (M=2.6, SD=0.9). On

the other hand, school autonomy scores were high (M=3.5, SD= 0.9), denoting that, on average, students had high-levels of interest in participating in school actions and learning (see Table 4.10). Analysis of variance tests for all outcomes, revealed no statistically significant differences between the three groups of students (p>.1).

Table 4.10 Descriptive statistics for the five outcomes of interest for all students.

		School			D 1 4		
	Peer	Motivation & School	Psychological	School	Psychosomatic Symptoms at	COVID-19	School
	Relationships		Well-Being	Anxiety	School	stress	Autonomy
Non- immigrant	N=134	N=122	N=130	N=126	N=128	N=132	N=128
adolescents	4.1 (0.9)	3.5 (0.8)	3.4 (0.9)	3.1 (1.1)	2.5 (1.0)	2.7 (0.9)	3.4 (0.9)
First- generation	N=82	N=73	N=80	N=82	N=80	N=76	N=76
immigrants	3.9 (0.9)	3.6 (0.6)	3.4 (0.9)	3.3 (1.1)	2.6 (1.1)	2.5 (1.0)	3.5 (0.9)
Second- generation	N=36	N=35	N=35	N=35	N=34	N=35	N=34
immigrant s	4.1 (0.7)	3.7 (0.6)	3.4 (0.8)	3.4 (0.9)	2.6 (0.9)	2.7 (0.9)	3.6 (0.8)
Total	N=252	N=230	N=245	N=243	N=242	N=243	N=238
	4.1 (0.9)	3.6 (0.7)	3.4 (0.9)	3.2 (1)	2.6 (1)	2.6 (0.9)	3.5 (0.9)

## 4.5. Expected Increase in Life Satisfaction

A mixed ANOVA test was run to investigate differences between the three groups of students, in terms of their currents and their expected future life satisfaction. Results, indicated that the main effect of time was statistically significant (p<.001), with all students regardless of immigration status, expecting higher life satisfaction in the future (M=7.6, SD=2.3), as opposed to how they viewed their life at the present (M=6.4, SD=2.2). The main effect of immigrant status, was also found to be significant, F (2,239) = 3.2, p< 0.05 (see Table 4.11). Post-hoc analysis using Scheffé's test, revealed that a statistically significant difference existed only between the second-generation immigrant students and non-immigrants, with the former group denoting lower expectations (M=6.7, SD=3.0) for the future than the latter (M=7.8, SD=2.0) (see Table 4.12). The interaction effect of immigrant status and time was not statistically significant, suggesting that the relative improvement

between current and future life satisfaction was similar across the three groups of students considered (non-immigrants, first-generation and second-generation immigrants).

**Table 4.11** Statistical significance regarding future life satisfaction.

Source	Type III Sum of Squares	Df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Immigrant status	33.678	2	16.839	3.2	.04
Error	1271.628	239	5.321		

**Table 4.12**Descriptive statistics for the question regarding future life satisfaction.

	Mean	Standard Deviation	N
First-generation immigrants	7.5	2.4	78
Second-generation immigrants	6.7	3.0	33
Non-immigrants	7.8	2.1	131
Total	7.6	2.3	242

#### 4.6. Correlations

To investigate any further relationships between the variables, a correlation test was conducted. Table 4.13, shows the correlation between stressful life events and the other variables of interest. According to the results, there exists a weak, negative and statistically significant correlation between the number of stressful events and peer relationships (r= -.27, p<.01), school motivation and interest (r= -.22, p<.01) and COVID-19 pandemic-related stress (r=-.14, p<.05). This suggests, that the more stressful events the students have reported that they experienced in their lives, the less positive are their views for peer relationships, the lower their school motivation and interest and the less they seem to worry about COVID-19. Weak positive, but statistically significant correlation was found between the number of stressful life events and school anxiety (r=.15, p<.05) and psychosomatic symptoms at school (r=.34, p<.01). These correlations, signify that as the number of stressful life events increases, the more school anxiety and psychosomatic symptoms at school the students experienced. A moderate to large negative correlation exists between the number of stressful events and the students' psychosocial well-being (r=-0.41, p<0.01), suggesting that the more the stressful events experienced by the students, the lower their psychological well-being is.

School autonomy was not found to have a statistically significant correlation to the number of stressful life events experienced by the students.

These correlations remained the same after controlling for students' immigrant status (non-immigrant, first-generation immigrants, second-generation immigrants). Thus, it can be concluded that what affects the variables of interest, is the number of stressful life events experienced and not the immigration status of the students.

**Table 4.13**Correlations between stressful life events and other outcome measures.

	fu ev Sı all	tress- ul life vents: um of l vari- ables	Peer Relation- ships	School Motiva- tion & Interest	Psychologi- cal Well- Being	School Anxi- ety	Psychoso- matic symp- toms at School	COVID- 19 stress	School Auton- omy
ful life Cor	l	1	268**	223**	409**	.154*	.341**	139*	059
all variables  N	ed)	242	.000 241	.001	.000	.019	.000	.034	.371

<sup>\*\*.</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

<sup>\*.</sup> Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

## **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION**

Previous international research regarding immigrant adolescents has yielded mixed results and research in Cyprus is limited for conclusions to be drawn. The purpose of this study was to explore immigrant and non-immigrant high school students' level of life satisfaction (psychological well-being), school adjustment (school motivation and interest and peer relationships) and school-related psychological outcomes (school anxiety and psychosomatic complaints) in relation to psychological trauma (experience of stressful life events), through a survey. The main goal, was to gain a better insight of the perspective and experiences of immigrant and non-immigrant adolescents living in Cyprus. This chapter, discusses the findings of the study. Implications and practical applications, methodological considerations and recommendations for future research, are also discussed.

### **5.1.**Current Findings

Overall, findings of the study, suggested that first- and second-generation immigrant adolescents' school adjustment and psychological adaptation was as good as non-immigrants' (native) adolescents. A possible interpretation of these results, is that immigrant adolescents are successfully integrated in educational settings and in the Cypriot society in general. Thus, it can be assumed that stressful life experiences and negative feelings are counterbalanced by positive adaptation in the host country (Cyprus). Another possible interpretation, is that immigrant adolescents show high resilience and are able to thrive academically and socially, despite the adversities. In the following paragraphs, findings for each research question are presented and discussed in relation to the existing literature.

## 5.1.1 Immigration status and number of stressful life events

According to the results of the study, immigration status is correlated to the number of stressful life events experienced. More specifically, data showed that first-generation immigrants experienced statistically significant more stressful life events (M=3.6 SD=2.3) than non-immigrant students (M=2.9, SD= 2.2). No statistically significant differences were found between first-generation and second-generation immigrant students or between second-generation immigrant and non-immigrant students. Based on the analysis of data, H1, is partly confirmed, since no differences were found between non-immigrant and second-generation immigrant students as expected. The results regarding first-generation immigrants (more stressful life events experienced), are in line with findings of previous research suggesting that second-generation immigrants have better psychological adaptation than first-generation immigrants (Sam et al., 2006).

According to the existing research, first-generation immigrants are at a higher risk of experiencing stressful life events, because they go through the process of immigration and displacement. Pre- and post-immigration stressful experiences (e.g., family separation, war, poverty, acculturation, sociocultural adaptation), cause intense psychological distress and can lead to the development of mental health problems (Close et al., 2016). As cited in Salerno et al., (2019) even the process of adjusting to a new language can be very stressful and can have serious consequences for first-generation immigrants. Other stressors, such as experiencing prejudice and intergroup hostility for the first time, could also negatively affect their mental and physical health (Hirschman, 1996). On the contrary, second-generation immigrants and non-immigrant adolescents, who are born in Cyprus, do not go through such experiences, thus reporting better scores.

### 5.1.2 Immigration status, school anxiety and school-related psychosomatic symptoms

With regard to students' immigration status and its correlation with school anxiety and school-related psychosomatic symptoms, no statistically significant differences were detected among the three groups. Based on the results, first-generation, second-generation and non-immigrant students experienced similar levels of school anxiety and school-related psychosomatic symptoms. Thus, H2 has not been confirmed and results were not consistent with previous research suggesting that first-generation immigrants experience higher levels of anxiety and psychosomatic symptoms than second-generation immigrant and non-immigrant students (Sam et al., 2008). These are encouraging results, because they indicate that immigrant adolescents in Cyprus may not have a greater risk for developing internalized problems, when compared to their native peers. Similar findings of no differences between

immigrant and non-immigrant adolescents, have been found in a study by Dekeyser et al. (2011) in Sweden.

A possible interpretation, could be that immigrant adolescents feel accepted by the Cypriot school culture, thus experience fewer negative feelings and less mental health problems. In fact, according to a study by Noam et al. (2014), the experience of positive feelings towards school by immigrant students, was negatively associated with depression, anxiety, and psychosomatic symptoms. A second possible explanation of these findings, is that in schools with high proportions of immigrant students (such as the ones used in this study), immigrant individuals experience less marginalization and victimization, and thus they feel fewer negative emotions (e.g., anxiety, depression). Numerous studies conducted in Northern American and European countries, confirm these findings and highlight that this occurs especially among immigrants with non-European backgrounds, (Plenty & Jonsson, 2017).

# 5.1.3 Immigration status, school autonomy, peer relationships, school motivation and school interest

With respect to students' immigration status and its correlation with school motivation and school interest, no significant differences were detected among the three groups. Based on the results, first-generation, second-generation and non-immigrant adolescents gave similar answers on the scales measuring these variables. Thus, H3<sup>1</sup> has not been confirmed. Existing literature provided mixed results, with some studies suggesting an educational advantage of first-generation immigrants (Fuligni, 1997) and some of second-generation immigrants (Portes & Rumbaut, 2001). In the current study, the overall score of all students for 'school motivation and interest' was relatively high (M=3.5, SD=0.8), denoting that, students regardless of immigration status, feel motivated and interested in learning. These results are encouraging, since they show that despite the social and language barriers, immigrant students are eager to learn. As cited in Motti-Stefanidi and Masten (2013), school success is an important indicator of both positive developmental adaptation and acculturation of immigrant youth. Thus, based on the results, it can be assumed that immigrant students' school motivation reflects a good adaptation to the Cypriot culture. Another possible interpretation of these findings, could be that because immigrant parents and immigrant children value school success more than non-immigrants, immigrant students invest a lot in education and academic success (Fuligni, 2017).

With regard to students' immigrant status and its correlation with school autonomy and peer relationships, no significant differences were detected among the three groups as well. Based on these results, H3<sup>2</sup> has not been confirmed. The fact that the were no differences between the three groups, may signify that immigrant adolescents (both first- and secondgeneration) have found their voice and have adjusted well in schools. Based on the results, the average score regarding school autonomy and peer relationships was relatively high [(M=3.5 SD=0.9 and M=4.1 SD=0.9, respectively)]. This, could possibly mean that immigrant adolescents feel likeable and accepted by their peers (peer relationships) and they feel they are given the opportunities to share their suggestions and ideas (school autonomy). A possible interpretation for these results, could be that because immigrant adolescents feel supported by non-immigrant and immigrant peers of other ethnicities, they feel more confident to express their thoughts and participate in decision making. Previous studies on immigrant adolescents, have demonstrated that support from classmates is very beneficial to immigrant students (Possel et al., 2013). Research has also shown that social resources (e.g., having a feeling of connectivity, belonging and good relationships), are the most beneficial protective factors to foster and preserve immigrant individuals' mental health (Hoi et al., 2015). Therefore, building and maintaining good peer relationships at school, seems to enhance school autonomy as well. A further interpretation, could be that immigrant students' affiliation with other immigrants (peers who share the same marginalized identity), act as a form of resilience, leading to positive outcomes (high levels of school autonomy; Ward et al., 2021).

## 5.1.4 Immigration status and life satisfaction

With regard to life satisfaction, it was hypothesized that first-generation immigrants will have experienced higher levels of expected increase in life satisfaction than second-generation immigrants and non-immigrant adolescents, and that second-generation immigrants will have experienced similar levels of expected increase in life satisfaction with non-immigrant adolescents. According to the results, all students despite immigration status, have reported an increase in expected (future) life satisfaction. For all participants, future life satisfaction levels were higher than the levels of current life satisfaction, showing that there were no statistically significant differences between the three groups with regard to the expected increase. However, second-generation immigrant adolescents, denoted significantly lower scores for expected future life satisfaction than their non-immigrant peers. Thus, H4 was not confirmed.

Existing research regarding generational differences and life satisfaction has yielded mixed results, with some studies showing same levels of life satisfaction between adolescent immigrant and non-immigrant individuals (Neto & Barros, 2007) and some suggesting higher levels of life satisfaction among first-generation immigrants (Obućina, 2013). Findings of this study, are in line with the findings of a study by Knies et al. (2016), who found that life satisfaction was lower among ethnic minorities, and especially among second-generation immigrants, even after controlling for individual characteristics. A possible interpretation, could be that as a result of immigrants' acculturation into the mainstream, the potential of their original advantage (first-generation) is disappearing form the following generations (second-generation) (Abdul-Rida & Nauck, 2014).

## 5.1.5 Immigration status and COVID-19 pandemic-related stress

Research regarding immigrant adolescents and COVID-19 pandemic is not sufficient. However, according to the literature, it was hypothesized that first-generation immigrants and second-generation immigrants will have experienced higher levels of COVID-19 pandemic-related stress than their non-immigrant peers, and that first-generation immigrants will not have experienced higher levels of COVID-19 pandemic-related stress than secondgeneration immigrants. According to the results, there were no statistically significant differences between the three groups, and surprisingly the average score of all participants was relatively low (M=2.6, SD=0.9). Thus, H5 was not confirmed. These positive results could be attributed to the fact that students' family relationships may have served as a buffer against this crisis, supporting their emotional adjustment in the face of adversity and acting as a protective factor (Conger & Conger, 2002). As cited in Prime et al. (2020), positive family relationships and families' belief systems, have been proved to be very important to adolescents' depressive and posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in the context of adversities and natural disasters (such as Hurricane Katrina and tsunami exposure in Sri Lanka). Another possible interpretation, is that during the pandemic, adolescents had made good use of social resources. According to Olsson et al. (2003), using social resources can aid in developing greater resilience, which is an important protective factor for recovering from stress.

### 5.1.6 Stressful life events and the correlation with psychosocial outcomes

With regard to the relationship between the experience of stressful life events and psychosocial outcomes six hypotheses were formed. More specifically, it was hypothesized that more stressful life events experienced, would predict higher levels of school anxiety (H6<sup>1</sup>),

more school-related psychosomatic symptoms (H6²), lower levels of school motivation and school interest (H7¹), lower levels of school autonomy (H7²), poorer peer relationships (H7³) and higher levels of COVID-19 pandemic-related stress (H8) in all students. According to the results, all hypotheses formed were confirmed except H7² AND H8. From the analysis, it seems that there was no statistically significant correlation between school autonomy and stressful life events and the correlation between COVID-19 pandemic related stress and stressful life events, was negative. Results from the correlation analysis are very interesting, because they suggest that what seems to influence adolescents' psychosocial outcomes, is in fact the experience of stressful life events and not their immigration status.

A possible interpretation for these results, could be that stressful life events affect all adolescents, regardless of their immigration status in a similar way, because they all go through an important process of developmental, emotional and cognitive changes and challenges. As cited in Oliva et al. (2008), the occurrence of potentially stressful situations/events during adolescence, can result in additional difficulties which may exceed adolescents' coping skills and thus increase their vulnerability to maladjustment. Grant et al. (2004), suggested as well that the risk for emotional problems among adolescents increases in response to the experiencing stressful life events. As cited in Bashi (2016), stressful life events put young individuals at risk for lower general life satisfaction, including social and emotional domains. Thus, it is not surprising that results of this study showed increased levels of anxiety, more psychosomatic symptoms and decreased psychological well-being when adolescents reported experiencing stressful life events.

With regard to peer-relationships, existing research suggests that stressful life events have a negative and even damaging effect on adolescents' psychological health, through the interruption of social relationships. As cited in McMahon et al., (2020), adolescents' lack of empathy during a stressful life event, their inability to help in solving the problem along with an increased possibility of challenging personality traits becoming visible during stressful situations, are all factors that can damage the quality of peer relationships. Findings of this study, are in line with these results.

Moreover, according to the results, school motivation and interest also seem to be negatively affected by the experience of stressful life events. The results of this study regarding this outcome, are in line with previous research showing that high levels of stress are associated with low levels of self-efficacy (Park et al., 2008) and other psychological out-

comes. Academic motivation has been defined in terms of self-efficacy as "people's judgments of their capabilities to organize and execute courses of action required to attain designated types of performances" (Bandura, 1986, p. 391). Self-efficacy has been found to affect individuals' effort, persistence and choice of activities; thus, it is not surprising that when adolescents experience stressful life events, they report lower school motivation and interest scores.

School autonomy was not found to be significantly correlated with stressful life events. A possible interpretation of these results, could be that because immigrant adolescents manage to successfully acculturate and adopt to the mainstream culture, their sense of autonomy is not affected. In fact, research suggests that school engagement and school autonomy are common precursors of sociocultural adaptation (Ward, 2013), thus if immigrant adolescents manage to maintain their sense of autonomy within the school setting, it would be an indicator of their successful adjustment in the Cypriot culture in general, which is a very encouraging scenario.

With regard to COVID-19 pandemic-related stress, results showed that there was a negative correlation. Surprisingly, despite the novelty and severity of the situation, students experienced significantly low levels of COVID-19 pandemic-related stress. One possible interpretation, could be that all participants had effective coping strategies. According to Kira et al. (2022), the will to survive is the source of most coping strategies. Kira et al. (2022), carried out a study applying the WTELS (will to exist, live and survive) framework for coping with traumatic stress to the COVID-19 situation, and found that WTELS promotes resilience, social support and spirituality and significantly contributes to COVID-19 stressors reduction. In addition, their study provided evidence that the will to exist, leads to the adoption of effective coping strategies which when applied, COVID-19 traumatic stress is reduced. Another study by Ikizer et al. (2021) across 78 countries, showed that despite the fact that COVID-19 is prolonged severe trauma, it may lead to significant posttraumatic growth. More specifically, the study results indicated that despite the pandemic, 40% of the participants reported high levels of psychological flourishing while only 10% reported high levels of mental health problems.

Overall, the results of the current study do support the 'Immigrant Paradox' phenomenon. The findings suggest that both first- and second-generation immigrant adolescents have successfully acculturated in Cyprus, as they do not differ significantly from their non-immigrant peers with regard to their psychosocial outcomes. Significant

differences were found only for the levels of expected life satisfaction (second-generation immigrants lower than non-immigrants) and the number of stressful life events experienced (first-generation immigrants more than non-immigrants).

The results are very encouraging, since they suggest that immigrant adolescents are resilient. This assumption, may apply more for first-generation immigrants though, who despite reporting experiencing more stressful life events, their psychosocial scores did not differ significantly from the other two groups. According to research, coping and resilience may be influenced by the age at which an individual has to first cope with stress and be resilient, with some research suggesting that some degree of early stressful life experiences influences resilience in a positive way (Booth & Neill, 2017). Because first-generation immigrant participants in the current study have already experienced numerous stressful life events, they may have become more resilient to future potential stressors.

From a risk and resilience perspective, immigrant children can do well in a supportive environment despite adversity. As cited in Motti-Stefanidi and Masten (2013), especially for children with immigrant background, access to school services, support from teachers and a positive school climate, can significantly promote a stronger sense of school belonging, and ultimately, better social and academic adjustment. Both non-immigrant and immigrant adolescents in this study, seem to have developed intercultural competence. In other words, both groups, seem to have the ability to mobilize and deploy relevant attitudes, skills, values, and knowledge in order to respond effectively and properly to the challenges, opportunities and demands that are presented in intercultural situations (Ward, 2013).

All things considered, for the case of Cyprus and with reference to the current study, it can be concluded that adjustment of immigrant adolescents in the Cypriot culture and schools is successful, possibly because of non-immigrants' accepting attitudes toward immigrants, the high proportion of immigrant students in schools (closer host/native-immigrant proximity) and the programs already being applied in Cypriot schools regarding immigrant students' social and educational inclusion (successful application of inclusion policies).

#### 5.2. Implications and Practical Applications

The main contribution of this research, is that it provides information regarding immigrant and non-immigrant high school students' mental health, school-related outcomes and subjective well-being. Even though there is a high proportion of immigrants in Cyprus, research examining factors affecting this population is limited. Investigating the psychosocial outcomes of immigrant adolescents in this study, can aid in understanding their

needs and experiences and thus inform the government how to take actions to facilitate their inclusion in schools and in society in general.

Given that stressful life events seem to affect adolescents' psychosocial outcomes regardless of their immigration status, schools should focus on creating school-based counselling interventions. According to Langley et al. (2015), schools can be an optimal location to provide support to children and adolescents who are affected by traumatic life events. Especially for immigrant adolescents who experience numerous stressors, and they lack awareness and access to appropriate services, schools should be their safe place in which their socio-emotional health needs are addressed. As cited in Hughes (2019), counselling can provide guidance and support to individuals, while increasing their sense of self-sufficiency, improving their well-being, providing stability by addressing trauma (or displacement and transitional readjustment when it comes to immigrants) and open up access to, or create opportunities. Counselling services by school psychologists can provide individuals the place and space to find their identity and to gain a sense of optimism for a better future. Immigrants are growing in population within the Cypriot society and their life satisfaction is as important as Cypriots'.

Findings of this study, suggest that peer relationships were positive among all students despite their immigration status. It is therefore possible that both inter-group contact and outgroup contact had aided in immigrant adolescents' school and social adjustment. According to previous research, sense of belonging is a very important predictor of life satisfaction among immigrants. Thus, efforts should be made by teaching staff to encourage students to make friends of other ethnicities. In this way, all students will develop intercultural competence and will be more satisfied with their life. It is also recommended that multicultural school events should be organized regularly, which will give a feeling of respect and acceptance to immigrant students.

### **5.2.** Methodological Considerations

The results of this study need to be interpreted considering its limitations. First, the sample of the study was relatively small. With larger samples, results would have been more robust, conclusive and representative. In addition, the sample comprised only of students enrolled in high schools of Larnaca district. The proportion of immigrants living in Larnaca district is high and opportunities for out-group contact (which seems to reduce discrimination) are much more compared to Nicosia for example. Thus, it may be that immigrant students feel safer and more accepted in a school/community with high proportion

of immigrants (less school anxiety and psychosomatic symptoms) and are able to succeed academically. Yet, in a different school setting/community, where the vast majority of the students are non-immigrants, immigrants' psychosocial outcomes might have been different. For all these reasons, results of this study might not be representative of the general population, which in turn means that generalizability of the results is lowered (Harry & Lipsky, 2014).

A second potential limitation, is the presence of COVID-19 pandemic. Due to the restrictions and high transmission rates, many students were absent from school, thus the number of available participants was lowered.

A third limitation, is that purposive sampling was used in the study. Purposive sampling can be highly prone to researcher bias, because the sample is created based on the judgement of the researcher regarding specific characteristics that are relevant to the study (Sharma, 2017). As a result, generalization of results is only possible to the population defined by the sample selection criteria. Finally, according to Andrade (2021), the more purposive the sample is, the more limited the external validity will be.

Another limitation, is that the design used in this study was cross-sectional. Cross sectional studies provide only a snapshot of a situation at a specific time, in contrast to longitudinal studies, which provide deeper insight.

Furthermore, the measures used were based on participants' self-reports. Self-report measures have been criticized for being subjective and prone to exaggeration and over-reporting due to social desirability. Limited memory or knowledge may also reduce the accuracy of self-reports (Kormos & Gifford, 2014). Another bias, would be that of language barriers. It is possible that only the immigrants with good communication and comprehension skills in Greek or English participated in the survey. Thus, there is a possibility that immigrants who were not included in the survey, may have had lower scores on the different variables of interest.

#### 5.3. Recommendations for Future Research

There are several recommendations that can be made for future research in the area of immigrant adolescents in Cyprus. Firstly, more research is needed regarding factors associated with immigrant life satisfaction. Results of the current study, indicated that second-generation immigrants report lower expected life satisfaction compared to non-immigrant students, therefore it would be very interesting to investigate which factors lead to these

results. Future research should include questions regarding immigrants' expectations prior to coming to Cyprus, to investigate whether their expected life satisfaction is lowered due to disappointment for not meeting their initial expectations. As a next step, qualitative research should be conducted to determine these factors. Qualitative research methods allow a more in-depth analysis of results and help researchers gain a better understanding of trends and phenomena, by illustrating the unique experiences of participants through their own voices (Patel et al., 2016). Longitudinal studies should also be conducted, in order to gain a clearer picture about variables of interest over time. The present study could only analyze differences between the three groups short-term, due to the cross-sectional nature of data.

Another future research recommendation, is to address the limitations of language barriers. Future surveys, should be translated in multiple languages, in order to increase the number of immigrants that can participate, thereby further increasing the external validity of the study (Field, 2013).

Future studies should also explore how adolescents' demographic characteristics (such as age, gender, mother's and father's education and vocational status, family's SES, their age when arriving to Cyprus and the reason for moving to Cyprus) might affect their psychosocial adjustment. This, could be explored using linear regression analyses.

#### 5.5. Conclusion

In conclusion, this study was one of the very few studies conducted in Cyprus regarding high school immigrant adolescents. The main aim of this study, was to examine whether there are any differences between non-immigrants, first-generation and second-generation immigrants with regard to various psychosocial outcomes. The results of present study found that generally, immigrant adolescents despite their generational status, had good levels of school-related intrapersonal and interpersonal outcomes and life satisfaction. In comparison to their non-immigrant peers, first-generation immigrants were found to have experienced more stressful events and second-generation immigrants have been found to be less optimistic for their future life satisfaction. The most interesting finding, was that for all adolescents, despite their immigration status, the experience of stressful life events was negatively correlated with psychosocial outcomes. Only the variable 'school autonomy' did not seem to be significantly correlated with stressful life events. The present study was able to highlight the need for school-based interventions and promotion of intercultural contact between students. The results of this study are very encouraging and can contribute to the overall immigration and student literature.

#### REFERENCES

- Abdul-Rida, C., & Nauck, B. (2014). Migration and child well-being. In A. Ben-Arieh, F. Casas, I. Frones, & J. E. Korbin (Eds.), *Handbook of child well-being* (pp. 3101–3142). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Akkaya-Kalayci, T., Kothgassner, O.D., Wenzel, T., Goreis, A., Chen, A., Ceri, V.& Özlü-Erkilic, Z. (2020). The Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Mental Health and Psychological Well-Being of Young People Living in Austria and Turkey: A Multicenter Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 7, 9111.
- Albery, I.P., & Munafo, M.R. (2007). Key concepts in health psychology. SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Alivernini, F., Cavicchiolo, E., Manganelli, S., Chirico, A., & Lucidi, F. (2019). Support for Autonomy at School Predicts Immigrant Adolescents' Psychological Well-being. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 21, 761–766.
- Andrade C. (2021). The Inconvenient Truth About Convenience and Purposive Samples. Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine, 43(1): 86–88.
- Angelides, P., Stylianou, T., & Leigh, J. (2003) 'Forging a Multicultural Education Ethos in Cyprus: Reflections on Policy and Practice', *Intercultural Education*, *14*, 57-66.
- Angelides, P., Stylianou, T., & Leigh, J. (2004) 'Multicultural Education in Cyprus: A Pot of Multicultural Assimilation?', *Intercultural Education*, 15, 307-315.

- Akçali E. (2007). The 'Other' Cypriots and Their Cyprus Questions. *The Cyprus Review*, 19(2), 57-82.
- Areepattamannil, S., & Freeman, J. G. (2008). Academic achievement, academic self-concept, and academic motivation of immigrant adolescents in the greater Toronto area secondary schools. *Journal of Advanced Academics*, 19, 700–743.
- Arpino, B., & de Valk, H. (2018), Comparing Life Satisfaction of Immigrants and Natives Across Europe: The Role of Social Contacts. *Social Indicators Research*, 137, 1163–1184.
- Asendorpf, J. P., Motti-Stefanidi, F. (2017). A longitudinal study of immigrants' peer acceptance and rejection: Immigrant status, immigrant composition of the classroom, and acculturation. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 23, 486–498.
- Atieno, O. (2009). An analysis of the strengths and limitation of qualitative and quantitative research paradigms. *Problems of Education in the 21st Century, 13*, 13-18.
- Azzolini, D., Schnell, P., & Palmer, J. (2012). Educational Achievement Gaps between Immigrant and Native Students in Two "New Immigration Countries": Italy and Spain in comparison. *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 643(1), 46–77.
- Balfanz, R., Byrnes, V., & Fox, J. (2014). Sent home and put off-track: The antecedents, disproportionalities, and consequences of being suspended in the ninth grade.

  Journal of Applied Research on Children: Informing Policy for Children at Risk, 5 (2), 1-21.
- Barowsky, E. & McIntyre, T. (2010). Migration and relocation trauma of young refugees and asylum seekers: Awareness as prelude to effective intervention. *Childhood Education*, 86 (3), 161-168.
- Barrett, A. N., Barile, J. P., Malm, E. K., & Weaver, S. R. (2012). English proficiency and peer interethnic relations as predictors of math achievement among Latino and Asian immigrant students. *Journal of Adolescence*, *35*(6), 1619–1628.
- Bandura, A. (1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

- Banks, J.A. & McGee-Banks, C.A. (eds.) (2009). *Multicultural education: Issues and perspectives*. Needham Heights, USA: Wiley.
- Bankston, C.L. & Zho, M. (2002). Being Well vs. Doing Well: Self-Esteem and School Performance among Immigrant and Nonimmigrant Racial and Ethnic Groups. *International Migration Review*, 36 (2), 389-415.
- Bashi (2016). Life satisfaction in young immigrants and Australian young people: Change with socio-economic status and time [Masters' thesis, University of Queensland]. Australia
- Bean, T., Derluyn, I., Eurelings-Bontekoe, E. H. M., Broekaert, E., & Spinhoven, P. (2006). Validation of the Multiple Language Versions of the Reactions of Adolescents to Traumatic Stress Questionnaire. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 19(2), 241-255.
- Ben-Sira, Z. (1997). Immigration, Stress and Readjustment. Westport, CT: Praeger
- Berry, J. W. (1980). Acculturation as varieties of adaptation. In A. M. Padilla (Ed.). *Acculturation: Theory, models, and some new findings* (pp. 9–25). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.
- Berry J.W., & Sam, D. (1997). Acculturation and adaptation. In J.W. Berry, M.H. Seagull,
  & C. Kagitçibasi (Eds.), *Handbook of cross-cultural psychology: Social behavior*and applications, (3), 291–326. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Berry, J. W. (2003). Conceptual approaches to acculturation. In K. M. Chun, P. B. Organista, & G. Marin (Eds.). *Acculturation: Advances in theory, measurement, and applied research* (pp. 17–37). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Berry, J. W. (2005). Acculturation: living successfully in two cultures. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *29*, 697-712.
- Berry, J. W., Phinney, J. S., Sam, D. L., & Vedder, P. (2006). Immigrant youth: Acculturation, identity, and adaptation. Applied Psychology: *An International Review*, 55, 303–332.
- Berry, J. W. (2008). Globalization and acculturation. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 32(4), 328-336.

- Bilewicz, M., Skrodzka, M., Olko, J. & Lewinska, T. (2020). The double-edged sword of identification. The divergent effects of identification on acculturation stress among Ukrainian immigrants in Poland. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 83,177-186.
- Birman, D. (2006). Ethical issues in research with immigrants and refugees In E.Trimble, & C.B. Fisher (Eds), *The handbook of ethical research with ethnocultural populations* & communities, 155-177.
- Bogic, M., Ajdukovic, D., Bremner, S., Franciskovic, T., Galeazzi, G. M., Kucukalic, A., et al. (2012). Factors associated with mental disorders in long-settled war refugees: Refugees from the former Yugoslavia in Germany, Italy and the UK. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 200, 216–223.
- Borraccino, A., Charrier, L., Berchialla, P., Lazzeri, G., Vieno, A., Dalmasso, P., & Lemma, P. (2018). Perceived well-being in adolescent immigrants: it matters where they come from. *International Journal of Public Health*, 63,1037–1045.
- Booth, J., & Neill, J. T. (2017). Coping strategies and the development of psychological resilience. *Journal of Outdoor and Environmental Education*, 20(1), 47-54.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). Contexts of child rearing: Problems and prospects. *American Psychologist*, 34(10), 844–850.
- Cantril, H. (1965). *The pattern of human concerns*. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Cardoso, J.B., Brabeck, K., Capps, R., Chen, T., Giraldo-Santiago, N., Huertas, & Mayorga, N.A. (2021). Immigration Enforcement Fear and Anxiety in Latinx High School Students: The Indirect Effect of Perceived Discrimination. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 68, 961-968.
- Carter, R. T. (2007). Racism and Psychological and Emotional Injury: Recognizing and Assessing Race-Based Traumatic Stress. *The Counseling Psychologist 35* (1), 13–105.
- Castells, M. (2010). *End of millennium: The information age: Economy, society, and culture.*London, UK: Wiley.

- Chen, J.L. (2005). Relation of academic support from parents, teachers and peers to Hong Kong adolescents' academic achievement: The mediating role of academic engagement. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs, 131*(2), 77–127.
- Cheung, B.Y., Chudek, M., & Heine, S.J. (2011). Evidence for a sensitive period for acculturation: Younger immigrants report acculturating at a faster rate. *Psychological Science*, 22,147–152.
- Close, C., Kouvonen, A., Bosqui, T., Patel, K., O'Reilly, D., & Donnelly, M. (2016). The mental health and wellbeing of first-generation migrants: a systematic-narrative review of reviews. *Global Health 12*, 47 (2016).
- Conger, R. D., & Conger, K. J. (2002). Resilience in midwestern families: Selected findings from the first decade of a prospective, longitudinal study. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *64*, 361–373.
- Conway, L. G., III, Woodard, S. R., Zubrod, A., 2020. Social psychological measurements of COVID-19: Coronavirus perceived threat, government response, impacts, and experiences questionnaires. *PsyArXiv*. https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/z2x9aDe
- Cooper, C.R (2011). Bridging multiple worlds: Cultures, identities, and pathways to change. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Cyprus Statistical Services (2019). *Demographic Statistics*. Retrieved from https://www.mof.gov.cy/mof/cystat/statistics.nsf/All/70008808DEA438F8C225783 3003402FB/\$file/Demographic\_Statistics\_Results-2019-EL-301120.pdf?OpenElement (18 December, 2021)
- Cyprus Statistical Services (2011). Retrieved from http://www.mof.gov.cy/mof/cystat/statistics.nsf/populationcondition\_22main\_en/populationcondition\_22main\_en?OpenForm&sub=2&sel=2 (18 December, 2021)
- Da Conceição-Pinto, M., & Neto, F. (2008). Satisfaction with Life Among Portuguese and Indian Adolescents from Immigrant Families in Portugal. *International Journal of Developmental and Educational Psychology*, *1*(4), 531-540.
- Danieli, Y. (Ed.). (1998). *International handbook of multigenerational legacies of trauma*. New York: Plenum Press.

- Da Silva, N., Dillon, F. R., Rose Verdejo, T., Sanchez, M., & De La Rosa, M. (2017). Acculturative Stress, Psychological Distress, and Religious Coping Among Latina Young Adult Immigrants. *The Counselling psychologist*, 45(2), 213–236.
- Dekeyser, L., Syedin, C., Agnafors, S., & Sydsi, G. (2011). Self-reported mental health in 12-year-old second-generation immigrant children in Sweden. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 65(6), 389–395.
- Demetriou, L. (2013) 'From Philoxenia to Xenophobia? Relations between Xenophobic Tendencies and Parental Acceptance-Rejection Childhood Experiences for Greek Cypriot University Students', *International Journal of Social Sciences & Education*, Vol. 3, No. 2, 296–316.
- Dorsett, R, Rienzo, C, & Weale, M. (2019). Intergenerational and interethnic mental health:

  An analysis for the United Kingdom. *Population, Space and Place, 25*(2), 1–12, e2195.
- Dreby J. (2012). The Burden of Deportation on Children in Mexican Immigrant Families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 74(4):829-845.
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsen, R. J., & Griffin, S. (1985). The satisfaction with life scale. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 49, 71–75.
- Du, J., & Field, A.P. (2020). Adolescents' Peer Friendship and Anxiety and Depression among First-Generation Immigrant BAME Families in the UK. *Genealogy*, 4(62), 1-11.
- Duong, M. T., Badaly, D., Liu, F. F., Schwartz, D., & McCarty, C. A. (2016). Generational differences in academic achievement among immigrant youths: A meta-analytic review. *Review of Educational Research*, 86(1), 3–41.
- Eder, F., & Mayr, J. (2000). LFSK 4-8. Linzer Fragebogen zum Schul-und Klassenklima fur die 4.-8. Klassenstufe [LFSK 4-8 Questionnaire for the assessment of school and class climate for grade 4 to 8]. G€ottingen: Hogrefe.
- Endale T, St Jean N, & Birman D. (2020). COVID-19 and refugee and immigrant youth: A community-based mental health perspective. *Psychological Trauma*, *12* (S1), S225–S227.

- Erikson, E. H. (1968). *Identity, youth, and crisis* (1st ed.). New York: Norton.
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, *5*(1), 1-4.
- Fandrem, H., Strohmeier, D., & Roland, E. (2009). Bullying and victimization among native and immigrant adolescents in Norway the role of proactive and reactive aggressiveness. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 29(6), 898–923.
- Fang, J-Q, Wang, Y., Du, Y.Y., Yan, G-L, Ma, F-L, Liu, Y-Q, Sun W-X,, Chen, S-Q, Feng, L-P, Wei, J., Liu, H., Hu, J., & Zhang, Z-X (2020). Migrant adolescents' behavioral problems compared to host adolescents and adolescents in their region of origin: a longitudinal study. *BMC Psychiatry* 20, 1-12.
- Fazel, M., Reed, R. V., Panter-Brick, C., & Stein, A. (2012). Mental health of displaced and refugee children resettled in high-income countries: risk and protective factors. *The Lancet*, 379(9812), 266-282.
- Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics. London: Sage
- Flink, I. J., Jansen, P. W., Beirens, T. M., Tiemeier, H., van IJzendoorn, M. H., Jaddoe, V. W., Raat, H. (2012). Differences in problem behaviour among ethnic minority and majority preschoolers in the Netherlands and the role of family functioning and parenting factors as mediators: The Generation R Study. *BMC Public Health*, 12, 1092.
- Fox, M., Thayer, Z. & Wadhwa, P.D. (2017). Assessment of acculturation in minority health research. *Social Science and Medicine*, *176*, 123–132.
- Frabutt, J. M. (2006). Immigrant Youth Mental Health, Acculturation, and Adaptation. *Journal of Catholic Education*, *9* (4), 499-504.
- Fuligni, A. J. (1997). The academic achievement of adolescents from immigrant families: The roles of family background, attitudes, and behavior. *Child Development*, 68, 351–363.
- Gagne, M. A. (1998). 'The Role of Dependency and Colonialism in Generating Trauma in First Nations Citizens: The James Bay Cree', in Y. Danieli (ed.) *Intergenerational*

- Handbook of Multigenerational Legacies of Trauma, pp. 355–72. New York: Plenum
- Gangi, J. & Barowsky, E. (2009). Listening to children's voices: Literature and the arts as means of responding to the effects of war, terrorism, and disaster. *Childhood Education*, 85(6), 357-363.
- Garay, J., Freier, L. F., Pérez Argüelles, M. R., Changala Quaglia, R., & Córdova Alcaraz, R. (2015). *Dinámicas migratorias en América Latina y el Caribe (ALC), y entre ALC y la Unión Europea*. Brussels, Belgium: International Organization for Migration (IOM).
- Garcini, L.M., Galvan, T., Peña, JM, Klonoff, E.A., Parra-Medina, D. Ziauddin, K., & and Fagundes, C.P. (2019). "A High Price Paid": Migration-Related Loss and Distress Among Undocumented Mexican Immigrants. *Journal of Latinx Psychology*, 7(3), 245–255.
- Giammusso, I., Casadei, F., Catania, N., Foddai, E., Monti, M.C., Savoja, G., & Tosto, C. (2018). Immigrants Psychopathology: Emerging Phenomena and Adaptation of Mental Health Care Setting by Native Language. Clinical Practice & Epidemiology in Mental Health, 14, 312-322.
- Gibson, B., Schneider, J, Talamonti, D. & Forshaw, M. (2021). The Impact of Inequality on Mental Health Outcomes during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Systematic Review. *Canadian Psychology*, *62*, 101–126.
- Gillen-O'Neel, C., Ruble, D. N., & Fuligni, A. J. (2011). Ethnic stigma, academic anxiety, and intrinsic motivation in middle childhood. *Child development*, 82(5), 1470–1485.
- Glasow, P. A. (2005). Fundamentals of Survey Research Methodology. MITRE, Washington C3 Center, McLean, Virginia.
- Gliem, J.A., & Gliem, R.R. (2003). Calculating, Interpreting, And Reporting Cronbach's Alpha Reliability Coefficient For Likert-Type Scales.In 2003 Midwest Research to Practice Conference. pp. 82-88.
- Grant, K.E., Compas, B.E., Thurm, A.E., McMahon, S.D., & Gipson, P.Y. (2004). Stressors and child and adolescent psychopathology: Measurement issues and prospective effects. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 33, 412-425.

- Gravani, M. and Hatzopoulos, P. and Chinas, C. (2019). Adult education and migration in Cyprus: a critical analysis. *Journal of Adult Continuing Education*, 1-22.
- Greenman, E. (2013). "Educational Attitudes, School Peer Context, and the "Immigrant Paradox" in Education." *Social Science Research* 42 (3), 698–714.
- Hajisoteriou, C., & Angelides, P. (2018). Developing and Implementing Policies of Intercultural Education in Cyprus in the Context of Globalisation. *The Cyprus Review*, 30(1), 353-367.
- Hajisoteriou, C., & Angelides, P. (2016). Collaborative art-making for reducing marginalisation and promoting intercultural education and inclusion. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 21(4), 1-15.
- Hajisoteriou, C. & Angelides, P. (2016b). *The Globalisation of Intercultural Education:*The Politics of Macro-Micro Integration. London: Palgrave-MacMillan.
- Hajisoteriou, C. (2020). Migration Policies and Education Responses to Migration in Cyprus: From Intercultural Policy Discourses to 'Trivialised' Multicultural Practices. *The Cyprus Review*, 32(1), 31-62.
- Hajisoteriou, C. & Angelides, P. (2014). Education policy for social justice in Cyprus: The role of stakeholders' values. *Education, Citizenship and Social Justice*, 9(2), 157-170.
- Hajisoteriou, C. (2010). Europeanising Intercultural Education: politics and policy making in Cyprus. *European Educational Research Journal*, *9*(4), 471-483.
- Handelsman, M.M., & Gottlieb, M.C. (2005). Training Ethical Psychologists: An Acculturation Model. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 36 (1), 59 65.
- Harry, B., & Lipsky, M. (2014). Qualitative Research on Special Education Teacher Preparation. In M. McCray, T. Brownell, & B. Lignugaris/Kraft (Eds.), *Handbook of research on special education teacher preparation* (pp. 445-460).
- Harvey, D. (2007). A brief history of neoliberalism. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

- Hascher, T. (2004). Wohlbefinden in der Schule. Münster: Waxman.
- Hirschman, C. (1996). Studying immigrant adaptation from the 1990 population census: From generational comparisons to the process of "becoming American". In A. Portes (Ed.), *The new second generation* (pp. 54–81). New York: The Russell Sage Foundation.
- Hoi, C.K, Chen, W., Zhou F, Sou, K., & Hall, B.J. (2015). The Association Between Social Resources and Depressive Symptoms Among Chinese Migrants and Non-Migrants Living in Guangzhou, China. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology*, 9(2), 120–9.
- Hughes, D., Akkök, F., Arulmani, G. & Zelloth, H. (2019) Migration: theory, research and practice in guidance and counselling, *British Journal of Guidance & Counselling*, 47(1), 1-5,
- Ikizer, G., Karanci, A. N., Gul, E., & Dilekler, I. (2021). Post-traumatic stress, growth, and depreciation during the COVID-19 pandemic: Evidence from Turkey. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology*, 12(1), 187-296.
- Kao, G., & Tienda, M. (1995). Optimism and achievement: The educational performance of immigrant youth. *Social Science Quarterly*, 76, 1-19.
- Kieseppä, V., Holm, M., Jokela, M., Suvisaari, J., Gissler, M., & Lehti, V. (2021). Depression and anxiety disorders among immigrants living in Finland: Comorbidity and mental health service use. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 287, 334-340.
- Kira, I.A., Shuwiekh, H.A.M., Ahmed, S.A.En., Ebada, E.E., Tantawy, S.F., Waheep, N.N.,
  & Ashby, J.S. (2022). Coping with COVID-19 Prolonged and Cumulative Stressors:
  The Case Example of Egypt. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*,1-22.
- Knies, G., Nandi, A., & Platt, L. (2016). Life satisfaction, ethnicity and neighbourhoods: Is there an effect of neighbourhood ethnic composition on life satisfaction? *Social Science Research*, 60, 110-124.
- Kogan, I., Shen, J. & Siegert, M. (2018). What Makes a Satisfied Immigrant? Host-Country Characteristics and Immigrants' Life Satisfaction in Eighteen European Countries. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 19, 1783–1809.

- Kormos, C. & Gifford, R. (2014). The validity of self-report measures of proenvironmental behavior: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 40, 359-371.
- Langley, A.K., Gonzalez, A., Sugar, C.A., Solis, D. & Jaycox, L. (2015) Bounce back: effectiveness of an elementary school-based intervention for multicultural children exposed to traumatic events. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 83, 853-865.
- Lee, JS, Koeske, G.F., & Sales, E. (2004). Social support buffering of acculturative stress: a study of mental health symptoms among Korean international students. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 28, 399–414.
- Lemos, I., Nunes, C., & Nunes, L.A. (2013). Quality of Life and Stressful Life Events in First and Second Generation Immigrant Adolescents. *Journal of Spatial and Organizational Dynamics*, 1(3), 202 214.
- Leth, I., Niclasen, J., Ryding, E.,Baroud, Y. & Esbjørn, B.H. (2014). Psychological Difficulties among Children and Adolescents with Ethnic Danish, Immigrant, and Refugee Backgrounds. *Scandinavian Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Psychology*, 2(1):29-37.
- Liang, Y., Zhou, Y., Ruzek, J. I., & Liu, Z. (2020). Patterns of childhood trauma and psychopathology among Chinese rural-to-urban migrant children. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, 108, 104691.
- Lipowski, Z. P. (1988). Somatization: The concept and its clinical application. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 145, 1358–1368.
- Liu, C.H., Zhang, E., Wong, G.T.F., Hyun, S. & Hahm, H. (2020). "Chris" Factors Associated with Depression, Anxiety, and PTSD Symptomatology during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Clinical Implications for U.S. Young Adult Mental Health. *Psychiatry Research*, 290, 113172.
- Lynch, J. (1989). International Interdependence: Swann's Contribution in Verma, G. (ed.), *Education for All: A Landmark in Pluralism*. London: The Falmer Press, 118-131.
- Mainwaring, C. (2008). "On the edge of exclusion: the changing nature of migration in Cyprus and Malta". *Cyprus Review*, Vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 19-49.

- Manganelli, S., Cavicchiolo, E., Lucidi, F., Galli, F., Cozzolino, M., Chirco. A., & Alivernini, F. (2021). Differences and similarities in adolescents' academic motivation across socioeconomic and immigrant backgrounds. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 182, 1-6.
- Maniatis, P. (2012). Critical intercultural education: Necessities and prerequisites for its development in Greece. *Journal for Critical Education Policy Studies*, 10(1), 156-167.
- Masten, A. S. (2014). *Ordinary magic: Resilience in development*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- McIntyre, T., Barowsky, E.I., &Tong, V. (2011). The Psychological, Behavioral, and Educational Impact of Immigration: Helping Recent Immigrant Students to Succeed in North American Schools. Journal of the American Academy of Special Education Professionals, 4-21.
- McMahon, G., Creaven, A. M., & Gallagher, S. (2020). Stressful life events and adolescent well-being: the role of parent and peer relationships. *Stress Health* 36, 299–310.
- Milioni, D.L., Spyridou, L-P, & Vadratsikas, K. (2015). Framing Immigration in Online Media and Television News in Crisis-stricken Cyprus. *The Cyprus Review*, 27(1), 155-185.
- Minas, H., Kakuma, R., Too, L.S, Vayanj, H.,Orapeleng,S., & Prasad-Ildes, R. (2013). Mental health research and evaluation in multicultural Australia: developing a culture of inclusion. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 7 (1), 1-25.
- MIPEX (2019). Source available at: [http://www.mipex.eu/cyprus]. Last accessed on 7 June 2021.
- Morawa, E., Dragano, N., Jöckel, K.H., Moebus, S., Brand, T., & Erim, Y. (2017). Somatization among persons with Turkish origin: Results of the pretest of the German National Cohort Study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 96, 1-9.
- Motti-Stefanidi, F., Masten, A., & Asendorpf, J.B. (2015). School engagement trajectories of immigrant youth: Risks and longitudinal interplay with academic success. International Journal of Behavioral Development, 39, 32–42.

- Motti-Stefanidi, F., & Masten, A. S. (2013). School success and school engagement of immigrant children and adolescents: A risk and resilience developmental perspective. *European Psychologist*, 18(2), 126–135.
- Motti-Stefanidi, F., Pavlopoulos, V., Obradović, J., Dalla, M., Takis, N., Papathanassiou, A., & Masten, A. S. (2008). Immigration as a risk factor for adolescent adaptation in Greek urban schools. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 5(2), 235–261.
- Murphy, M. (2016), 'The impact of migration on long-term European population trends, 1850 to present', *Population and Development Review, 42* (2), 225–44.
- Neto, F. & Barros, J. (2007). Satisfaction with life among adolescents from Portuguese immigrant families in Switzerland. *Swiss Journal of Psychology*, 66(4), 215-223.
- Noam, G., Oppedal, B., Idsoe, T., & Panjwani, N. (2014). Mental health problems and school outcomes among immigrant and non-immigrant early adolescents in Norway. *School Mental Health: A Multidisciplinary Research and Practice Journal*, 6(4), 279–293.
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., & Girgus, J. S. (1994). The emergence of gender differences in depression during adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, *115*, 424–443.
- Obermeier, R. Hagenauer, G., & Gläser-Zikuda, M. (2021). Who feels good in school? Exploring profiles of scholastic well-being in secondary-school students and the effect on achievement. *International Journal of Educational Research Open*, 2, 1-8.
- Obućina O. (2013). The patterns of satisfaction among immigrants in Germany. *Social Indicators Research*, 113(3),1105–1127.
- OECD. (2015). Helping immigrant students to succeed at school and beyond. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/education/Helping-immigrant-students-to-succeed-at-school-and-beyond.pdf (20 May, 2022)
- Oliva, A., Jime'nez-Morago, J.M., & Parra, A. (2008). Protective effect of supportive family relationships and the influence of stressful life events on adolescent adjustment. Anxiety, Stress & Coping, 1-15.
- Olsson, C. A., Bond, L., Burns, J. M., Vella-Brodrick, D. A., & Sawyer, S. M. (2003). Adolescent resilience: A concept analysis. *Journal of Adolescence*, 26(1), 1-11.

- Özdemir, S. B., & Stattin, H. (2014). Why and When is Ethnic Harassment a Risk for Immigrant Adolescents' School Adjustment? Understanding the Processes and Conditions. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 43, 1252–1265.
- Padilla, A. M., & Perez, W. (2003). Acculturation, social identity, and social cognition: A new perspective. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 25(1), 35-55.
- Palacios, N., Guttmannova, K., & Chase-Lansdale, P.L. (2008). Early Reading Achievement of Children in Immigrant Families: Is There an Immigrant Paradox? *Developmental Psychology*, 44 (5), 1381–1395.
- Panayiotopoulos, C. & Nicolaidou, M. (2007) 'At a Crossroads of Civilizations: Multicultural Educational Provision in Cyprus through the Lens of a Case Study', *Intercultural Education*, 18, 65-79.
- Papademetriou, D.G., Sumption, M., & Somerville, W. (2009). "The Social Mobility of Immigrants and Their Children," Migration Policy Institute. Retrieved from https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/social-mobility-immigrants-and-their-children.
- Papamichael, E. (2008). 'Greek-Cypriot Teachers' Understandings of Intercultural Education in an Increasingly Diverse Society', *The Cyprus Review*, 20,51-78.
- Park, H.J., Kim, M.Y., & Jung, D.Y. (2008). The Effect of Stress, Social Support and Self-efficacy on the Mental Health of Female Undergraduate Students. *Journal of Korean Academy of Fundamentals Nursing*. 15(4):513–521.
- Parviainen, H., Santalahti, P. & Kiviruusu, O. (2021). Emotional School Engagement and Psychiatric Symptoms among 6–9-Year-old Children with an Immigrant Background in the First Years of School in Finland. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development*, 52, 1071–1081.
- Patel, S. G., Clarke, A. V., Eltareb, F., Macciomei, E. E., & Wickham, R. E. (2016).
  Newcomer immigrant adolescents: A mixed-methods examination of family stressors and school outcomes. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 31(2), 163-180.
- Perreira, K. M., & Ornelas, I. (2013). Painful Passages: Traumatic Experiences and Post-Traumatic Stress among Immigrant Latino Adolescents and their Primary Caregivers. *The International migration review*, 47(4), 1-25.

- Pieh, C., Dale, R., Jesser, A., Probst, T., Plener, P.L., & Humer, E. (2022). The Impact of Migration Status on Adolescents' Mental Health during COVID-19. *Healthcare*, 10 (176), 1-12.
- Plenty, S., Jonsson, J.O. (201). Social Exclusion among Peers: The Role of Immigrant Status and Classroom Immigrant Density. *Journal of Youth And Adolescence* 46, 1275–1288.
- Population Census (2015). Volume 1: General demographic characteristics, migration, labour force. Statistical Services.
- Portes, A., & Rumbaut, R.G. (2001). Legacies: The Story of the Immigrant Second Generation. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Possel, P., Rudasill, K., Sawyer, M., Spence, S., & Bjerg, A. (2013). Associations between teacher emotional support and depressive symptoms in Australian adolescents: A 5-year longitudinal study. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(11), 2135–2146.
- Prime, H., Wade, M., & Browne, D. T. (2020, May 21). Risk and Resilience in Family Well-Being During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *American Psychologist*, 1-13.
- Qingwen, X., Bekteshi, V., & Tran, T. (2010). Family, school, country of birth and adolescents' psychological well-being. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, 8(1), 91–110.
- Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017). Strengths and Limitations of Qualitative and Quantitative Research Methods. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 3(9), 369-387.
- Reeve J. (2016). Autonomy-supportive teaching: what it is, how to do it. In: Liu W et al, editors. Building autonomous learners. Singapore: *Springer*; pp. 129–52.
- Ritsner, M., Ponizovsky, A., Kurs, R., & Modai, I. (2000). Somatization in an Immigrant Population in Israel: A Community Survey of Prevalence, Risk Factors, and Help-Seeking Behavior. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157(3), 385–392).
- Roeser, R. W., & Eccles, J. S. (1998). Adolescents' perceptions of middle school: Relation to longitudinal changes in academic and psychological adjustment. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 8, 123–158.

- Sack, W. H., Him, C., & Dickason, D. (1999). Twelve-year follow-up study of Khmer youths who suffered massive war trauma as children. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 38(9), 1173-1179.
- Salerno, S., Taylor, J., Quentin K., & Kilpatrick, K.(2019). Immigrant Generation, Stress Exposure, and Substance Abuse among a South Florida Sample of Hispanic Young Adults. *Socius: Sociological Research for a Dynamic World, 5*, 1–11.
- Sam, D. L., Vedder, P., Ward, C., & Horenczyk, G. (2006). Psychological and socio-cultural adaptation of immigrant youth. In J. W. Berry, J. S. Phinney, D. L. Sam, & Mental health outcomes of immigrant and non-immigrant youth in New Zealand.
- Sam, D. L., Vedder, P., Liebkind, K., Neto, F., & Virta, E. (2008). Immigration, acculturation and the paradox of adaptation in Europe. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, *5*, 138-158.
- Saminathen, M.G., Löfstedt, P., & Låftman, S.B. (2021). Classroom Immigrant Density Predicts Psychological Well-Being Among Adolescents with an Immigration Background: Findings from the 2017/18 Swedish Health Behavior in School-Aged Children Study. *International Journal of Public Health*, 66, 1-8.
- Sánchez-Ordaz, A., & Mosqueda, E. (2021). The Effects of School Belonging and Peer Influences on the Achievement of High School Immigrant Students. *Journal of Leadership, Equity and Research*, 7(3), 1-59.
- Sandoval-Hernández, A., Isac, M. M., & Miranda, D. (2018). School Segregation of Immigrant Students. In *Teaching Tolerance in a Globalized World* (pp. 72–86). Springer.
- Sassen, S. (2014). *Expulsions: Brutality and complexity in the global economy*. Boston, CT: Harvard University Press.
- Schwartz, S. J., Unger, J. B., Zamboanga, B. L., Córdova, D., Mason, C. A., Huang, S., Baezconde-Garbanati, L., Lorenzo-Blanco, E. I., Des Rosiers, S. E., Soto, D. W., Villamar, J. A., Pattarroyo, M., Lizzi, K. M., & Szapocznik, J. (2015). Developmental trajectories of acculturation: links with family functioning and mental health in recent-immigrant Hispanic adolescents. *Child development*, 86(3), 726–748.

- Sen, A. (2006) *Identity and Violence*. New York: Norton.
- Serdarevic, M., & Chronister, K. (2005). Research with Immigrant Populations: The Application of an Ecological Framework to Mental Health Research with Immigrant Populations. *The International Journal of Mental Health Promotion*, 7, 24-34.
- Sharma, G. (2017). Pros and cons of different sampling techniques. *International Journal of Applied Research*, *3*(7): 749-752.
- Shin, D., & Johnson, D. (1978). Avowed happiness as an overall assessment of the quality of life. *Social Indicators Research*, *5*, 474-492.
- Shoshani, A., Nakash, O., Zubida, H., Harper, R.A. (2016). School Engagement, Acculturation, and Mental Health Among Migrant Adolescents in Israel. *School Psychology Quarterly* 31(2), 181–197.
- Sirin S.R., Ryce, P., Gupta, T., & Rogers-Sirin, L. (2012). The Role of Acculturative Stress on Mental Health Symptoms for Immigrant Adolescents: A Longitudinal Investigation. *Developmental psychology*, 49(4),736-748.
- Soest TV, Bakken A, Pedersen W, & Sletten, M.A. (2020) Life satisfaction among adolescents before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen*, 16,1-10.
- Solomontos-Kountouri, O., & Strohmeier, D. (2021). The need to belong as motive for (cyber)bullying and aggressive behavior among immigrant adolescents in Cyprus. *New Directions for Child and Adolescent Development*, 1–20.
- Solomontos-Kountouri, O., Tsagkaridis, K., Gradingerc, P., & Strohmeier, D. (2017). Academic, Socio-emotional and Demographic Characteristics of Adolescents Involved in Traditional Bullying, Cyberbullying, or Both: Looking at Variables and Persons. *International Journal of Developmental Science*, 11, 19–30.
- Sonmark, K., & Godeau, E., Augustine, L., Bygren, M., & Modin, B. (2016). Individual and Contextual Expressions of School Demands and their Relation to Psychosomatic Health a Comparative Study of Students in France and Sweden. *Child Indicators Research*, 9,93–109.
- Spyrou, S. (2009) Between intimacy and intolerance: Greek Cypriot children's encounters with Asian domestic workers, *Childhood*, *16*, 155-173.
- Spyrou, S. (2004). *Greek Cypriot Children's Knowledge about, Perceptions of, and attitudes towards foreigners in Cyprus*. Nicosia: United Nations Development Programme.

- Steele, C. (1997). A threat in the air: How stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *American Psychologist*, *52*, 613-629.
- Steinberg, L., & Brown, B. (1989, March). Beyond the classroom: Family and peer influences on high school achievement. Paper presented to the Families as Educators special interest group at the annual meetings of the American Educational Research Association, San Francisco.
- Stevens, G.W.J.M., & Vollebergh, W.A.M. (2008). Mental health in migrant children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 9(3),276-94.
- Straussner, S.L.A., & Calnan, A.J. (2014). Trauma Through the Life Cycle: A Review of Current Literature. *Clinical Social Work Journal* 42, 323–335.
- Strohmeier, D., Kärnä, A., & Salmivalli, C. (2011). Intrapersonal and interpersonal risk factors for peer victimization in immigrant youth in Finland. *Developmental Psychology*, 47(1), 248.
- Strohmeier, D., Spiel, C., & Gradinger, P. (2008). Social relationships in multicultural schools: Bullying and victimization. *European Journal of Developmental Psychology*, 5(2), 262–285.
- Suarez-Orozco, C., Pimentel, A. & Martin, M. (2009). The significance of relationships: Academic engagement and achievement among newcomer immigrant youth. *Teachers College Record*, 111 (3), 712-749.
- Suarez-Orozco, C. (2009). Unraveling the Immigrant Paradox Academic Engagement and Disengagement Among Recently Arrived Immigrant Youth. *Youth & Society*, 41(2), 151-185.
- Tang, Y. (2019). Immigration Status and Adolescent Life Satisfaction: An International Comparative Analysis Based on PISA 2015. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 20, 1499–1518.
- Tay, K. J. (2020). Subjective well-being of immigrants in the United Kingdom and across Europe: An investigation of host country characteristics, multiculturalism and acculturation. (Unpublished Doctoral thesis), City University of London.
- Theodorou, E. (2014). Constructing the other: Politics and policies of intercultural education in Cyprus. In: L. Vega (ed.) *Empires, PostColoniality and Interculturality*. Sense Publishers, 251-272.

- Theodorou, E., & Symeou, L. (2013) Experiencing the same but differently: indigenous minority and immigrant children's experiences in Cyprus, *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 34(3), 354-372.
- Theodosiou-Zapiti, G., West, M., & Lamprianou, I. (2011). Attainment of Ethnic Minority Secondary School Students in Cyprus. *The Cyprus Review, 23* (1), 123-144.
- Thijs, J. T., & Verkuyten, M. (2008). Peer Victimization and Academic Achievement in a Multiethnic Sample: The Role of Perceived Academic Self-Efficacy. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 100(4), 754.
- Thoits, P. A. (2010). Stress and health: Major findings and policy implications. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *51*, 41–53.
- Titzmann, P. F., & Silbereisen, R. K. (2009). Friendship homophily among ethnic German immigrants: A longitudinal comparison between recent and more experienced immigrant adolescents. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 23, 301-310.
- Titzmann, P.F., & Silbereisen, R.K. (2012). Acculturation or Development? Autonomy Expectations Among Ethnic German Immigrant Adolescents and Their Native German Age-Mates. *Child Development*, 8(5), 1640–1654.
- Titzmann, P. F., Silbereisen, R. K., & Mesch, G. S. (2012). Change in friendship homophily: A German Israeli comparison of adolescent immigrants. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 43, 410-428.
- Tong, V., Huang, C. & McIntyre, T. (2006). Promoting a positive cross-cultural identity: A caring teacher's guide to working with recent immigrant students. *Reclaiming Children and Youth at Risk*, 14(4), 203-208.
- Torres, S.A., Santiago, C.D., Walts, K.K., & Richards, M.H. (2018). Immigration policy, practices, and procedures: The impact on the mental health of Mexican and Central American youth and families. *American Psychologist*, 73, 843–854.
- Trimikliniotis, N. & Demetriou, C. (2012) *The Interaction between Racist Discourse and the Rise in Racial Violence in Cyprus: The Far-Right Attack against a Multicultural Rainbow Festival*. Florence ACCEPTPLURALISM; 2012/08; 4. National Case Studies Political Life; Final Country Reports.
- Trimikliniotis, N. (2009) Nationality and citizenship in Cyprus since 1945: communal citizenship, gendered nationality and the adventures of a post-colonial subject in a

- divided country. In R. Bauböck, B. Perchinig & W. Sievers (eds.) *Citizenship Policies in the New Europe*. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- Trimikliniotis, N. & Demetriou, C. (2005). 'Active Civic Participation of Immigrants in Cyprus', Country Report prepared by the European research project, POLITIS, Oldenburg.
- Trimikliniotis, N. (2001a). The location of Cyprus in the southern European context: Europeanisation or modernization? *The Cyprus Review*, *13(2)*, 47-73.
- Tummala-Narra, P., Deshpande, A., & Kaur, J. (2016). South Asian adolescents' experiences of acculturative stress and coping. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 86(2), 194–211.
- Tummala-Narra, P.& Claudius M. (2013). Perceived Discrimination and Depressive Symptoms Among Immigrant-Origin Adolescents. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 19 (3), 257–269.
- United Nations (2002). World Population Prospects: The 2000 Revision, Volume III: Analytical Report. New York: Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division.
- Urzua, A., Leiva-Gutierrez, J., Caqueo-Urizar, A., & Vera-Villarroel, P. (2019). Rooting mediates the effect of stress by acculturation on the psychological well-being of immigrants living in Chile. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(8), 1-12.
- Verkuyten, M. (2008). Life Satisfaction Among Ethnic Minorities: The Role of Discrimination and Group Identification. *Social Indicators Research*, 89, 391–404.
- Wagaman, B., Kerr, E., Branch, R., & Berman, S.L. (2022). Identity Distress among Immigrant Students during COVID-19. *Societies*, *12*(29), 2-11.
- Walsemann, K.M., Bell, B.A., & Maitra, D. (2011). The intersection of school racial composition and student race/ethnicity on adolescent depressive and somatic symptoms. *Social Science & Medicine*, 72 (11),1873-1883.
- Walsh, S.D., Kolobov, T. Raiz, Y., Boniel-Nissim, M., Tesler, R., & Harel-Fisch, Y. (2018). The role of identity and psychosomatic symptoms as mediating the relationship between discrimination and risk behaviors among first- and second-generation immigrant adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 64,34–47.
- Ward, C. (2013). Probing identity, integration and adaptation: Big questions, little answers. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, *37*(4), 391–404.

- Ward, R., Brady, A., Jazdzewski, R., & Yalch, M. (2021). Stress, Resilience, and Coping. In Pradhan, R. Kumar, & Kumar, U. (2021). Emotion, well-being, and resilience: theoretical perspectives and practical applications. Palm Bay, FL: Apple Academic Press Inc.
- Way, N., Reddy, R., & Rhodes, J. (2007). Students' perceptions of school climate during the middle school years: Associations with trajectories of psychological and behavioral adjustment. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 40, 194–213.
- Wieczerkowski, W., Nickel, H., Janowski, A., Fittkau, B. & Rauer, W. (1974).

  \*\*Angstfragebogen für Schüler\* [Anxiety Questionnaire for School-Age Children].

  \*\*Braunschweig: Westermann.
- Wu, C., Qian, Y., & Wilkes, R. (2020): Anti-Asian discrimination and the Asian-white mental health gap during COVID-19. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 1-17.
- Xu, D., & Wu, X. (2016). The rise of the second generation: aspirations, motivations and academic success of Chinese immigrants' children in Hong Kong. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 1-24.
- Zacarian, D., Alvarez-Ortiz, L., & Haynes, J., (2017). Teaching to strengths: Supporting students living with trauma, violence, and chronic stress. ASCD.
- Zehr, M. (2009). Scholars mull the "Paradox" of immigrants. *Education Digest: Essential Readings Condensed for Quick Review*, 75(2), 4–7.
- Zembylas, M. (2010). Greek-Cypriot teachers' constructions of Turkish-speaking children's identities: critical race theory and education in a conflict-ridden society, *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, *33*(8), 1372-1391.
- Zembylas, M., Michaelidou, A., & Afantitou-Lambrianou, T. (2010). Greek-Cypriot adolescent attitudes towards immigrants and 'enemy-others' in the context of an ethnic conflict. *Mediterranean Journal of Educational Studies*, 15(1), 5–39.
- Zembylas, M., & Lesta, S. (2011). Greek-Cypriot Students' Stances and Repertoires

  Towards Migrants and Migrant Students in the Republic of Cyprus. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 12, 475–494.

# **APPENDICES**

# Appendix A: Study proposal to the Pedagogical Institute of Cyprus

ΚΕΝΤΡΟ ΕΚΠΑΙΔΕΥΤΙΚΗΣ ΕΡΕΥΝΑΣ ΚΑΙ ΑΞΙΟΛΟΓΗΣΗΣ

#### ΑΝΑΛΥΤΙΚΌ ΣΧΕΔΙΌ ΕΡΕΥΝΑΣ

ΚΩΔΙΚΟΣ: 186483

**Στάδιο:** ΥΠΟ ΓΝΩΜΟΔΟΤΉΣΗ ΚΕΕΑ **Δημιουργία:** 18/10/2020 07:21:11 **Υποβολή:** 18/10/2020 08:43:30 PM

#### Όνομα ερευνητή/ερευνήτριας:

Μαρουλλή Ιωάννα

#### Ιδιότητα:

Μεταπτυχιακή φοιτήτρια

#### Μέλη ερευνητικής ομάδας:

Δρ. Όλγα Σολωμόντος-Κουντούρη (Επόπτρια Διπλωματικής Εργασίας-Ακαδημαϊκή Υπεύθυνη Μεταπτυχιακού Προγράμματος Σπουδών Θ.Σ.Ε.Κ.)

Δρ.Dagmar Strohmeier (Επόπτρια Διπλωματκής Εργασίας, Καθηγήτρια στο Πανεπιστήμιο Εφαρμοσμένων Επιστημών της Άνω Αυστρίας) Δρ. Ιουλία Τελεβάντου (Επόπτρια Διπλωματικής Εργασίας, Λέκτορας Στατιστικής και Μεθοδολόγίας Θ.Σ.Ε.Κ)

ΚΈΝΤΡΟ ΕΚΠΑΙΔΕΥΤΙΚΉΣ ΕΡΕΎΝΑΣ ΚΑΙ ΑΞΙΟΛΟΓΉΣΗΣ

# ΑΝΑΛΥΤΙΚΟ ΣΧΕΔΙΟ ΕΡΕΥΝΑΣ

ΚΩΔΙΚΟΣ: 186483

#### Επιστημονικός φορέας:

Θεολογική Σχολή Εκκλήσίας της Κύπρου (Θ.Σ.Ε.Κ)

# Διευθύνσεις ΥΠΠ στις οποίες θα διεξαχθεί η έρευνα:

Μέσης,

## Ταχυδρομική διεύθυνση ερευνητή/ερευνήτριας:

Αντιγόνης 4, 2400 Έγκωμη, ΛΕΥΚΩΣΙΑ

# Διεύθυνση ηλεκτρονικού ταχυδρομείου:

i.maroulli@theo.ac.cy

## Τηλέφωνα / τηλεμοιότυπο (fax):

99119926 /

#### Τίτλος έρευνας:

«Προσαρμογή στο Σχολικό Πλαίσιο και Ικανοποίηση από τη Ζωή»

# Σκοπός -ερευνητικά ερωτήματα/υποθέσεις:

Σκοπός της έρευνας, είναι να εξετάσει κατά πόσο υπάρχουν διαφορές ανάμεσα στους μετανάστες και γηγενείς μαθητές αναφορικά με την σχολική προσαρμογή και την ικανοποίηση/ευχαρίστηση από τη ζωή. Προβλέπεται ότι:

- H1: Ο βαθμός ικανοποίησης/ευχαρίστησης από τη ζωή θα είναι χαμηλότερος στους μετανάστες μαθητές σε σχέση με τους γηγενείς μαθητές.
- Η2: Όσο μεγαλώνει ο αριθμός των τραυματικών γεγονότων ζωής, τόσο πιο χαμηλός θα είναι ο βαθμός ικανοποίησης από τη ζωή.
- Η3: Οι μετανάστες μαθητές θα έχουν βιώσει περισσότερα τραυματικά γεγονότα ζωής σε σχέση με τους γηγενείς συμμαθητές τους.
- Η4: Τα σχολικά κίνητρα των μεταναστών μαθητών θα είναι χαμηλότερα από τους γηγενείς μαθητές.
- Η5: Το σχολικό ενδιαφέρον των μεταναστών μαθητών θα είναι χαμηλότερο από τους γηγενείς μαθητές.
- Η6: Το σχολικό κλίμα (σχέσεις) παίζει ρόλο στη σχολική προσαρμογή των μαθητών.
- Η7: Τα επίπεδα σχολικού άγχους θα είναι υψηλότερα στους μετανάστες μαθητές παρά στους γηγενείς μαθητές.
- Η8: Το επίπεδο αυτονομίας στο σχολείο θα είναι υψηλότερο στους γηγενείς μαθητές σε σχέση με τους μετανάστες μαθητές.

#### ΑΝΑΛΥΤΙΚΌ ΣΧΕΛΙΌ ΕΡΕΥΝΑΣ

ΚΩΔΙΚΟΣ: 186483

# Χρησιμότητα-αναγκαιότητα της έρευνας:

Η έρευνα αυτή θεωρείται αναγκαία λόγω του ότι δεν υπάρχουν αρκετές έρευνες που να μελετούν παρόμοιο θέμα στην κυπριακή κοινωνία. Ο αριθμός των μεταναστών μαθητών αυξάνεται κατακόρυφα και η σύνθεση των σχολείων αλλάζει, συνεπώς είναι κρίσιμο να μελετηθεί κατά πόσο η προσαρμογή των μεταναστών μαθητών, υποβοηθάται από το σχολικό κλίμα και τη γενική ευχαρίστηση από τη ζωή. Η πρακτική σημασία της συγκεκριμένης έρευνας αφορά στο ότι τα αποτελέσματά της θα είναι χρήσιμα για τον εκπαιδευτικό τομέα και την εφαρμοσμένη ψυχολογία. Δηλαδή για τη διευκόλυνση της προσαρμογής των μεταναστών μαθητών και τη δημιουργία νέων παρεμβάσεων που να αφορούν στην ένταξή τους.

#### Διαδικασία συλλογής δεδομένων:

Αφού πάρουμε τη γραπτή συγκατάθεση των γονέων και κηδεμόνων, όπου εξηγείται ο σκοπός και η χρησιμότητα της έρευνας θα δώσουμε τα ερωτηματολόγια στους μαθητές/τριες των οποίων οι γονείς αποδέχθηκαν να συμμετάσχει το παιδί τους στην έρευνα.Τα ερωτηματολόγια θα δοθούν μία περίοδο μη-εξεταζόμενου μαθήματος και θα επιστραφούν την ίδια περίοδο. Ο χρόνος συμπλήρωσης του ερωτηματολογίου υπολογίζεται στα 20-30λεπτά. Τα ερωτηματολόγια είναι ανώνυμα. Τα ερωτηματολόγια θα δοθούν στους Κύπριους μαθητές στα Ελληνικά και στους μετανάστες μαθητές είτε στα Ελληνικά είτε στα Αγγλικά, αναλόγως με την προτίμηση τους ενώ για τους μαθητές που δεν μιλούν καλά καμιά από τις δύο γλώσσες μπορούν να μεταφραστούν στην Αραβική γλώσσα.

#### Δειγματοληψία:

150 μετανάστες μαθητές/μαθήτριες και 150 γηγενείς μαθητές/μαθήτριες. Σύνολο: 300 μαθητές μέσης εκπαίδευσης. Η συμμετοχή στην έρευνα είναι εθελοντική και οι μαθητές δικαιούνται να αποχωρήσουν όποτε το επιθυμούν.

Σχολεία:

Ευρυβιάδειο στη Λάρνακα

Φανερωμένη στη Λάρνακα

Παλλουριώτισσα Λευκωσία

Αγίου Βασιλείου Λευκωσία

#### Ερευνητικά εργαλεία:

Το ερωτηματολόγιο που θα χρησιμοποιηθεί, αποτελείται από διάφορες υποκλίμακες που πάρθηκαν από διάφορα σταθμισμένα δημοσιευμένα εργαλεία:

- 1.Ερωτηματολόγιο ViSC (υποκλίμακες):
- -Σχολικό Ενδιαφέρον και Κίνητρα (10 ερωτήσεις 4 Likert-type scale)
- -Σχολικό Κλίμα/ Σχέσεις (3 ερωτήσεις 4 Likert-Type scale)
- 2. Stressful Life Events questionnaire (Bean, Eurelings-Bontekoe, Derluyn, & Spinhoven (2006) (11 ερωτήσεις αναφορικά με τραυματικά γεγονότα ζωής N/O)
- 3. Psychological Well-being scale [Diener et al. (1985, 2003)] (5 ερωτήσεις αναφορικά με την ευχαρίστηση από τη ζωή Διαφωνώ απόλυτα-Συμφωνώ απόλυτα- 5 Likert-type scale)
- 4.Cantril-Ladder-Life Satisfaction (0-10)
- 5. School-related psychosomatic complaints από το ερωτηματολόγιο του Hascher (2004). [8 ερωτήσεις που μετρούν ψυχοσωματικά συμτώματα, σε κλίμακα 5-Likert (Ποτέ-Πολύ συχνά)].
- 6. School Anxiety από το ερωτηματολόγιο Test Anxiety Inventory (Wieczerkowski, et al., 1979). [4 ερωτήσεις που μετρούν το σχολικό ἀγχος σε 5-likert type scale (Ποτέ-Πολύ συχνά)]
- 7. Need for School Autonomy [5 ερωτήσεις που μετρρούν την ανάγκη για αυτονομία στο σχολείο σε 5 Likert-type scale (Διαφωνώ Απόλυτα-Συμφωνώ Απόλυτα)]

Μέσα από το ερωτηματολόγιο θα ληφθούν και δημογραφικά στοιχεία.

#### ΑΝΑΛΥΤΙΚΟ ΣΧΕΔΙΟ ΕΡΕΥΝΑΣ

ΚΩΔΙΚΟΣ: 186483

#### Χρόνος απασχόλησης:

20-30 λετπά της διδακτικής περιόδου

#### Χρονική περίοδος έρευνας και αναμενόμενος χρόνος αποτελεσμάτων:

Συλλογή δεδομένων κατά το μήνα ∆εκέμβριο 2020 και Ιανουάριο 2021 Αναμενόμενος χρόνος υποβολής αποτελεσμάτων:30/05/2021

#### ΘΕΜΑΤΑ ΗΘΙΚΗΣ ΚΑΙ ΕΡΕΥΝΗΤΙΚΗΣ ΔΕΟΝΤΟΛΟΓΙΑΣ:

#### Α. ΣΥΝΕΙΔΗΤΗ ΣΥΝΑΙΝΕΣΗ ΓΙΑ ΣΥΜΜΕΤΟΧΗ ΣΤΗΝ ΕΡΕΥΝΑ Όταν οι συμμετέχοντες είναι ενήλικες:

- 1. Έχουν ληφθεί τα απαραίτητα μέτρα για την ενημέρωση των συμμετεχόντων σχετικά με: το σκοπό της έρευνας, τις διαδικασίες συλλογής δεδομένων, το περιεχόμενο των εργαλείων συλλογής δεδομένων και τον απαιτούμενο χρόνο για τη συλλογή των δεδομένων.[NAI]
- 2. Έχει ληφθεί πρόνοια για ενημέρωση των συμμετεχόντων σχετικά με την εθελοντική συμμετοχή τους στην έρευνα; [ΝΑΙ]
- 3. Έχει ληφθεί πρόνοια για ενημέρωση των συμμετεχόντων σχετικά με το δικαίωμα απόσυρσης από την έρευνα οποιαδήποτε στιγμή το επιθυμήσουν;[NAI]
- 4. Προτίθεστε να εξασφαλίσετε τη συγκατάθεσή τους για την καταγραφή των δεδομένων (π.χ. μαγνητοφώνηση, βιντεοσκόπηση) πριν τη διεξαγωγή της έρευνας;[ΔΙ]

#### Όταν οι συμμετέχοντες είναι μαθητές:

- 5. Προτίθεστε να εξασφαλίσετε γραπτή συγκατάθεση από τους γονείς/κηδεμόνες των παιδιών για τη συμμετοχή τους στην παρούσα έρευνα:[NAI]
- 6. Έχει ληφθεί πρόνοια για ενημέρωση των γονέων/κηδεμόνων για τον σκοπό της έρευνας, τις διαδικασίες συλλογής δεδομένων, το περιεχόμενο των εργαλείων συλλογής δεδομένων και τον απαιτούμενο χρόνο για τη συλλογή των δεδομένων;[NAI]
- 7. Έχει ληφθεί πρόνοια για ενημέρωση των γονέων/κηδεμόνων ότι η συμμετοχή των παιδιών τους στην έρευνα είναι εθελοντική;[NAI]
- 8. Έχει ληφθεί πρόνοια για ενημέρωση των γονέων/κηδεμόνων σχετικά με το δικαίωμα απόσυρσης του παιδιού τους από την έρευνα οποιαδήποτε στιγμή το επιθυμήσουν χωρίς οποιεσδήποτε συνέπειες για το παιδί;[NAI]
- 9. Προτίθεστε να εξασφαλίσετε γραπτή συγκατάθεση των γονέων/κηδεμόνων για την καταγραφή των δεδομένων (π.χ. μαγνητοφώνηση, βιντεοσκόπηση), πριν τη διεξαγωγή της έρευνας;[ΔΙ]
- 10. Στην περίπτωση συνέντευξης/προσωπικής επαφής με το παιδί, έχει ληφθεί πρόνοια για την παρουσία εκπαιδευτικού του σχολείου στη συνέντευξη:[ΔΙ]
- 11. Έχει ληφθεί πρόνοια για ενημέρωση των ίδιων των παιδιών για τον σκοπό και το περιεχόμενο της έρευνας;[ΝΑΙ]
- 12. Έχει ληφθεί πρόνοια για ενημέρωση των παιδιών ότι η συμμετοχή τους στην έρευνα είναι εθελοντική;[ΝΑΙ]

# Β. ΠΡΟΣΒΑΣΗ ΣΤΙΣ ΣΧΟΛΙΚΕΣ ΜΟΝΑΔΕΣ

- 13. Έχουν ληφθεί τα απαραίτητα μέτρα για ενημέρωση της διεύθυνσης του σχολείου για τη διεξαγωγή της παρούσας έρευνας;[NAI]
- 14. Έχουν ληφθεί τα απαραίτητα μέτρα για ενημέρωση του εκπαιδευτικού προσωπικού του σχολείου για τη διεξαγωγή της παρούσας έρευνας; [NAI]

## Γ. ΠΙΘΑΝΗ ΕΚΘΕΣΗ ΣΕ ΣΩΜΑΤΙΚΟ Ή ΨΥΧΟΛΟΓΙΚΟ ΚΙΝΔΥΝΟ

- 15. Έχουν ληφθεί τα απαραίτητα μέτρα έτσι ώστε η μεταχείριση των υποκειμένων της έρευνας να γίνεται με τον ελάχιστο δυνατό κίνδυνο, ώστε να μην κινδυνεύσει η σωματική τους ακεραιότητα ή η ψυχική τους υγεία;[NAI]
- 16. Η έρευνα προβαίνει σε έκθεση των υποκειμένων σε κατάλληλα για την ηλικία τους ερεθίσματα (π.χ. το περιεχόμενο των εργαλείων συλλογής δεδομένων είναι κατάλληλο);[NAI]
- 17. Η έρευνα προβαίνει σε έκθεση των υποκειμένων σε κατάλληλα για την ιδιότητά τους (π.χ. γονείς, εκπαιδευτικούς) ερεθίσματα: [NAI]

### Δ. ΠΡΟΣΤΑΣΙΑ ΑΝΩΝΥΜΙΑΣ ΚΑΙ ΔΕΔΟΜΕΝΩΝ

- 18. Έχουν ληφθεί τα απαραίτητα μέτρα για την προστασία της ανωνυμίας των συμμετεχόντων;[NAI]
- 19. Έχουν ληφθεί τα απαραίτητα μέτρα για τη φύλαξη των δεδομένων που θα συλλεχθούν στα πλαίσια της παρούσας έρευνας;[NAI]
- 20. Έχουν ληφθεί τα απαραίτητα μέτρα έτσι ώστε τα δεδομένα που θα συλλεγούν να μη χρησιμοποιηθούν για οποιοδήποτε άλλο σκοπό;[NAI]

# Ε. ΕΝΗΜΕΡΩΣΗ ΣΥΜΜΕΤΕΧΟΝΤΩΝ ΓΙΑ ΤΑ ΑΠΟΤΕΛΕΣΜΑΤΑ ΤΗΣ ΕΡΕΥΝΑΣ

21. Έχει ληφθεί πρόνοια για ενημέρωση των συμμετεχόντων σχετικά με τα αποτελέσματα της έρευνας;[NAI] **ΑΙΤΙΟΛΟΓΗΣΗ ΣΗΜΕΙΩΝ «ΟΧΙ»** 

## ΑΛΛΑ ΘΕΜΑΤΑ ΗΘΙΚΗΣ ΚΑΙ ΔΕΟΝΟΤΟΛΟΓΙΑΣ

# ΑΡΧΕΙΑ ΠΟΥ ΕΠΙΣΥΝΑΦΘΗΚΑΝ:

LETTER TO PARENTSAITHΣH.DOCX (25/11/2020, 8:51:54, 81 KB)

SCALESAITHΣH.DOCX (25/11/2020, 8:38:20, 45 KB)

BEBAΊΩΣΗ ΚΕΕΑ\_Ι ΜΑΡΟΥΛΛΗ (1).PDF (25/11/2020, 8:37:12, 432 KB)

ΕΠΙΣΤΟΛΗ ΠΡΟΣ ΓΟΝΕΙΣ ΚΑΙ ΚΗΔΕΜΟΝΕΣ ΑΙΤΗΣΗ.DOCX (25/11/2020, 8:37:50, 82 KB)

EΠΙΣΤΟΛΗ ΠΡΟΣ ΔΙΕΥΘΎΝΤΕΣ ΑΙΤΗΣΉ. DOCX (25/11/2020, 8:38:08, 112 KB)

25/11/2020 08:54:59 AM

# **Appendix B: Letter of approval of the study**



#### ΚΥΠΡΙΑΚΗ ΔΗΜΟΚΡΑΤΙΑ

#### ΥΠΟΥΡΓΕΙΟ ΠΑΙΔΕΙΑΣ, ΠΟΛΙΤΙΣΜΟΥ ΑΘΛΗΤΙΣΜΟΥ ΚΑΙ ΝΕΟΛΑΙΑΣ

Αρ. Φακ.: 7.19.46.11/8 Αρ. Τηλ.: 22800664

E-mail: circularsec@schools.ac.cy

ΜΕΣΗΣ ΓΕΝΙΚΗΣ ΕΚΠΑΙΔΕΥΣΗΣ

16 Δεκεμβρίου 2020

Κυρία Ιωάννα Μαρουλλή Αντιγόνης 4 2400 Έγκωμη

Αρ. Φαξ: 22428268

## Θέμα: Παραχώρηση άδειας για διεξαγωγή έρευνας

Αναφορικά με τη σχετική με το πιο πάνω θέμα αίτησή σας στο Κέντρο Εκπαιδευτικής Έρευνας και Αξιολόγησης, με ημερομηνία υποβολής 18/10/2020, πληροφορείστε ότι το αίτημά σας για διεξαγωγή έρευνας σε σχολεία Μέσης Γενικής Εκπαίδευσης, με θέμα «Προσαρμογή στο σχολικό πλαίσιο και ικανοποίηση από τη Ζωή», στο πλαίσιο έρευνας για την απόκτηση μεταπτυχιακού τίτλου σπουδών στη Θεολογική Σχολή της Εκκλησίας της Κύπρου, εγκρίνεται. Νοείται ότι θα λάβετε υπόψη τις εισηγήσεις του Κέντρου Εκπαιδευτικής Έρευνας και Αξιολόγησης οι οποίες επισυνάπτονται και ότι θα τηρήσετε τις ακόλουθες προϋποθέσεις:

- θα εξασφαλίσετε τη συγκατάθεση των Διευθυντών/-ντριών των σχολείων, τα οποία θα συμμετάσχουν στην έρευνα,
- 2. η συμμετοχή των μαθητών/τριών θα είναι προαιρετική,
- 3. θα εξασφαλίσετε τη συγκατάθεση των γονέων των μαθητών/ -τριών στην έρευνα,
- δεν θα επηρεασθεί ο διδακτικός χρόνος και η ομαλή λειτουργία του σχολείου για τη διεξαγωγή της έρευνας.
- θα χειριστείτε τα στοιχεία των εμπλεκομένων με τέτοιο τρόπο, ώστε να διασφαλιστεί πλήρως η ανωνυμία τους, και τέλος,
- τα αποτελέσματα της έρευνας θα κοινοποιηθούν στο Υπουργείο Παιδείας, Πολιτισμού, Αθλητισμού και Νεολαίας και στα σχολεία που θα σας παραχωρήσουν διευκολύνσεις για τη διεξαγωγή της.

Ευχόμαστε καλή επιτυχία στους ερευνητικούς σας σκοπούς.

Δρ Κυπριανός Δ. Λούης Διευθυντής Μέσης Γενικής Εκπαίδευσης

BK

# Appendix C: Letter to school principals about the study's aims and procedure

# Διεξαγωγή έρευνας με θέμα «Προσαρμογή στο Σχολικό Πλαίσιο και Ικανοποίηση από τη Ζωή»

Με την παρούσα επιστολή ζητάμε τη συγκατάθεσή σας για τη συμμετοχή τμημάτων Α΄, Β΄και Γ΄ Γυμνασίου του σχολείου σας στην έρευνα «Προσαρμογή στο Σχολικό Πλαίσιο και Ικανοποίηση από τη Ζωή». Η έρευνα διεξάγεται υπό την εποπτεία της υποφαινόμενης, Δρ Όλγας Σολομώντος-Κουντούρη, Υπεύθυνης Μεταπτυχιακού Προγράμματος της Θεολογικής Σχολής Εκκλησίας της Κύπρου και της μεταπτυχιακής φοιτήτριας Ιωάννας Μαρουλλή. Σχετική έγκριση έχει ήδη χορηγηθεί από το Κέντρο Εκπαιδευτικής Έρευνας και Αξιολόγησης, (επισυνάπτεται αντίγραφο).

Δογική της Έρευνας: Η συγκεκριμένη έρευνα έχει σκοπό τη διερεύνηση της σχολικής προσαρμογής και του βαθμού ικανοποίησης από τη ζωή τόσο Κύπριων όσο και μεταναστών μαθητών/τριών. Μέσω της χορήγησης ερωτηματολογίων, θα εξεταστεί το επίπεδο ευχαρίστησης από τη ζωή καθώς και η θέληση και τα κίνητρα για μάθηση των μαθητών/τριων. Μέσα από τα αποτελέσματα θα φανεί κατά πόσο υπάρχουν διαφορές στον βαθμό ικανοποίησης από τη ζωή (αριθμός τραυματικών γεγονότων που βιώθηκαν) και στην σχολική προσαρμογή (κίνητρα, ενδιαφέρον, άγχος) μεταξύ των δύο ομάδων μαθητών. Επιπλέον, θα διερευνηθούν παράγοντες που αφορούν στο σχολικό κλίμα.

Η έρευνα αυτή θεωρείται αναγκαία λόγω του ότι δεν υπάρχουν αρκετές έρευνες που να μελετούν παρόμοιο θέμα στην Κύπρο. Ο αριθμός των μεταναστών μαθητών αυξάνεται κατακόρυφα και η σύνθεση των σχολείων αλλάζει, συνεπώς είναι κρίσιμο να μελετηθεί κατά πόσο η προσαρμογή των μεταναστών μαθητών, υποβοηθάται από το σχολικό κλίμα και τη γενική ευχαρίστηση από τη ζωή.

Η πρακτική σημασία της συγκεκριμένης έρευνας αφορά στο ότι τα αποτελέσματά της θα είναι χρήσιμα για τον εκπαιδευτικό τομέα και την εφαρμοσμένη ψυχολογία. Δηλαδή για τη διευκόλυνση της προσαρμογής των μεταναστών μαθητών και τη δημιουργία νέων παρεμβάσεων που να αφορούν στην ένταξή τους.

Συμμετέχοντες: Στην έρευνα θα πάρουν μέρος μαθητές/τριες της Α΄, Β΄ και Γ΄τάξης Γυμνασίου των οποίων οι γονείς έχουν αποδεχθεί να συμμετέχει το παιδί τους στην έρευνα (επισυνάπτεται η επιστολή προς τους γονείς).

Διαδικασία: Για τη διεξαγωγή της έρευνας έχει εξασφαλιστεί άδεια από το Κέντρο Εκπαιδευτικής Έρευνας και Αξιολόγησης. Θα πρέπει να έχουμε τη συγκατάθεση και τη συνεργασία των διευθυντών/τριών των σχολείων για παραχώρηση χρόνου, ούτως ώστε να δοθούν τα ερωτηματολόγια καθώς και γραπτή άδεια υπογεγραμμένη από τους γονείς των μαθητών/τριών για συμμετοχή των παιδιών τους στην έρευνα. Η χορήγηση των ερωτηματολογίων θα γίνει από τις ερευνήτριες. Οι μαθητές/τριες θα έχουν στη διάθεσή τους μια μειωμένη διδακτική περίοδο (30 λεπτά) για να συμπληρώσουν το ερωτηματολόγιο. Οι ερευνήτριες θα είναι στην τάξη κατά τη διάρκεια συμπλήρωσης των ερωτηματολογίων φροντίζοντας να κυλήσει ομαλά η διαδικασία και λύνοντας τυχόν απορίες των μαθητών/τριών σχετικά με το ερωτηματολόγιο. Ακολούθως, θα συγκεντρωθούν όλα τα ερωτηματολόγια και τα δεδομένα θα καταχωρηθούν και θα αναλυθούν ποσοτικά στο στατιστικό λογισμικό SPSS.

Αποτελέσματα της έρευνας: Τα συνολικά αποτελέσματα από όλα τα σχολεία θα σας ανακοινωθούν μετά το πέρας της διαδικασίας ανάλυσης και καταγραφής των αποτελεσμάτων. Η ίδια ενημέρωση θα σταλεί στο Υ.Π.Π. και στο Κ.Ε.Ε.Α..

Κλείνοντας θέλουμε να σας ευχαριστήσουμε για τη συμμετοχή σας στην έρευνα και να τονίσουμε τη σημασία της συμβολής εσάς και του σχολείου σας. Σε περίπτωση που έχετε κάποιες ερωτήσεις ή χρειάζεστε κάποιες διευκρινίσεις, μην διστάσετε να επικοινωνήσετε μαζί μας στην ηλεκτρονική διεύθυνση o.solomontos-kountouri@theo.ac.cy.

Σας ευχαριστούμε, εκ των προτέρων, για τη συνεργασία σας.

Με εκτίμηση,

Δρ Όλγα Σολομώντος Κουντούρη Αναπληρώτρια Καθηγήτρια Αναπτυξιακής Ψυχολογίας, Υπεύθυνη Μεταπτυχιακού Προγράμματος Θεολογική Σχολή Εκκλησίας Κύπρου

# Appendix D: Greek and English versions of parental consent form

# Greek Version

Αγαπητέ γονέα/κηδεμόνα,

Με την παρούσα επιστολή ζητάμε τη συγκατάθεσή σας για να συμμετέχει το παιδί σας στην έρευνα με θέμα «Ακαδημαϊκή Επίδοση και Ικανοποίηση από τη Ζωή Μεταναστών και Γηγενών μαθητών». Ο κύριος σκοπός της εν λόγω μελέτης, είναι να διερευνηθεί η ακαδημαϊκή επίδοση και ο βαθμός ικανοποίησης από τη ζωή μεταναστών και γηγενών μαθητών/τριών. Μέσω της χορήγησης εργαλείων (ερωτηματολόγια), θα εξεταστεί το επίπεδο ευχαρίστησης από τη ζωή καθώς και η θέληση και τα κίνητρα για μάθηση όλων των μαθητών. Η έρευνα διεξάγεται υπό την εποπτεία της Δρ. Όλγας Σολομώντος-Κουντούρη, Λέκτορα Ψυχολογίας και Υπεύθυνης Μεταπτυχιακού Προγράμματος της Θεολογικής Σχολής Εκκλησίας της Κύπρου. Σχετική έγκριση έχει ήδη χορηγηθεί από το Κέντρο Εκπαιδευτικής Έρευνας και Αξιολόγησης.

Το παιδί σας, παίρνοντας μέρος στην έρευνα, θα συμπληρώσει ένα ανώνυμο ερωτηματολόγιο. Η διάρκεια της έρευνας δεν θα υπερβαίνει τα 30 λεπτά και θα διεξαχθεί ύστερα από συνεννόηση με το διδακτικό προσωπικό, ώστε να μην επηρεάζεται το πρόγραμμα διδασκαλίας.

Παρακαλούμε συμπληρώστε και υπογράψτε το έντυπο που ακολουθεί και επιστρέψτε το στο σχολείο το συντομότερο δυνατό, μόνο αν επιθυμείτε το παιδί σας να ΜΗΝ συμμετέχει στην έρευνα. Σε περίπτωση που έχετε κάποιες ερωτήσεις ή χρειάζεστε κάποιες διευκρινίσεις, μην διστάσετε να επικοινωνήσετε μαζί μας στην ηλεκτρονική διεύθυνση o.solomontos-kountouri@theo.ac.cy.

$\overline{}$	,		,		,	
) MC	ευχαριστούμε,	CK TOW	$\pi \alpha \alpha \tau c \alpha \alpha v$	$v_{1}\alpha \tau_{1}$	$\alpha$	$\alpha \alpha c$
~u_	co aupio toopio,	CK twv	upo topov,	y to til	OUVERYACIA	ouc.
J	/ 1		1 1 /	, ,	1 1	J

Με εκτίμηση,

Δρ Όλγα Σολομώντος-Κουντούρη

Επιθυμώ	ο/η	μαθητής/τρια
	τάξης να ΜΗΝ συμμετέχει σ	την παραπάνω έρευνα.
Υπογραφή γονέα ή κηδεμόνο	<i>t</i> :	
Ονοματεπώνυμο:		

# English Version

Dear parent/guardian,

With this letter we ask for your consent for your child to participate in the research on "School Adjustment and Life Satisfaction". The main purpose of this study is to investigate school adjustment and the degree of life satisfaction of Cypriots and immigrant students. Using questionnaires, the level of pleasure from life as well as the will and motivation for learning of all students will be examined. The research is conducted under the supervision of Dr. Olga Solomontos-Kountouri, Associate Professor of Psychology and Head of the Postgraduate Program of the Theological School of the Church of Cyprus. Approval has already been granted by the Centre for Educational Research and Evaluation of the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sport and Youth.

Your child, taking part in the survey, will complete an anonymous questionnaire. The duration of the survey will not exceed 30 minutes and will be carried out after consultation with the teaching staff, so as not to affect the teaching program.

Please fill in and sign the form below and return it to school as soon as possible, only if you wish your child NOT to participate in the survey. In case you have any questions or need some clarification, do not hesitate to contact us at o.solomontos-kountouri@theo.ac.cy.

Thank you, in advance, for your cooperation.

With appreciation,

Dr Olga Solomontos-Kountouri

I wish the student	of class	NOT to
participate in the above survey.		
Signature of parent or guardian:		
Name:		

# Appendix E: Greek and English version of the questionnaire

Greek Version

Αγαπητοί μαθητές και αγαπητές μαθήτριες,

Το ερωτηματολόγιο αυτό ετοιμάστηκε για εσάς, τους φίλους και τις φίλες σας. Συγκεκριμένα, σχεδιάστηκε για να μετρήσει την ικανοποίηση/ευχαρίστηση από τη ζωή και να εξετάσει παράγοντες που πιθανόν να επηρεάζουν την προσαρμογή στο σχολείο Κυπρίων και μεταναστών μαθητών της ηλικίας σας. Δεν υπάρχουν σωστές ή λάθος απαντήσεις. Σας παρακαλούμε να απαντήσετε με ειλικρίνεια και να μας πείτε τι νομίζετε εσείς προσωπικά για κάθε ερώτηση. Βεβαιωθείτε ότι έχετε απαντήσει σε όλες τις ερωτήσεις που εμπεριέχονται σε αυτό το ερωτηματολόγιο. Το ερωτηματολόγιο περιλαμβάνει έξι (6) σελίδες.

Το ερωτηματολόγιο είναι ανώνυμο και δε θα γνωρίζει κανένας και καμιά τις απαντήσεις που θα δώσετε.

Σας ευχαριστούμε πολύ για την πολύτιμη βοήθειά σας!

Διάβασε προσεκτικά τις δηλώσεις που ακολουθούν. Η κάθε δήλωση μετρά έναν παράγοντα που σχετίζεται με τη σχολική προσαρμογή και την ικανοποίηση/ευχαρίστηση από τη ζωή. Εσύ να κυκλώσεις τον βαθμό που πιστεύεις ότι αντιστοιχεί σε αυτό που νιώθεις. Δεν υπάρχει σωστή ή λάθος απάντηση. Το 1 αντιστοιχεί στο Διαφωνώ Απόλυτα, το 2 στο Διαφωνώ, το 3 στο Ούτε Συμφωνώ ούτε Διαφωνώ, το 4 στο Συμφωνώ και το 5 στο Συμφωνώ Απόλυτα, όπως φαίνονται και στην κλίμακα.

	1	2	3	4			5		
	Διαφωνώ Απόλυτα	Διαφωνώ	Ούτε Συμφωνώ, Ούτε Διαφωνώ	Συμφωνώ		Συμο	φωνώ	Απόλ	υτα
1.	Στην τάξη μας	ς είναι σημαντικό για όλ	λους μας να είμαστε μια καλ	ή ομάδα.	1	2	3	4	5
2.	Στην τάξη μας	ας καλά.	1	2	3	4	5		
3.	Στην τάξη μας συνεργαζόμαστε και βοηθούμε ο ένας τον άλλον.						3	4	5
1.	Για μένα είναι	διασκέδαση το να ασχο	ληθώ με θέματα μάθησης στο	ο σχολείο.	1	2	3	4	5
2.	Στον ελεύθερο και όταν δεν χ		α με θέματα μάθησης του σχ	ολείου, ακόμη	1	2	3	4	5
3.	Στο σχολείο μ	αθαίνω κάτι που είναι σι	ημαντικό για μένα.		1	2	3	4	5
4.	Θέλω να μαθο	αίνω πολλά νέα πράγμα	τα.		1	2	3	4	5
5.	Θέλω να κάνο	ο δύσκολα πράγματα ώ	στε να μάθω νέα πράγματα.		1	2	3	4	5
6.	Θέλω να καταλαβαίνω τι μαθαίνω.					2	3	4	5
7.	Θέλω να είμα	ι σε θέση να πετυχαίνω	όλο και περισσότερο.		1	2	3	4	5
8.	Αν προσπαθήσ	σω, μπορώ να λύσω και	δύσκολα πράγματα στην τάξι	].	1	2	3	4	5
9.	Ξέρω ότι μπορ σχολείο.	οώ να καταφέρω να κάνο	υ τα πράγματα που απαιτούντ	αι από εμένα στο	1	2	3	4	5
10.	Πιστεύω ότι μ	πορώ να είμαι καλός/η σ	στα διαγωνίσματα.		1	2	3	4	5
1.	Προτιμώ να έχ	χω περισσότερες ομαδι	κές εργασίες στην τάξη.		1	2	3	4	5
2.	. Μου αρέσει να επιλέγω πιο συχνά ο ίδιος/η ίδια πόσο γρήγορα εργάζομαι στην τάξη.					2	3	4	5
3.	Μου αρέσει ν συζητηθούν σ		άσεων σχετικά με το ποια θε	έματα θα	1	2	3	4	5
4.	Θα μου άρεσε σχολείο.	: να ήμουν μέρος των α	τοφάσεων σχετικά με το πώα	, μαθαίνουμε στο	1	2	3	4	5
5.	Θα μου άρεσε έχουμε για το		ποφάσεων σχετικά με το τι ε	ργασίες θα	1	2	3	4	5

1	2	2 3		5						
Διαφωνώ Απόλυτα	Διαφωνώ Ούτε Συμφωνώ, Ούτε Διαφωνώ		Συμφωνώ	Συμφωνώ Απόλυτα						
1. Η ζωή μου	ο στους περισσότερους	τομείς, είναι όπως επιθυμώ να είνο	α.	1	2	3	4	5		
2. Οι συνθήκ	ες της ζωής μου είναι :	εξαιρετικές.		1	2	3	4	5		
3. Είμαι ικαν	οποιημένος/η από τη ζ	ωή μου.		1	2	3	4	5		
4. Μέχρι στιγ	γμής, έχω όλα όσα θεω	ρώ σημαντικά στη ζωή μου.		1	2	3	4	5		
5. Αν μπορού	όσα να ξαναζήσω τη ζα	υή μου, δεν θα άλλαζα σχεδόν τίπο	τα.	1	2	3	4	5		

Φανταστείτε μια σκάλα με σκαλοπάτια με το μηδέν στο κάτω μέρος και το 10 στην κορυφή.

Το πάνω μέρος της σκάλας (10) αντιπροσωπεύει την καλύτερη δυνατή ζωή για εσάς και το κάτω μέρος της σκάλας (0) αντιπροσωπεύει τη χειρότερη δυνατή ζωή για εσάς.

Σε ποιο σκαλοπάτι αισθάνεσαι ότι βρίσκεσαι αυτή τη στιγμή; (κύκλωσε έναν αριθμό που θεωρείς ότι αντιπροσωπεύει αυτό που αισθάνεσαι)

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Η ζωή μου δεν θα μπορούσε να ήταν χειρότερη										Η ζωή μου δεν θα μπορούσε να ήταν καλύτερη

Σε ποιο σκαλοπάτι πιστεύεις ότι θα βρίσκεσαι στο μέλλον; (κύκλωσε έναν αριθμό που θεωρείς ότι αντιπροσωπεύει αυτό που αισθάνεσαι)

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Η ζωή μου δεν θα μπορούσε να ήταν χειρότερη										Η ζωή μου δεν θα μπορούσε να ήταν καλύτερη

	1	2 3 έ Σπάνια Κάποιες φορές		4		5			
П	οτέ			Συχνά		Πολύ συχνά			
1.	Όταν οι κα	αθηγητές μου ζητούν v	α μιλήσω, φοβάμαι μην πω κ	άτι λάθος.	1	2	3	4	
2.	Όταν έχω	εξετάσεις στο σχολείο	, κάνω πολλά λάθη επειδή φο	βάμαι πολύ.	1	2	3	4	
3.	Στις εξετά	σεις φοβάμαι ότι δεν θ	θα πάρω καλούς βαθμούς.		1	2	3	4	
4.	Ανησυχώ :	πολύ αν είμαι ικανός ν	να περάσω αυτή την τάξη.		1	2	3	4	
1.	Πριν το δι	αγώνισμα ή την εξέτασ	ση, η καρδιά μου χτυπά πολύ	γρήγορα.	1	2	3	4	
2.	Κατά τη δι μου.	άρκεια της εξέτασης,	νιώθω ένα δυσάρεστο αίσθημ	α στο στομάχι	1	2	3	4	
3.	Όταν αγχά	ονομαι για τις εξετάσει	ις, δεν μπορώ να φάω τίποτα.		1	2	3	4	
4.	Όταν οι κα	αθηγητές μου ζητούν ν	α μιλήσω, νιώθω ένα δυσάρε	στο συναίσθημα.	1	2	3	4	
5.	Όταν αγχά	ονομαι για τις εξετάσει	ις, πονάω το στομάχι μου.		1	2	3	4	
6.	Κατά τη δι	ιάρκεια των μαθημάτα	ον, νιώθω ζαλάδες.		1	2	3	4	
7.	Όταν αγχά	ονομαι για τις εξετάσει	ις, πονάω το κεφάλι μου.		1	2	3	4	
8.	Όταν σκέφ μπορώ να		που έχουν να κάνουν με το σ	χολείο, δεν	1	2	3	4	

1	1 2 3 4						5					
Διαφωνώ Απόλυτα	Διαφωνώ	Ούτε Συμφωνώ, Ούτε Διαφωνώ	Συμφωνώ	Συμφωνώ Απόλυτα								
1. Όταν σκέφτομαι	τον κορωνοϊό αισθάνο	μαι απειλή.		1	2	3	4	5				
2. Φοβάμαι τον κορ	ωνοϊό.			1	2	3	4	5				
3. Δεν ανησυχώ για	τον κορωνοϊό.			1	2	3	4	5				
4. Ανησυχώ ότι εγώ	ο ή οι άνθρωποι που αγ	απώ θα αρρωστήσουμε από	τον κορωνοϊό.	1	2	3	4	5				
5. Έχω άγχος όταν από τον κορωνοϊό.	βρίσκομαι με άλλους	ανθρώπους, επειδή ανησυχά	ο ότι θα μολυνθώ	1	2	3	4	5				
6. Προσπαθώ πολύ	να αποφύγω άλλους α	νθρώπους, επειδή δεν θέλω ν	α αρρωστήσω.	1	2	3	4	5				

 $\Sigma$ ' αυτό το μέρος, διάβασε τις ερωτήσεις προσεκτικά και σημείωσε με X το κουτάκι που αντιστοιχεί στην απάντησή σου. Μπορείς να επιλέξεις μία απάντηση (είτε OXI, είτε NAI). Δεν υπάρχει σωστή ή λάθος απάντηση.

		NAI	OXI
1. Υπήρξαν μεγάλες αλλαγές	στην οικογένεια σου τον τελευταίο χρόνο;		
2. Έτυχε να χωριστείς ποτέ απ	τό την οικογένεια σου, χωρίς να το θέλεις;		
3. Έχεις χάσει κάποιον δικό σ	ου, για τον οποίο νοιαζόσουν πολύ;		
4. Είχες ποτέ κάποιο ιατρικό θ	θέμα που να απειλεί τη ζωή σου;		
5. Ενεπλάκης ποτέ σε σοβαρό	ατύχημα;		
6. Βίωσες ποτέ μεγάλη κατασ	τροφή;		
7. Έζησες ποτέ πόλεμο ή είδες σου ή στη χώρα σου;	ς στρατιωτικές μάχες να λαμβάνουν χώρα δίπλα/κοντά		
8. Σε κλώτσησε/χτύπησε/πυρο	οβόλησε ποτέ κανείς ή σε τραυμάτισε με κάποιο τρόπο;		
9. Είδες ποτέ κάποιον άνθρωπ τραυματίζουν με άλλο τρόπ	το να τον κλωτσούν/χτυπούν/πυροβολούν ή		
10. Έζησες τραυματικά γεγονό	τα όπου ένιωσες ότι απειλείται η ζωή σου;		
<ol> <li>Έζησες τραυματικά γεγονό ανθρώπου;</li> </ol>	τα όπου ένιωσες ότι απειλείται η ζωή κάποιου		
Οι γονείς σου είναι:	 Κορίτσι ένοι □ σε διάσταση □ η μητέρα δεν ζει □ ο πατέρας δ	δεν ζει	
Ποια είναι η εκπαίδευση του πατ	έρα σου;		
🗆 δεν έλαβε εκπαίδευση 🔻			
□ απόφοιτος δημοτικού □ απόφοιτος γυμνασίου	<ul><li>□ απόφοιτος πανεπιστημίου</li><li>□ κατέχει μεταπτυχιακό δίπλωμα (M.A. &amp; Ph.D.)</li></ul>		
Ποια είναι η εκπαίδευση της μητ			
□ δεν έλαβε εκπαίδευση □			
<ul><li>απόφοιτος δημοτικού</li></ul>	απόφοιτος πανεπιστημίου		
🗆 απόφοιτος γυμνασίου	□ κατέχει μεταπτυχιακό δίπλωμα (M.A. & Ph.D.)		
. Ο πατέρας σου εργάζεται;	7. Η μητέρα σου εργάζεται;		
🗆 ναι 🔻 όχι	🗆 ναι 🗆 όχι		

8. Κατα τη γνω	μη σου πως	είναι η οικονομικη	κατασταση τ	ης οικογ	ένειας σου
🗆 πολύ κακή	🗆 κακή	🗆 ούτε κακή, ού	τε καλή 🔠	□ καλή	🗆 πολύ καλή
9. Με ποιους ζε	εις/μένεις;				
□ με	ε τους δύο γοι	νείς μου και τα αδέρ	φια μου.		
□ με	ε έναν γονέα ι	και τα αδέρφια μου.			
□ με	ε τους παππού	οδες μου.			
□ με	ε κάποιον άλλ	ο, με:			
1. Σε ποια χώρο 2. Σε ποια χώρο	α γεννήθηκε α γεννήθηκε	ρος, να συμπληן ο πατέρας σου; η μητέρα σου; ; εσύ;			_
					);
-		ετακόμισε στην Κύ			,
-		ς 🗆 Άσυλο	•		
□ Άλλο, συγκει	ςριμένα:				
		<b>Κύπρο</b> ;		μ1	<b>ήνες</b>
7. Στην Κύπρο					
🗆 έχουμε δικό μ	ιας σπίτι/διαμ	ιέρισμα			
🗆 ενοικιάζουμε	σπίτι/διαμέρ	ισμα			
🗆 μένουμε σε χ	ώρο/σπίτι/δια	μέρισμα που χρημα	τοδοτείται από	το κράτ	ος
🗆 άλλο, συγκεκ	ριμένα:				

# English version

ъ	. 1	
Dear	stud	lents.

This questionnaire has been prepared for you and your friends. Specifically, it has been designed to investigate the level of life satisfaction and the factors that possibly affect school adjustment of Cypriot and immigrant students your age. There are no correct or wrong answers. It is very important for us that you respond with honesty to each question. Please ensure you have answered all questions/statements included in this questionnaire. The questionnaire consists of nine (9) pages.

The questionnaire is anonymous and your answers will be kept confidential.

Thank you for your help!

Carefully read each statement in the boxes that follow. Every box represents a scale which measures how different factors correlate with school adjustment and life satisfaction. Then, circle ONE number (1-5) you believe corresponds to how you feel. There is no correct or wrong answer.

1	1 2 3 4					5		
Strongly Disagree	Disagree		Str	ongly	Agre	e		
1. In our class bein	1	2	3	4	5			
2. In our class it's in	mportant to everyone to	o get along well.		1	2	3	4	5
3. In our class pupil	ls work together and he	elp each other.		1	2	3	4	5
1.For me it is fun to	o occupy myself with le	earning matters from school.		1	2	3	4	5
2.In leisure time I of to.	occupy myself with lea	arning matters from school ever	n if I do not have	1	2	3	4	5
3.At school I'm lea	rning something that is	important for me.		1	2	3	4	5
4.I want to learn m	any new things.			1	2	3	4	5
5.I want to do diffic	cult things in order to le	earn new things.		1	2	3	4	5
6.I want to understa	and what I am learning			1	2	3	4	5
7.I want to be able	to achieve more and r	more.		1	2	3	4	5
8.If I put an effort,	I can also solve difficul	It things in class.		1	2	3	4	5
9.I know that I can	succeed in doing the th	ings that are required from me a	t school.	1	2	3	4	5
10.I am convinced	that I can be good at te	sts.		1	2	3	4	5
1.I prefer to have n	nore group work activ	ities during lessons.		1	2	3	4	5
2.I like to decide n	nore often myself, how	v quickly I work during lessons		1	2	3	4	5
3.I like to participa	ate in the decisions abo	out which topics get discussed of	luring lessons.	1	2	3	4	5
4.I would like to pa	articipate in the decision	ons how we learn in school.		1	2	3	4	5
5.I would like to pa	articipate in the decision	ons what kind of homework we	get.	1	2	3	4	5

1	2	3	4			5	5		
Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree				e	
1.In most ways, m	1	2	3	4	5				
2.The conditions in	n my life are excellent			1	2	3	4	5	
3.I am satisfied with	th my life.			1	2	3	4	5	
4.So far, I have go	1	2	3	4	5				
5.If I could live my	y life over, I would cha	ange almost nothing.		1	2	3	4	5	

Please imagine a ladder with steps numbered from zero at the bottom to 10 at the top.

The top of the ladder (10) represents the best possible life for you and the bottom of the ladder (0) represents the worst possible life for you.

On which step of the ladder would you say you personally feel you stand at this time? (circle a number you feel represents the best the way you feel)

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Worst Possible Life										Best Possible Life

On which step do you think you will stand in the future? (circle a number you feel represents the best the way you feel)

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Worst Possible Life										Best Possible Life

1	2 3 4				5					
Never	Never Rarely Sometimes Often									
1.When I am calle	1	2	3	4	5					
2.When I am hav anxious.	1	2	3	4	5					
3.During exams, I	3.During exams, I am worrying I will get bad grades.									
4.I worry a lot who	ether I am able to pass	this grade.		1	2	3	4	5		
	•	eart starts beating very much.		1	2	3	4	5		
2.During an exam,	, I get an unpleasant fe	eling in my stomach.		1	2	3	4	5		
3.When I am stress	sed out because of an	exam, I am hardly able to eat a	inything.	1	2	3	4	5		
4.When I am called	4. When I am called on by a teacher, I get an unpleasant feeling.							5		
5.When I am stress	1	2	3	4	5					
6.During lessons, l	I get dizzy.			1	2	3	4	5		
7.When I am stress	sed out because of exa	ıms, I get a headache.		1	2	3	4	5		
8.When I am occu	pied with school relate	ed problems, I am not able to f	all asleep.	1	2	3	4	5		
1	2	3	4			5				
Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Neither Agree nor Disagree	Agree		Str	ongly	Agree	e		
1. When I think of 0	COVID-19, I feel three	atened		1	2	3	4	5		
2. I am afraid of CC	OVID-19.			1	2	3	4	5		
3. I don't feel worri	ed about COVID-19.			1	2	3	4	5		
4. I am afraid that p	4. I am afraid that people I love or myself will get COVID-19.							5		
5. I feel anxious who contract the virus.	hen I have contact wi	th other people, because I am	worried, I will	1	2	3	4	5		
6.I am trying to avo	id other people, becau	ise I don't want to get sick		1	2	3	4	5		

In this part, carefully read the following questions and place an X in the box that corresponds to your answer. You can choose only one answer (either YES or NO). There is no correct or wrong answer.

	YES	NO
Have there been drastic changes in your family during the last year?		
2. Have you ever been separated from your family against your will?		
3. Has someone died in your life that you really cared about?		
4. Have you had a life-threatening medical problem?		
5. Have you been involved in a serious accident?		
6. Have you ever been involved in a disaster?		
7. Have you ever experienced a war or an armed military conflict going on around you in your		
country of birth?		
8. Has someone ever hit, kicked, shot at or some other way tried to physically hurt you?		
9. Did you ever see someone else get kicked, shot at or some other way physically hurt in real		
life?		
10. Did you experience any other very stressful life events where you thought that your life		
was in danger?		
11. Did you experience any other very stressful life event where you thought that someone		
else was in great danger?		
1. In which year were you born? (date) 2. What is your gender?   □ Boy  □ Girl		
2. What is your gender? ☐ Boy ☐ Girl 3. What is your parents' marital status?		
• •	ner not alive	
4. What is the education level of your father?	101 1101 411110	
☐ Did not receive any education ☐ High school graduate		
☐ Elementary school graduate ☐ University graduate		
☐ Junior high school graduate ☐ Postgraduate degree (M.A. & Ph.D.)		

5. Wha	at is the educa	ition level of your n	nother?						
	☐ Did not re	eceive any education	ı	☐ High school graduate					
	☐ Elementar	ry school graduate		☐ University graduate					
	☐ Junior hig	sh school graduate		☐ Postgraduate	degree (M.A. & Ph.D.)				
6. Is yo	our father wo	rking?							
$\square \ Yes$	$\square$ No								
7. Is yo	our mother w	orking?							
$\square$ Yes	$\square$ No								
8. In y	our opinion, v	what is the financia	l situation of	your family?					
□ Very	/ bad	$\square$ Bad	☐ Neithe	r bad nor good	☐ Good ☐ Very good				
9. With	h whom do yo	ou live together?							
	☐ I live to	gether with both of	my parents a	nd sibling/s.					
	☐ I live to	ogether with one of r	ny parents an	d sibling/s.					
	☐ I live to	gether with my gran	ndparents.						
	☐ I live to	gether with somebo	dy else, name	ely:					
*This	part must	be completed O	NLY IF Y	OU ARE NO	OT a native Cypriot student.				
1.In wl	hich country	was your father bo	rn?						
		was your mother be							
		were you born?							
4.If you	u were not bo	orn in Cyprus, at w	hat age did y	ou move to th	is country?				
5.Why	did your fam	ily and you migrat	e to Cyprus?	•					
□ Wor	k □ St	udy 🗆 Asylu	ım/Refugee	□ War Oth	er, namely:				
6. How	long do you	live in Cyprus?							
	years and	months							
7.Wha	t are your livi	ing conditions in C	yprus?						
□ we o	wn a house or	flat							
□ we re	ent a house or	flat							
□ we li	ive in a state-f	unded accommodati	on						
□ other	r. namelv:								